

Bangor University

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Environmental extremes and the immune response to exercise

Dolci, Alberto

Award date: 2015

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

ENVIRONMENTAL EXTREMES AND THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO EXERCISE

by

Alberto Dolci

A thesis submitted to the

Bangor University

in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences

Bangor University – Bangor

December 2015

Summary

Exercising in hot and cold conditions poses one of the greatest challenges to human homeostasis. Popular belief is that cold exposure increases susceptibility to upper respiratory tract infections, however, evidence to support a link between cold exposure, impaired immune function and increased incidence of infection is not well defined. On the other hand, if heat production during exercise is not effectively dissipated, core body temperature can rise to dangerous levels, thereby placing the individual at risk of developing exertional heat-illness (EHI), or the more serious, and potentially fatal, condition of exertional heat stroke (EHS). In addition to exercising in hot and humid environments, a number of risk factors for EHI/EHS have been identified. Other potential risk factors, which are less well supported, include the circulating inflammatory response that follows a muscle-damaging exercise bout. All together, these conditions might potentially affect athletes and military personnel, which are expected to perform arduous physical activity, often in extreme environments.

Hypothermia is common in trauma victims and is associated with an increase in mortality. Its causes are still not well understood. We found (Chapter 4) that after mild-hypothermia (Body rectal temperature (T_{re}) 35.17 ± 0.33 °C) vaccine-stimulated IFN- γ production significantly decreased by 44% suggesting temporary immune suppression. Moreover, despite rewarming and feeding, vaccine-stimulated IFN- γ production did not return to control values within 3-hour, suggesting more prolonged immune suppression, specifically, impaired antimicrobial capacity and increased risk of infection. This might partially explain the increased mortality reported after mild-hypothermia.

During exercise heat stress (HS) (Chapter 5), $\Delta T_{\rm re}$ was significantly greater following EIMD than in CON (0.52 °C). Therefore, HS was increased during endurance exercise in the heat conducted 30min trial after, and to a much lesser extent, 24h after muscle-damaging exercise. These data indicate that EIMD is a likely risk factor for EHI particularly during exercise-heat stress. After a repeated bout of muscle-damaging exercise (EIMD trial 2) (Chapter 6), final $T_{\rm re}$ during HS was lower (39.25 ± 0.47 °C) than in EIMD trial 1 (39.59 ± 0.49 °C), whilst no differences between repeat trials were observed in control trials (CON). Thus, incorporating a muscle-damaging bout into training is a strategy to reduce the risk of EHI in individuals undertaking heavy exercise with an eccentric heat component.

Further research is required clarify the role of thermo-genic activity on innate immune markers during cold exposure needs clarification. In addition, future studies would need to examine the supposed contribution of pyrogenic pathways after muscle damage upon exercise heat strain in more depth.

Declaration

This work has not been previously accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed.....(candidate) Date....

Statement One

This thesis is the product of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Other sources are acknowledged giving explicit references.

Signed.....(candidate)
Date....

Statement Two

I hereby consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for interlibrary loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed.....(candidate)
Date....

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to express special gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Neil P. Walsh, for his assistance throughout my PhD research. His open door policy, honest approach and expertise were extremely helpful and I am truly grateful for his input to this thesis. In particular, Neil always managed to make time for me. I wish Neil and his family every happiness in the future.

I am also grateful to the other members of the Extreme Research Group, especially Dr Samuel J. Oliver and Dr Matthew Fortes for their support and encouragement throughout the past 4 years.

My cordial thanks go to my thesis committee member, Dr Hans P. Kubis, for the numerous starting points he has suggested during my studies.

I also thank the BSc and MSc students who assisted with the collection of physiological data during the experimental trials. In particular I thank Michael Crockford, Faye Walker, Thomas Riddle, Adnan Haq, Lliam West, John Smith, Claude Goodfield, Jack Swann, Ryan Hillier-Smith, Megan Walker, Bethan Palmer, Lindsey Jankowski, Megan Butterworth, Ben Terzza, Dominique Mauger, Philip Heritage and Daniel Kashi. In addition, I would like to thank Dr Jamie MacDonald for the precious suggestions throughout my PhD.

Thanks go to my wife Carlotta, for her tireless support during the years we have been apart.

Finally, I thank my parents, Marina and Ermanno, for all their love, help and support throughout my many years of education.

iv

Publications

I have been involved in all aspects of protocol design, data collection, data analyses and preparation of manuscripts for publication of the thesis chapters that follow.

However, I also gratefully acknowledge input from the co-authors of each publication.

The findings of some of the material presented in this thesis have been published as follows:

Full papers

Repeated muscle damage blunts the increase in heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress.

Dolci A, Fortes MB, Walker FS, Haq A, Riddle T, Walsh NP.

Eur J Appl Physiol. 2015 Jul; 115(7):1577-88.

I was involved with study design, data collection, data analysis and manuscript writing.

Portable prehospital methods to treat shivering and non-shivering cold casualties.

Oliver S, Brierley J, Raymond-Barker P, Dolci A, Walsh NP.

Wilderness & Environ Med. 2015 Nov 11:012.

This publication is associated to the present thesis as part of a larger study (Chapter 4) in which I was a component. I was involved in data collection, data analysis and manuscript writing.

Muscle-damaging exercise increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress.

Fortes MB, Di Felice U, Dolci A, Junglee NA, Crockford MJ, West L, Hillier-Smith R, Macdonald JH, Walsh NP.

Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2013 Oct; 45(10):1915-24.

I was involved with study design, data collection, data analysis and manuscript writing.

Exercising in a hot environment with muscle damage: effects on acute kidney injury biomarkers and kidney function.

Junglee NA, Di Felice U, Dolci A, Fortes MB, Jibani MM, Lemmey AB, Walsh NP, Macdonald JH.

Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2013 Sep 15; 305(6).

This publication is associated to the present thesis as part of a larger study (Chapter 5) in which I was a component. I was involved in data collection and data analysis.

Impaired immune function after mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure.

Dolci A, Oliver SJ, Brierley JL, Walsh N, Gleeson M.

(In preparation, 2016).

I am involved with study design, data collection, data analysis and manuscript writing.

Abstracts

The repeated bout effect blunts the increase in heat strain during exerciseheat-stress after exercise-induced muscle damage.

A. Dolci, M. B. Fortes, A. Haq, F. S. Walker, T. Riddle & N. P. Walsh FACSM

Invited speaker at the highlighted symposium of the American College of Sport Medicine (ACSM), Annual meeting.

May 2014, Orlando (USA).

Impaired immune function after mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure.

Dolci A, Oliver SJ, Brierley JL, Walsh N, Gleeson M.

Mini-talk presentation at European College of Sport Sciences (ECSS).

June 2013, Barcelona (Spain).

Short-term increase in plasma IL-6 after downhill running is associated with increased core temperature during subsequent exercise heat-stress.

M. B. Fortes, U. DiFelice, A. Dolci and N. P. Walsh FACSM

The Physiological Society: The Biomedical Basis of Elite Performance.

Presented by: Fortes MB.

March 2012, London (United Kingdom).

An Experimental Study of Practical Field Methods for Cold Casualty Protection.

Brierley JL, Oliver SJ, Dolci A, Walsh N, Gleeson M.

College of Sport Medicine (ACSM), Annual meeting.

Presented by: Brierley J.

May 2012, S. Diego (USA).

Table of contents

| | Summary | ii |
|----------------------|--|----------|
| | Declaration | iii |
| | Ackowledgements | iv |
| | Publications | v |
| | Abstracts | vi |
| | Table of Contents | viii |
| | List of Tables | xi |
| | List of Figures | xi |
| | List of Abbreviations | xiii |
| | Thesis format | xvi |
| Chapter one | General Introduction | 17 |
| Chapter two | Review of Literature | 21 |
| 2.1. | Effect of exercise on innate immune function | 24 |
| 2.1.1. | Macrophages | 25 |
| 2.1.2. | Neutrophils | 25 |
| 2.1.3. | Natural killer (NK) cells | 28 |
| 2.1.4. | Other contributors to innate immune function | 28 |
| 2.2. | Effects of exercise on acquired immune function | 29 |
| 2.2.1. | T-cells | 29 |
| 2.2.2. | Monocytes (CD14, CD16) | 31 |
| 2.2.3. | Immunoglobulin contribution to immune function | 31 |
| 2.3. | Cytokines contribution to immune function | 32 |
| 2.3.1. | Interleukin (IL)-6: release and functions | 32 |
| 2.3.2. | Effect of exercise on other cytokines | 0C 7C |
| 2.3.3. 7 / | Influence of exercise on LIPTI incidence | 37 |
| 2.. 2 / 1 | Influence of expansion exercise on LIPTI incidence | 39 |
| 2.4.1. | Influence of moderate exercise on URTI incidence | 40 41 |
| 2.4.3. | Influence of heavy exercise on URTI incidence | 42 |
| 2.4.4. | Effect of extreme environments on immune responses to exercise | 43 |
| 2.4.5. | Hyperthermia and heat stroke: a role for cytokines? | 45 |
| 2.4.6. | Final consideration on the effect of exercise on innate and adaptive immune function | 48 |
| 2.5. | Heat Shock Proteins | 49 |
| 2.5.1. | Heat Shock Protein 72 (Hsp 72) | 49 |
| 2.5.2. | Mechanism, releasing signal and origin of extracellular Hsp72 | 51 |
| 2.5.3. | Other factors involved in the eHsp72 response | 53 |
| 2.5.4. | Potential functions of Hsp 72 | 55 |
| 2.6. | The pathophysiology of heat stroke | 57 |
| 2.6.1. | Hsp 72 as marker for Heat Stroke risk | 58 |
| 2.6.2. | Immune system and Heat stroke: Is there any link? | 59 |

| 2.7. | Cold stress and Immune function | 62 |
|---------------|---|-----|
| 2.8. | Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage (EIMD): mechanism, measures and consequences | 66 |
| 2.8.1. | Assessment of muscle damage | 66 |
| 2.8.2. | Differences between exercise protocols | 67 |
| 2.8.3. | Indirect methods of muscle damage assessment | 68 |
| 2.8.4. | Muscle soreness | 70 |
| 2.8.5. | The repeated bout effect | 72 |
| 2.9. | Thesis objectives | 74 |
| Chapter three | General Methods | 76 |
| 3.1. | Ethical approval | 77 |
| 3.2. | Anthropometry and body composition | 77 |
| 3.3. | Maximal oxygen uptake (VO _{2max}) | 78 |
| 3.4. | Blood collection, handling and analysis | 78 |
| 3.5. | Urine collection, handling and analysis | 79 |
| 3.6. | Body temperatures | 79 |
| 3.7. | Statistical Analysis | 80 |
| Chapter four | Influence of mild hypothermia and cold exposure on immune function as assessed by neutrophil degranulation and antigen-stimulated cytokine production by whole blood culture | 81 |
| 4.1. | Abstract | 82 |
| 4.2. | Introduction | 83 |
| 4.3. | Methods | 86 |
| 4.4. | Results | 92 |
| 4.4.1. | Pre trial body composition and hydration status | 92 |
| 4.4.2. | Experimental trial thermoregulatory and plasma volume responses | 92 |
| 4.4.3. | Mild hypothermia, immune function and neurotransmitters | 94 |
| 4.4.4. | Three-hour cold air exposure effects on circulating immune responses | 96 |
| 4.4.5. | Three-hour cold air exposure effects on neurotransmitters | 100 |
| 4.5. | Discussion | 102 |
| Chapter five | Muscle-damaging exercise increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress | 110 |
| 5.1. | Abstract | 111 |
| 5.2. | Introduction | 112 |
| 5.3. | Methods | 115 |
| 5.4. | Results | 122 |
| 5.4.1. | Treatment Responses | 122 |
| 5.4.2. | Exercise Heat Stress Responses | 124 |
| 5.4.3. | Sweating rate and plasma volume change | 125 |
| 5.4.4. | Thermal sensation and RPE | 128 |
| 5.4.5. | Plasma IL-6. | 129 |

| Chapter six | Repeated muscle damage blunts the increase in heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress | 136 |
|---------------|--|-----|
| 6.1. | Abstract | 137 |
| 6.2. | Introduction | 138 |
| 6.3. | Methods | 140 |
| 6.4. | Results | 149 |
| 6.4.1. | Treatment responses | 149 |
| 6.4.2. | Exercise heat stress responses | 150 |
| 6.4.3. | Sweating rate and plasma volume change | 153 |
| 6.4.4. | Rate of metabolic energy expenditure, RER and HR | 155 |
| 6.4.5. | RPE and thermal sensation | 155 |
| 6.4.6. | Plasma IL-6 and IL-10, and eHsp72 | 157 |
| 6.5. | Discussion | 159 |
| Chapter seven | General Discussion | 164 |
| 7.1. | Background | 165 |
| 7.2. | Summary of main finding | 167 |
| 7.3. | Effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on both circulating Leukocyte counts and their function | 169 |
| 7.4. | Effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on circulating cytokines | 170 |
| 7.5. | Effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on neurotransmitters | 172 |
| 7.6. | Similarities between immune response following cold exposure and after physical exercise | 173 |
| 7.7. | Study limitations and future directions (Chapter 4) | 175 |
| 7.8. | The effect of muscle-damaging exercise on heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress (Chapter 5) | 176 |
| 7.9. | concentrations and their subsequent effect on heat strain during exercise heat stress | 176 |
| 7.10. | Heat Shock Protein 72 (Hsp 72) | 178 |
| 7.11. | Exercise-induced muscle damage and the repeated bout effect | 179 |
| 7.12. | Studies limitations (Chapters 5 and 6) | 179 |
| 7.13. | Conclusions | 182 |

References

184

| Appendices | | |
|------------|--|-----|
| Α | Subject information forms | 222 |
| В | Informed consent form | 246 |
| С | Medical questionnaire | 248 |
| D | The reproducibility of the Isometric right-leg extension strength test | 252 |

List of Tables

| Table 1. | Mild hypothermia effect on blood immune and hormone responses. | 95 |
|----------|--|-----|
| Table 2. | Prolonged cold exposure effect on antigen-stimulated production interferon-gamma and interleukin-four cytokines. | 99 |
| Table 3. | Prolonged cold exposure effect on plasma adrenaline, noradrenaline and cortisol. | 101 |
| Table 4. | Markers of muscle damage before and 24 h after either 60 min EIMD or 60 min of energy-expenditure equivalent control exercise. | 122 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1. | The two pathways by which the CNS may communicate with the periphery. | 23 |
|------------|---|----------|
| Figure 2. | The J-shaped model of the relationship between risk of Upper Respiratory Tract Infection (URTI) and exercise volume. | 41 |
| Figure 3. | The co-ordinated hormonal responses, supervised by the central nervous system to contrast stressors. | 44 |
| Figure 4. | Proposed role of cytokines in hyperthermia and heat stroke | 47 |
| Figure 5. | Summary of EHS pathophysiological responses that ends in | ., |
| Figure 6. | multi-organ system failure. Schematic of experimental procedures. COLD, Cold trial; CON, thermos-neutral control trial: RH, relative humidity. | 60 88 |
| Figure 7. | Core temperature during a cold exposure trial and thermoneutral control trial. | 93 |
| Figure 8. | Circulating leukocytes (A), neutrophils (B) and lymphocytes (C) during a cold exposure trial and thermoneutral control trial. | 97 |
| Figure 9. | Neutrophil degranulation during a cold exposure trial and a thermoneutral control trial. | 98 |
| Figure 10. | Schematic of experimental procedures. | 116 |
| Figure 11. | Change in rectal temperature (ΔT_{re} , A and B), absolute temperature (T_{re} , C and D), and mean skin temperature (T_{sk} , E and F) responses during exercise heat stress tests. | 124 |
| Figure 12. | Local forearm sweating rate reported as a function of time (A and B) and as a function of rectal temperature (T_{re} , C and D) during exercise heat stress tests. | 126 |
| Figure 13. | Thermal sensation (A and B) and RPE (C and D) during exercise heat stress tests. | 128 |
| Figure 14. | Plasma IL-6 concentrations at baseline and before and after exercise heat stress tests. | 129 |
| Figure 15. | Schematic of experimental procedures. | 142 |
| Figure 16. | Markers of muscle damage assessed 48-h after either 60 min exercise-induced muscle damage or 60 min of control exercise. | 149 |

| Figure 17. | | |
|------------|---|-----|
| | Final rectal temperature (T_{re} , A and B), absolute rectal temperature (T_{re} , c and d) and mean skin temperature (T_{sk} , E | 150 |
| _ | and F) responses during exercise-neat-stress tests. | 152 |
| Figure 18. | Local forearm sweating rate reported as a function of time (A), and as a function of rectal temperature (T_{re} , B) during exercise-heat-stress tests. | 154 |
| Eiguro 10 | | 101 |
| rigure 19. | Thermal sensation (A), and rating of perceived exertion (RPE, B) during exercise-heat-stress tests. | 156 |
| Figure 20. | | |
| | Plasma interleukin (IL)-6 (A), plasma IL-10 (B), and extracellular heat shock protein (Hsp) 72 (C) concentrations at baseline, pre, post and 1h-post exercise-heat stress (HS). | 156 |

List of Abbreviations

| AB | Antibody |
|---------------------|---|
| ACSM | American College of Sports Medicine |
| ACTH | Adrenocorticopic hormone |
| ALI | Ad libitum fluid intake |
| AMPS | Antimicrobial peptides |
| ANOVA | Analysis of variance |
| BBB | Blood brain barrier |
| BM | Body mass |
| BML | Body mass loss |
| °C | Degrees Celsius |
| CD14 ^{+ +} | Cluster of differentiation 14 |
| CD16 ⁺ | Cluster of differentiation 16 |
| CD4 ⁺ | Cluster of differentiation 4 |
| СК | Creatine Kinase |
| cm | Centimetre |
| CNS | Central Nervous System |
| CON | Control group |
| CV | Co-efficient of variation |
| Da | Dalton |
| DEXA | Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry |
| DOMS | Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness |
| ECF | Extracellular fluid |
| EDTA | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid |
| EHI | Exertional Heat Illness |
| | Exercional Heat Stroke |
| oHep72 | Extracellular heat check protein 72 |
| EIND | Excrace Induced Muselo Damage |
| | Exercise-induced Muscle Danlage |
| | Energy Destriction |
| | Energy Restriction |
| FT FT | |
| Fia | Figure |
| FR | Fluid Restriction |
| q | Gram |
| h | Hour |
| НРА | Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis sympathoadrenal medullary |
| HR | Heart Rate |
| HR _{max} | Maximal heart rate |
| HS | Exercise-heat-stress test |
| HSE | Heat Shock Element |
| HSP | Heat Shock Protein |
| Hsp | Heat shock protein |
| Ig | Immunoglobulin |

| IL | Interleukin |
|----------------|---|
| IL-1 | Interleukin-1 |
| IL-2 | Interleukin-2 |
| IL-4 IL-6 | Interleukin-4 Interleukin-6 |
| IL-0 II -10 | Interleukin-0 |
| °K | Degrees Kelvin |
| Kg | Kilogram |
| Km | Kilometre |
| L | Litre |
| LPS | Lipopolysaccharide |
| Ŵ | Metabolic energy expenditure |
| m | Metre |
| MET | Metabolic Equivalent of Task |
| Mg | Milligram |
| Min | Minute |
| mL | Millilitre |
| Mmol | Millimole |
| mOsmol | Milliosmole |
| MRI | Magnetic Resonance Imaging |
| NBM | Nude Body Mass |
| NK | Natural Killer cells |
| NKCA | Natural Killer Cells Activation |
| NTS | Nucleus Tractus Solitarii |
| PGE2 | Prostaglandin E2 |
| r | Pearson's correlation coefficient |
| RA | Receptor agonist |
| RER | Respiratory Exchange Ratio |
| RH | Relative Humidity |
| RMR | Resting Metabolic Rate |
| ROS | Reactive Oxygen Species |
| RPE | Rating of Perceived Exertion |
| SAM | Sympathoadrenal medullary |
| SD | Standard deviation |
| SEM | Standard Error of the Mean |
| SIg | Saliva Immunoglobulin |
| s-IgA | Saliva immunoglobulin-A |
| SIRS | Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome |
| SNS | Sympathetic Nervous System |
| SWOP | Second Window Of Protection |
| TBW | Total Body Water |
| Tc1/ Tc2 | Type-1/Type-2 |
| Th1 | Type-1 |
| Th2 | Type-2 |
| TLR | Toll like receptors |
| TNF | Tumour necrosis factor |

| T _{re} | Rectal temperature |
|--------------------|--|
| T _{sk} | Skin temperature |
| ТТ | Time Trial |
| TTE | Time To Exhaustion |
| URI | Upper Respiratory tract Infection |
| URTI | Upper Respiratory Tract Infection |
| USG | Urine Specific Gravity |
| VO _{2max} | Maximal oxygen uptake |
| W | Watts |
| WURSS | Wisconsin Upper Respiratory Symptom Survey |
| yrs | Years |
| | |

Thesis Format

A literature review (**Chapter 2**) provides a brief background and proposes the broad aims of the research presented in the thesis. A general methods chapter follows that outlines the common procedures and analyses performed in the subsequent three independent experimental studies (**Chapter 3**). The first study principally investigates the effects of mild-hypothermia on immune system function (**Chapter 4**). The second experimental study is divided into two chapters: the first investigates whether exerciseinduced muscle damage (EIMD) increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress, which in turn may increase the risk of exertional heat illness (**Chapter 5**). The second examines the influence of exercise-induced-muscle-damage repeated bout effect upon heat strain during subsequent exercise in the heat (**Chapter 6**). A general discussion (**Chapter 7**) contains a summary and critical analysis of the main findings of the research programme, highlighting limitations and potential areas for future research. Since all chapters are linked, at times there is necessary overlap between them. Throughout the thesis, abbreviations are defined at first use and for clarity a list of abbreviations, tables and figures appears prior in the **Frontispiece**.

Bold type is used to refer to sections elsewhere within the thesis.

CHAPTER ONE

General Introduction

Extreme temperature exposure or single-day, multiple strenuous exercise bouts (singly or in any combination) are common in active populations (e.g. military personnel, athletes, outdoor enthusiasts). As result, these individuals can have an increased susceptibility to Upper Respiratory Tract Infections (URTI) (**Chapter 4**) or be predisposed to exertional heat illness (EHI) and exertional heat stroke (EHS) (**Chapters 5 and 6**).

Popular belief points towards cold exposure increasing one's susceptibility to infections. Evidence to support a link between cold exposure and an increased infection incidence is lacking in human studies (Castellani and Rhind, 2002). The few human studies to investigate the effect of cold exposure on immune function report conflicting information that is dependent on the degree of hypothermia, the health of the individual, and the immune parameters studied (Lackovic et al., 1988; Brenner et al., 1999; Wenisch et al., 1996; Costa et al., 2010). Collectively, these studies suggest that lowering core temperature (core body temperature decrease > 1 °C) can disrupt circulating immune function, which may partly explain the increased URTI reported after cold exposure. Limitations of previous research are that they included unhealthy population (e.g. patients undergoing surgery) and they did not perform a thermoneutral control trial (Wenisch et al., 1996; Beilin et al., 1998). Therefore it is unclear whether surgery, anaesthesia, existing comorbidity and diurnal variation have independent effects for the altered immune function reported. Thus it remains to be shown in healthy humans whether immune function is impaired when core temperature is reduced (e.g. core temperature decrease of 1-2 °C).

Oppositely, active populations such as athletes and soldiers taking part in heavy training are also expected to perform multiple bouts of strenuous exercise in hot environments, which may predispose them to EHI or the more severe form, and often incurable EHS. Conventionally classified risk factors for EHI and EHS include hot and humid environmental conditions, unsuitable clothing, sleep disruption, absence of heat acclimation, high exercise intensity, poor physical fitness levels (or obesity) and

underlying undiagnosed medical conditions (Armstrong et al., 2007; Epstein et al., 1999; Rav-Acha et al., 2004). These conventional risk factors do not however explain all EHI events, this begs the question: "Which lesser known risk factors or pathways might play important roles in many cases of EHI?" (Sawka et al., 2011) (**Chapter 4**).

One further pathway was suggested for EHI progression; this relates to a systemic inflammatory reaction with an incremental increase in pyrogenic cytokines [e.g., interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, and tumour necrosis factor-α] (Bouchama, 1995; Lambert et al., 2001; Shephard and Shek, 1999). This may result in quicker progression toward EHI and/or EHS (Walsh et al., 2011). If firm evidence of a pyrogenic cytokine role in the development of EHI is uncovered, it would be of great interest to investigate, and develop strategies of avoiding or managing EHI. Reducing the amount of muscle damage and inflammation would plausibly decrease heat strain. Indeed, evidence showed that over 80% of all EHI casualties reported during Marine recruits training occurred in the first 3 days of unaccustomed exercise in the heat (Kark et al., 1996). This is also supported by data collected during Operation TELIC in the summer of 2003 where a heat illness rate of 50/1000 were recorded during the first 10-14 days of deployment among troops that were performing arduous physical activity in Afghanistan's tactical scenarios (Bolton et al., 2006). One obvious, but as yet uninvestigated, avenue is the well-known repeated bout effect in muscle-damaging exercise, where a single session of eccentric exercise causes adaptations which in-turn result in decreased damage from subsequent training (Clarkson et al. 1992; Clarkson and Hubal 2002; McHugh et al. 1999) (Chapters 5 and 6).

Consequently, the aims of this thesis were to investigate:

- 1. The unknown effect of mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure on immune function in healthy humans.
- If exercise-induced muscle damage (EIMD) increases heat strain during subsequent exercise-heat-stress, which in-turn may increase the risk of exertional heat illness.

3. If the repeated-bout of EIMD blunts the increase in rectal temperature (T_{re}) during subsequent endurance exercise in the heat.

CHAPTER TWO

Review of Literature

Introduction

In the 1950's a Canadian physician, Hans Selye pioneered the scientific study of stress. He first defined the word "stressor" (Selye, 1956) as influences that put the human body out of homeostatic balance. This definition came from his research on the physiological responses to exhaustive exercise, prolonged exposure to extreme environments, and other damaging stimuli.

Indeed, the human body tries to adapt to stressors by counteracting and re-establishing homeostasis (Elliot and Eisdorfer, 1982; Mausch and Rulkowska, 1993; Weiner, 1992); therefore, an adaptation represents improved body function (Baker, 1974; Cannon, 1929; Mrosovsky, 1990; Sherrington, 1941). This adaptation is also defined by its duration; short-term adaptations are classed as accommodations; intermediate-term adaptations as acclimation or acclimatization; and long-term adaptations as genetic adaptation (Armstrong, 2000; Fregly and Blatteis, 1996).

The nervous, endocrine and immune systems have been classically seen as independent responders to stressors. However, recently findings has led to the idea that for some purposes these systems interact as a large single, system serving an integrated function rather than as three distinct systems (Berne and Levy, 1996; DeSouza and Appel, 1991; Dunn, 1989; Dunn and Berridge, 1990; Guyton and Hall, 1996; Mason, 1972) (**Figure 1.**).

Therefore, the next chapter will focus on the immune responses to external stressors, such as physical exercise (e.g. moderate and intense) and extreme environments (e.g. cold and heat).

Each section will describe in detail the factors mentioned, providing a "picture" of the processes that the immune system uses to counteract stressors.



Fig. 1. The two pathways by which the CNS may communicate with the periphery include neuroendocrine outflow, via the hypothalamic–pituitary–target organ axis, and the automatic nervous system, through direct nerve fibre connections with cells or the organs of the immune system. ACTH, Adrenocorticotropic hormone; GH, Growth hormone (Adapted from Jonsdottir et al., 2000).

Immune function and exercise

From the early 20th century, exercise has been suggested by physicians as a cause of a decreased resistance to bacterial diseases (Bosch et al., 2002; Shephard, 1997; Shephard, 2010; Shephard and Shek, 1996; Walsh et al., 2011). These concerns were legitimised by an increased number of URTI reported after endurance competitions (Nieman et al., 1990; Peters, 1997; Peters and Bateman, 1983).

2.1. Effect of exercise on innate immune function

Presently, research in understanding if exercise-induced changes in innate immune function alter infectious disease susceptibility or outcome is at an early stage. It remains unclear if the exercise-induced effects on innate immune cells, due to regular exercise, mediate any anti-inflammatory effect. Innate immunity, following skin, represents our second line of defence against pathogens and unlike adaptive immune responses it does not strengthen after exposure. Moreover, its ability to recognise pathogens is less specific.

The innate immune system is based principally on cells and soluble factors. Soluble factors are a heterogeneous group of proteins, which include interferons that restrict viral infection, anti-microbial peptides which help to prevent bacterial growth, and complement proteins which control phagocytosis, inflammation and interact with antibodies (Woods et al., 1998). Taken together, Soluble factors help to activate other immune cells, such as macrophages.

Indeed, the main contributor of the innate immune response is the macrophage, followed by neutrophils, dendritic cells and monocytes. These versatile cells plays numerous roles but mainly perform phagocytic, antigen presentation, and regulation functions.

It is really important to note that innate and adaptive immune responses, thanks to antigen presentation and regulation functions are inextricably linked together (Delves et al., 2011; Glaser and Kiecolt-Glaser, 2005; Janeway and Medzhitov, 2002; Kindt et al., 2006; Murphy, 2011; Parham, 2009; Playfair and Bancroft, 2004; Shetty, 2010; Smith et al., 2012). Dendritic cells are the main envoys between the innate and adaptive immune system but dialogue between the innate and adaptive immune systems is not one sided. Elements of the adaptive response also support the function of the innate immune system. For example, antibodies secreted by B cells bind to macrophages and other phagocytes by interaction with Fc receptors on these cells. Phagocytes can

efficiently recognize, internalize, and destroy pathogens using these borrowed antibodies (Clark and Kupper, 2005).

2.1.1. Macrophages

Macrophage function appears to be dependent on exercise intensity, where moderate exercise enhances many macrophages functions (adherence, chemotaxis, phagocytosis and microbicidal activity), while acute exercise to exhaustion appears to have no effect on macrophage functions (Ortega, 2003). Stress hormones, such as cortisol seem to be involved in the regulation of this process (Baybutt and Holshner, 1990).

Usually, macrophages, the tissue resident differentiation of monocytes, serve three main functions in the immune system. These are phagocytosis, antigen presentation, and cytokine production. Acute exercise reduces IL-6, IL-1 β and TNF-a production from stimulated monocytes, perhaps due to a reduction in the number of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (Lancaster et al., 2005). Due to maturation status and exercise-induced changes in monocyte function for example, this may not reflect actual tissue macrophage function, which is far more important.

Moderate and intense physical activity affects the tissue macrophage, which has stimulatory effects on chemotaxis (Okutsu et al., 2008; Ortega et al., 1997), phagocytosis (Ortega et al., 1996) and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Woods et al., 1993; Woods et al., 1994), reduced macrophage MHC class II expression (Woods et al., 1997) and antigen presentation (Ceddia et al., 1999; Ceddia and Woods, 1999) especially by endurance exercise. It appears that the volume and intensity of exercise decreases tissue macrophage and disease outcome in animal studies; however, there is no evidence, at present, to expand this effect to humans.

2.1.2. Neutrophils

Neutrophils contribute about 50-60% of the circulating blood leukocyte cells. They are vital in innate immune responses as they are attracted to areas of infection (chemotaxis) and they ingest microbes (phagocytosis). This process is followed by enzymatic attack

and digestion within intracellular vacuoles, using granular hydrolytic enzymes and ROS in the oxidative burst; this process is called degranulation.

Neutrophils exert their main function outside blood, via a process called diapedesis. Their ability to do this is based upon the ability of neutrophils to emigrate from the blood vessels into surrounding tissue. Acute or exhausting exercise does not seem to affect their ability to adhere to endothelium (Lewicki et al., 1987; Ortega et al., 1993). Typically, the pathogen is overwhelmed by the neutrophils (phagocytosis) by extending pseudopodia. When these extensions are fused together the pathogens is trapped within intracellular vacuoles and then the neutrophils begin their attack. This neutrophil ability has been used to assess neutrophil function *in vitro*. Most of the reports show that there is an increase in phagocytic activity of neutrophils during intense physical activity (Hack et al., 1992; Lewicki et al., 1987; Ortega et al., 1993; Rodriguez et al., 1994; Nieman et al., 1998; Rodriguez et al., 1991).

Even if neutrophil phagocytic activity is just one process that contributes to immunological integrity, it has been shown that long periods of heavy training may lead to a decrease in this activity at rest (Blannin et al., 1996), leading to an increased risk of getting opportunistic infections. Certainly, disorders of neutrophil function and neutropenia are associated with recurrent infections (Yang and Hill, 1991) and there is now convincing evidence to show that highly trained athletes are more susceptible to infection than their relatively sedentary counterparts (Brenner et al., 1994; Shephard et al., 1991). Indeed, exercise seems to induce degranulation by increasing the plasma levels of elastase and myeloperoxidase (Blannin et al., 1996; Robson et al., 1999; Suzuki et al., 2003), although this might merely reflect the simultaneous neutrophilia often observed (Suzuki et al., 1999). Unfortunately, during subsequent exercise, neutrophils can enter into a refractory activation period after exercise that may lead to a lower degranulation response to subsequent bacterial exposure (Bishop et al., 2002; Bishop et al., 2003; Blannin et al., 1997), supported by the observation that no changes

in total elastase content have been reported after physical exercise, which could mean there was no a depletion of neutrophil granules.

An attenuated ROS production has been reported after high intensity exercise (Hack et al., 1992; Pyne, 1994). Indeed, it has been demonstrated that the generation of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) by stimulated neutrophils is reduced during acute exercise by plasma borne inhibitors, such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase inhibitors. Although other researchers have shown the converse, an increased production of hydrogen peroxide and hydrochlorous acid (HClO) after moderate intensity exercise(Smith et al., 1990). This ambiguity may be a consequence of a shift in neutrophil function that could be dependent on exercise intensity (Dziedziak, 1990; Pyne, 1994; Suzuki et al., 2003). Furthermore, a decrease in respiratory burst has been reported in the hours (h) following a bout of intense physical activity (Pyne, 1994). In this case, the exercise-intensity seems to be the most important factor; shown in the decreased neutrophil oxidative burst during a marathon race (Suzuki et al., 2003). This process appears to be mediated by catecholamines, especially adrenaline, which decreases neutrophil respiratory burst in vitro elevating cycling adenosine monophosphate (Tintiger et al., 2001). Furthermore, pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, appear to be involved in regulating this process, which would also be in-line with the different result found at moderate and high exercise intensities (Peake et al., 2005).

Thus, the combined uses of the neutrophilic arsenal, creates a hostile environment for any foreign bodies, leading to their destruction. The ability of neutrophils to kill has been shown to be unaffected or enhanced by acute exercise, irrespectively of intensity (Lewicki et al., 1987; Ortega et al., 1993; Rodriguez et al., 1991). Resting neutrophil bactericidal activity was similar in trained and sedentary subjects (Lewicki et al., 1987). The contradictions in the effects of acute and chronic exercise on neutrophil functions are attributable to the differences in age, gender and initial fitness levels of the subject (Wolach et al., 2000).

2.1.3. Natural killer (NK) cells

NK cells may serve as a "front line of defence" before a specific response can be mounted by the adaptive immune response, and do not require recognition of an antigen-MHC class II combination. The effects of intense exercise on NK-cell function appear to be biphasic, with an initial increase followed by delayed suppression (Kappel et al., 1991; Nieman et al., 1993; Pedersen, 1991).

Exercise induces an increase in the absolute number and percentage of blood NK cells, which also results in an increased cytolytic activity (Gannon et al., 1995; Pedersen et al., 1988; Roberts et al., 2004). The delayed suppression of NK cell function seems to be mediated via prostaglandins released from the relatively numerous monocytes observed after intense exercise (Kappel et al., 1991; Pedersen et al., 1988).

2.1.4. Other contributors to innate immune function

The stress hormones adrenaline and cortisol are involved in many of the changes in innate immunity outlined above. Indeed, they regulate innate immune cell function and the production of the leukocytosis by bone marrow release and demargination (Ortega, 2003). Cortisol release and clearance is regulated by exercise intensity; moderately intense exercise, which is often associated with enhanced immune cell function, decreases cortisol levels. On the other hand, high intensity exercise, which can depress innate immune cell function, increases cortisol secretion. The similarities between acute exhaustive exercise and acute inflammatory response lead to the conclusion that other immunological mediators are involved (Camus et al., 1992). For example, IL-6 increases during endurance exercise and is released by exercising muscle (Steensberg et al., 2000). A consequence of this event accounts for increases in cortisol secretion, and IL-10 expression (Steensberg, 2003).

2.2. Effects of exercise on acquired immune function

Acquired immunity combats infections by not allowing colonisation of pathogens and by destroying invading microorganisms. It is initiated, in most cases, by antigen presentation to T helper lymphocytes, within the peptide-binding groove of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules on antigen-presenting cells. The subsequent cell-mediated immune response is mediated by inflammatory monocytes (CD4+) T-cells.

According to the cytokines they produce, helper T-cell clones can be divided into two main phenotypes: Type-1 (Th1) and Type-2 (Th2). Th1 cells play an important role in the defence against intracellular pathogens and Th2 cells are involved in the protection against extracellular parasites and stimulation of B-cell antibody (AB) production. Cytotoxic T cells can also be classified into Type-1 (Th1) and Type-2 (Th2) cells according to their cytokine profiles.

2.2.1. T-cells

As outlined above, T cells play a fundamental role in the organization and regulation of the cell-mediated immune response to pathogens. To cope with the enormous variability of environmental antigens, T lymphocytes comprise a collection of cell clones, each featuring the ability to specifically recognize a given antigen (Von Boehmer, 1997). Specificity of recognition, memory of previous antigen encounter and lack of self-reactivity are the physiological hallmarks of T lymphocytes. These features are acquired during the maturation of T cells, which takes place in the thymus and later on in secondary lymphoid organs (Von Boehmer, 1997). Antigen recognition leads to the clonal amplification of antigen-specific T cells, which will eventually acquire effector functions ranging from the ability to kill infected cells to the production of soluble paracrine factors required for cooperation among immune cells (Lanzavecchia and Sallusto, 2000). A defect of their function, such as inherited or acquired immunodeficiency syndromes, might lead to an increased incidence of infections (Fabbri

et al., 2003), so it is reasonable to think that the increased incidence of URTI recorded between sports enthusiasts may be due to exercise-induced decreases in T-cell function.

The effect of acute exercise on cell-mediated immune function has been most commonly assessed measuring cytokine production and cell proliferation (Gleeson et al., 2013). It has been reported that exercise had little or no effect on the portion of circulating Th2 cells, where conversely it had a decreasing effect on Th1 cell numbers. This might be due to changes in the distribution of the cell between circulation and tissues ,cell death, or that the increase in plasma epinephrine during exercise contributes to the suppression of IL-2-producing T cells and that high plasma IL-6 helps to maintain the IL-4-producing T cells in the circulation. Thus epinephrine and IL-6 may participate in the exercise-induced shift toward a relative type 2 T-cell dominance. However, other physiological changes, such as local inflammation, may also play a role. In addition, the present study supports the idea that an exercise-induced increase in plasma IL-6 induces elevated levels of plasma cortisol (Steensberg et al., 2001).

Athletes are prone to viral infections. Some researchers have argued this is due to an impaired Th1 cellular response, leading to a reduced host-defence reaction against intracellular pathogens. Indeed, there are no differences between sedentary people and athletes in circulating lymphocyte numbers during rest (Nieman, 2000). In contrast, decreases in circulating numbers of Type-1 T cells, reduced T cell proliferative responses, and falls in stimulated B cell immunoglobulin synthesis have been reported in athletes after long periods of intensive training, suggesting a decrease in T-cell functionality (Baj et al., 1994; Lancaster et al., 2004; Verde et al., 1992). However, there are many other processes that lead to lymphocyte proliferation and cytotoxicity, including cytokine production and pathways that require other co-stimulatory signals, including specific antigen encounters.

Numerous studies report that lymphocyte proliferation decreases during and after exercise (Walsh et al., 2011). This exercise-induced decline could be, in part, due to

changes in B cell responses to mitogen stimulation. However, given the small number of circulating B cells, this contribution appears to be small.

2.2.2. Monocytes (CD14, CD16)

Monocytes can be divided in two populations, classical (CD14⁺⁺) and inflammatory (CD14⁺ and CD16⁺) cells, with their difference residing in how they express cell-surface tool-receptor 4 (TLR4), with inflammatory monocytes having twice the number of receptors as classical monocytes (Skinner et al., 2005). Even if they represent only ten per cent of total monocyte population, they are a significant inflammatory potential of the monocyte pool as a whole (Belge et al., 2002).

There is evidence of a temporary increase of the inflammatory monocyte percentage after a single bout of intense exercise, with a quick return to baseline levels during recovery. Cortisol may be involved in reducing CD14+, CD16+ monocyte numbers with exercise training (Fingerle-Rowson et al., 1998). Studies have shown that high-intensity training results in increases in regulatory T-cell numbers and activation was also associated with reduced pro-inflammatory and increased anti-inflammatory cytokine expression (Wang et al., 2012).

2.2.3. Immunoglobulin contribution to immune function

An AB, also known as an immunoglobulin (Ig), is a protein produced by plasma cells that is used by the immune system to identify and neutralize pathogens (Kenneth, 2005). The largest immunoglobulin pool in the blood is Immunoglobulin (Ig)G, with a smaller quantity of Immunoglobulin (Ig)A and Immunoglobulin (Ig)M. The amount of Immunoglobulin (Ig)D and Immunoglobulin (Ig)E is almost insignificant. Therefore, most studies have focused on exercise-induced changes in serum IgA, IgG and IgM.

Serum immunoglobulin concentrations appear to remain either unchanged or slightly increased in response to moderate physical activity. When athletes run 45 to 75 km at high intensities, serum immunoglobulin levels have been reported to be depressed for up to 2 days. Thus intense ultra marathon running may lead to greater and longer lasting

decreases in serum immunoglobulin levels than following exercise of shorter duration. IgA and IgG, immunoglobulins commonly found in airway and alveolar space secretions, may have diffused from the serum during recovery from prolonged endurance exercise non-specifically and/or in response to microbial agents and antigens introduced into the airways during the exercise bout (Nehlsen-Cannarella et al., 1991; Nieman et al., 1989; Potteiger et al., 2001).

2.3. Cytokines contribution to immune function

Cytokines are known as an important family of intercellular molecules that influence inflammatory and immune responses. Cytokines can be categorised as being pro- or anti-inflammatory. Pro-inflammatory cytokines include IL-6, IL-1α, and -1β, and TNF-α. Examples of anti-inflammatory cytokines include IL-10, the IL-1 receptor agonist (RA) as well as soluble TNF-receptor (sTNFr) 1 and 2 (Heled et al., 2013). Both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines counter-regulate one another, in sequence. This maintains their levels in homeostasis (Pedersen and Hoffman-Goetz, 2000; Suzuki et al., 2002). Cytokine IL-6 (an inflammatory) causes pyrogenesis, together with IL-1 and TNFα. Both neutrophils and monocytes produce inflammatory cytokines in local inflammation responses and during healing.

2.3.1. Interleukin (IL)-6: release and functions

Studies have demonstrated that the release of Interleukin (IL)-6 is induced by exercise and that this release almost exclusively accounts for the elevated systemic IL-6 concentration found (Steensberg et al., 2000). Indeed, by obtaining arterial-femoral venous differences from an exercising leg and a resting leg, it has been found that exercising muscles released the total amount of circulating IL-6 (Pedersen et al., 2001). This demonstrates that only muscle contraction induces IL-6 and that secreted factors (e.g. adrenaline) do not play an important role in the exercise-induced increase in the systemic IL-6 concentration. In addition, even if strong evidence has been provided to

support IL-6 induction by exercise, it has not been mentioned that other cellular sources within the muscle (e.g. macrophages, the endothelium of the muscle capillary bed, adipose tissue or bone) may be the source of the increased IL-6 release from the muscle during exercise.

There is also evidence that the kinetics of IL-6 concentration/release during exercise is closely related to the duration of the exercise bout. A plausible explanation of this process could be that the depletion of muscle glycogen during prolonged endurance exercise increases the release of IL-6 in response to an energy crisis (Steensberg et al., 2000). This augmented concentration of IL-6 may signal the liver to increase its glucose output to prevent a drastic fall in the blood glucose concentration the muscles are now using as their main energy source. Supporting this hypothesis, studies have showed that carbohydrate ingestion during exercise, which provides an exogenous energy source, attenuates the systemic IL-6 concentration (Nehlsen-Cannarella et al., 1997; Starkie et al., 2001). More evidence has been provided to confirm that the IL-6 response to exercise is mainly dependent on exercise duration with a minor role played by exercise intensity (Fischer, 2006).

This is supported by recently presented data which revealed that the inflammatory cytokine IL-6 increases significantly in the plasma after a marathon run even after adjustment for leukocyte (Bernecker et al., 2013) and more modest increases are reported with shorter duration or intermittent exercise protocols or when carbohydrates are provided during exercise (Fischer, 2006; Meckel et al., 2009). Exercise-induced IL-6 increase is temporary, returning to basal levels within one-hour post exercise (Steensberg et al., 2000). The major stimulus of IL-6 synthesis and release seems to be a decrease in muscle glycogen, which results in an exponential increase of IL-6 concentration (Keller et al., 2005; Pedersen and Fischer, 2007). Indeed, muscle-derived IL-6 is released into the circulation in large amounts and is likely to work in a hormone-like fashion, exerting its effect on the liver and adipose tissue, thereby contributing to the maintenance of glucose homeostasis during exercise.

In addition, it is likely that the great increase in IL-6 in response to long-duration exercise is independent of muscle damage, while muscle damage itself is followed by repair mechanisms including invasion of macrophages into the muscle leading to IL-6 production. IL-6 production in relation to muscle damage occurs later and is of smaller magnitude than IL-6 production related to muscle contractions. Increases in intracellular calcium and ROS production could also activate transcription factors, such as NF-IL-6 and p38/RK known to regulate IL-6 synthesis (Fischer, 2006). Using arterio-venous difference techniques or muscle biopsies does not provide definitive information on the actual cellular source of the exercise-induced increase in systemic IL-6, researchers obtained muscle biopsies at rest and following 2 h of cycling (Hiscock et al., 2004). The data provided from this study showed that IL-6 protein was mostly expressed by myocytes in the periphery of individual myofibres.

Even if the physiological process that leads to an increased release of IL-6 is now better understood, the biological role of this increased concentration has been, until very recently, unknown. The hypothesis that IL-6 is released from the exercising muscles to signal to the liver the need for a increased glucose production has been recently tested. Evidences show that increased exercise-induced levels of plasma IL-6, act in hormonelike manner to regulate fat metabolism increasing substrate mobilisation (Pedersen et al., 2001). Indeed, it is well know that strenuous exercise increases plasma concentrations of stress hormones and catecholamines (Steensberg, 2003). Therefore, it should be considered that IL-6 may affect the hypothalamus, increasing the release of adrenocorticopic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary gland or directly acting on the adrenal gland itself, to stimulate cortisol synthesis; evidence has been provided for both mechanisms but further research is required to confirm these processes. Therefore, an acute increase in IL-6 could be important to mobilize substrates in times of need, for example during exercise, through different processes (Glund and Krook, 2008) (**Chapters 5 and 6**).

In addition, increased synthesis of IL-6 induction preceded a rise of two antiinflammatory cytokines, IL-1ra and IL-10 (Steensberg, 2003). It has been argued that if IL-6 was the initiator of this response, then IL-6 and IL-4 would stimulate monocytes and macrophages to produce IL-1ra, which inhibits the effect of IL-1. Monocytes, lymphocytes and B cells are known to have an important role in producing IL-10, which together with IL-4 can inhibit Type-1 T-cell cytokine production. Evidence for this has already been provided by a study which showed that strenuous exercise causes a decrease in the number of type-1 T-cells, whereas the population of Type-2 T-cells is unchanged. Both cortisol and adrenaline are shown to decrease production of Type-1 Tcell cytokines, whereas Type-2 T cell cytokine production is stimulated by IL-6 (Steensberg et al., 2001).

The exercise-induced IL-6 release may decrease the production Type-1 T cells, which consequently may lead to lower virus protection in the host as Type-1 T cells drive the immune system reaction against intracellular pathogens. This process might ultimately end with an increased incidence of URTI for serious exercisers. Interestingly, tissues other than skeletal muscles appear to be involved in the exercise-induced increase in systemic IL-6 concentrations. Data has shown that IL-6 is also released by the brain during exercise (Nybo et al., 2002) and IL-6 gene expression is increased within adipose tissue in response to exercise (Keller et al., 2003).

In conclusion, the stimulus for the increased IL-6 synthesis from tissue other than skeletal muscle is unclear, although glycogen depletion may be one possible explanation as it has been showed that low muscle glycogen is a stimulus for muscle-derived IL-6 production. This effect may be of interest for athletes or outdoor enthusiasts who appear to be more susceptible to exercise-acquired URTI.
2.3.2. Interleukin (IL)-4: release and functions

IL-4, a multifunctional pleiotropic cytokine discovered in the mid-1980s, remains a focus of attention and continues to spur vigorous research efforts. This mediator is produced mainly by activated T cells but also by mast cells, basophils, and eosinophils (Nelms et al., 1999). A typical cytokine structurally, with molecular weight varying between 12 and 20 kDa as a result of variable natural glycosylation, IL-4 shares sequence homology, cell surface receptors, intracellular signaling, and partial functional effects on cells with IL-13 (Kelly Welch et al, 2005; Murata et al., 1998). Functionally, IL-4 is best known for defining the so-called Th2 phenotype of lymphocytes and for regulating cell proliferation, apoptosis, and expression of numerous genes in various cell types, including lymphocytes, macrophages, and fibroblasts, as well as epithelial and endothelial cells LaPorte et al., 2008; Chomarat et al., 1998). Considering the already staggering and still rapidly growing volume of information available about IL-4, it is hardly possible to provide a systematic review of this pivotal regulator alone, even without considering important relevant aspects, for example, recent advances concerning functionally related Th2 mediators, such as IL-10, IFN- Υ and, IL-13 As the field of IL-4 research has expanded, it has become obvious that the initial broad-strokes picture of IL-4 function created in the 1980s and 1990s needs to be adjusted to reflect the numerous intricacies related to IL-4 generation, receptor use, and the effects on cells. Specifically, it has emerged that instead of linear scenarios, the field of IL-4 biology is full of alternative pathways. In addition to the well-appreciated—now described at the textbook level—role of IL-4 in determining the alternative fates of Th lymphocytes (Zhu et al., 2008), particularly in promoting Th2 and inhibiting Th1 (Constant et al., 1997) differentiation, new knowledge about other IL-4-related, alternative branchings has emerged.

The effect of IL-4 following exercise is presented in more details in the following paragraph.

2.3.3. Effect of exercise on cytokines

Exercise and environmental stressors induce an increase in the systemic concentration and muscle levels of numerous cytokines. It is interesting to note that the function of many of these cytokines is not completely understood. Additional research is needed to augment our knowledge about the biological role of exercise and environmental induced release of cytokines.

The mRNA expression of a number of cytokines in response to prolonged exercise has been studied to understand if their exercise-induced patterns are similar to IL-6 (Chan et al., 2004; Nieman et al., 2003). The mRNA of many cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-15, TNF-a, IL-12p35 and IFN- γ) is detectable at rest in muscle. On the other hand, other cytokines, such as IL-1a, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-12p40 are not detectable. There is evidence of an increase of mRNA expression for IL-6 and IL-8 during prolonged exercise (Nieman et al., 2006); one study also reported an increase in IL-1 β (Lysiak et al., 2004), but that observation could be attributable to differences in exercise protocols. For example, a study that did not cause any muscle damage did not induce IL-1 β mRNA expression (Chan et al., 2004). There was no increase in mRNA expression for any other cytokine following exercise.

A metabolic role for IL-6 and IL-8 is supported by the fact that exogenous carbohydrate ingestion decreases their mRNA expression. In contrast, no effect of carbohydrate ingestion was observed on IL-1 β mRNA expression. Consequently, this evidence provides support for the notion that IL-8 may have a similar biological pattern to IL-6. However, it is important to mention that while an increase in the expression of both IL-6 and IL-8 mRNA within the contracting muscle after exercise has been recorded, only IL-6 is synthetized and released.

IL-1ra concentrations are increased in response to endurance exercise with a peak in magnitude that is similar to that of IL-6. Interestingly, the increase in IL-1ra concentration occurs later than that of IL-6. Knowing that IL-6 could induce IL-1ra, it is

plausible that the release of IL-6 from the contracting muscle during exercise elicits the release of IL-1ra from blood mononuclear cells. As IL-1ra is an anti-inflammatory cytokine, it seems reasonable that the increase in the IL-1ra concentration after a bout of exercise acts as a negative feedback mechanism, helping control the magnitude and duration of IL-6 mediated effects (Ostrowski et al., 1998).

In addition, exercise induces an increase of many cytokines in the systemic circulation and muscles, but there is little understanding of their function. Two main mechanisms appear to be involved in the anti-inflammatory chronic effects of exercise. The first is an increased synthesis and release of anti-inflammatory cytokines from contracting skeletal muscle (Mathur and Pedersen, 2008). The second is attributable to a reduced expression of TLRs on monocytes and macrophages (Flynn and McFarlin, 2006), which inhibits the downstream responses, such as pro-inflammatory cytokine production, antigen presentation and co-stimulatory molecule expression (Gleeson et al., 2006). However, these two processes do not completely account for the anti-inflammatory effects of exercise.

Other effects of exercise have been demonstrated, such as the inhibition of monocyte/macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue (Kawanishi et al., 2010), a reduction of circulating numbers of pro-inflammatory monocytes (Timmerman et al., 2008) and an increase the circulating numbers of IL-10 secreting regulatory T-cells (Wang et al., 2012).

As stated above, IL-6 appears responsible for the subsequent rise in circulating levels of other anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10 and IL-1ra) and also stimulates the release of cortisol from the adrenal glands (Steensberg, 2003). IL-1ra, which is mainly secreted by monocytes and macrophages, decreases the pro-inflammatory actions of IL-1 β . Regulatory T cells, monocytes, Th2 cells, macrophages, CD8+ T cells and Th1 cells are primarily involved in IL-10 production.

The main role of IL-10 is counteracting the inflammatory responses in order to downregulate adaptive immune effector responses and to minimise tissue damage in response to microbial challenges. This has been showed by a study conducted during Copenhagen marathon in May 1997 where they found that a dramatic increase in the inflammation responsive cytokine IL-6 was balanced by the release of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Ostrowski et al., 1999). In addition, several pro-inflammatory cytokines and other soluble mediators are inhibited by IL-10. Moreover, as insulin sensitivity is increased by IL-10, a protective effect against obesity, induced by macrophage infiltration in skeletal muscle, has been observed (Hong et al., 2009).

TLRs together with the IL-1 receptors form a receptor family, and they are generally expressed by macrophages and dendritic cells. They mainly detect and recognise microbial pathogens. They are transmembrane proteins and can be activated by endogenous signals of tissue damage, such as heat shock proteins (Kaisho and Akira, 2006). TLRs mainly produce pro-inflammatory cytokines after signalling of the antigenpresenting cell, and thus TLR pathways are fundamental in mediating whole body inflammation (Takeda et al., 2003). Physically active people have shown lower inflammatory response by their blood monocytes to endotoxin stimulation *in vitro* and lower TLR4 expression (Gleeson et al., 2006). TLR expression is not fully understood. However, anti-inflammatory cytokines, stress hormones and heat shock proteins have been implicated (Gleeson et al., 2006).

2.4. Influence of exercise on URTI incidence

Exercise has been suggested by physicians as the cause of a decreased resistance to bacterial diseases (Bosch et al., 2002; Shephard, 1997; Shephard, 2010; Shephard and Shek, 1996; Walsh et al., 2011). As support to this, an increased number of URTI reported after endurance competitions has been showed (Nieman et al., 1990; Peters, 1997; Peters and Bateman, 1983).

2.4.1. Influence of exhaustive exercise on URTI incidence

A temporary fall in the circulating number of natural killer (NK) cell number has been observed after an exhaustive bout of exercise (Shinkai et al., 1992). This observation provides a partial explanation for the recorded increase in URTI, as a drop of NK cells offers a period when infecting microorganisms have easier access. This transient period is called an "open window". There is still debate around the length of this "open window"; some studies report that it could last for more than seven days (Shek et al., 1994), but most studies describe this reduction lasting just for a few hours. Also, doubts have been raised as to whether the "window" is open sufficiently long enough to lead to increased susceptibility to infections. In addition, it has also been observed that NK cells do not get damaged by exercise, instead they are temporarily relocated to blood vessel walls because of the exercise-induced secretion of catecholamines (Shephard et al., 2000). A more plausible explanation could be a depression of front-line defences resulting in a subsequent lower secretory rate of antimicrobial peptides (AMPS) from the nasal and salivary glands (Mackinnon, 1997; McDowell et al., 1991; Tharp and Barnes, 1990).

2.4.2. Influence of moderate exercise on URTI incidence



Fig. 2. The J-shaped model of the relationship between risk of Upper Respiratory Tract Infection (URTI) and exercise volume (Nieman et al., 1994).

It has been also observed that regular moderate sessions of exercise have a beneficial effect on health and that excessive volumes of training have negative consequences. Thus suggesting a J shape relationship between physical activity and resistance to diseases (**Figure 2.**; Nieman et al., 1994); however, this observation is based on a limited amount of data (Nieman et al., 1990; Shephard et al., 1999). In the case of the immune system it would seem that a disproportionate inflammatory reaction leads to tissue damage after exagerated training (Shek and Shephard, 1998).

Most of the studies on this topic were survey-based epidemiological studies and presented limitations on data reliability and study design, particularly on inclusion criteria, food intake, memory recall effect limitations, and population specificity for symptoms of Upper Respiratory Tract Infection (URI) (Cramer et al., 1991; Hemila et al., 2003; Kostka et al., 2000; Matthews et al., 2002; Nieman et al., 1990; Shephard and Shek, 1999). However, these results suggest that moderate physical activity was associated with a 20-30% reduction in annual risk of URTI when compared with sedentary subjects. In conclusion, the evidence from available studies show a decreased incidence, severity and duration of URTI in consequence of acute moderate (lasting ~30 min) physical activity (Nieman et al., 1990; Weidner et al., 1998).

The evidence mentioned above suggests that the human body can increase its ability to respond to bacterial challenges leading to the concept of "immunosurveillance", thereby providing a plausible explanation for the apparent relationship between moderate exercise and incidence of infections (Nieman, 2000). Conversely, physical activity showed little effect on the immune system and there is a lack of evidence to support this theory.

2.4.3. Influence of heavy exercise on URTI incidence

Little research has been conducted in the area of intense physical activity and risk of URTI. Some elegant studies have looked at the incidence of URTI after marathon and ultra-marathon competitions and there is evidence of an increased risk of URTI during the 7-14 days following the race (Nieman et al., 1990; Peters and Bateman, 1983; Peters et al., 2010). Even stronger evidence supports the idea that there is a linear relationship between exercise intensity and post-race diseases (Nieman, 1994), suggesting that the more acute the exercise stress the higher the susceptibility to URTI.

Scientific studies based on endurance competition and heavy volume training have investigated the relationship between high-intensity exercise and the immune system (Bury et al., 1998; Foster, 1998; Gleeson et al., 1999). Evidence suggests that

performing both a session of intense prolonged exercise and higher volumes of training is associated with increase susceptibility to URTI, thus supporting the J-shaped model. It is now well established that a depression of immune function can last for 72 hours following a bout of high intensity physical activity (Nieman, 2000), and it seems reasonable to relate this to the increased incidence of URTI, even if it has not been demonstrated definitively.

In conclusion, a suppression of immune function, following high intensity exercise could lead to an "open window" during which bacteria and viruses may invade the body, and thus augment the risk of infections (Nieman, 2000). However, a direct link between impaired immune function *in vivo* and increased incidence of URTI has not yet been demonstrated.

2.4.4. Effect of extreme environments on immune responses to exercise

The hypothesis that extreme environments could affect immune function while exercising was firstly proposed in the late 90's. Considering that exercise and environmental stress both affect the immune function it is easy to comprehend why Dr Shephard hypothesised that linking them together would cause greater disruption to immune function and host defence (Shephard, 1998).



Fig. 3. The co-ordinated hormonal responses, supervised by the central nervous system to contrast stressors. ACTH, Adrenocorticotropic hormone; GH, Growth hormone (Jonsdottir, 2000).

Stressors are contrasted by co-ordinated hormonal responses supervised by the central nervous system (**Figure 3.**; Jonsdottir, 2000). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and sympatho-adrenal medullary (SAM) axis provide the signals by which the brain modulates immune function to oppose stressors. Cortisol is produced by the HPA axis, and SAM axis regulates the production of catecholamines. Evidence supports an interaction between neuroendocrine responses and immune responses to exercise (Hoffman-Goetz and Pedersen, 1994).

To provide an example, during fever, the body's temperature is increased by endogenous pyrogens through an increase in the hypothalamic temperature set point. On the other hand, the hypothalamic temperature set point does not change during vigorous physical activity (Byrne et al., 2006; Pugh et al., 1967). However, decreased heat dissipation during exercise causes the body's temperature to rise, often exceeding levels associated with fever and hyperthermia.

Exercise in hot conditions is often associated with an increase of catecholamines and cytokines, which amplify immune modifications, stress hormones, higher heart rate, and a decrease of endurance performance when compared with thermo-neutral conditions (Febbraio, 2001; Galloway and Maughan, 1997). Evidence shows that exercising in the heat poses a greater threat to immune function compared with thermo-neutral conditions (Rhind et al., 2004; Walsh et al., 2011; Walsh et al., 2011; Walsh and Whitham, 2006) (**Chapters 5 and 6**).

2.4.5. Hyperthermia and heat stroke: a role for cytokines?

Studies have reported an acute inflammatory response to heat strain, which involved hyperthermia-related pyrogens (IL-6, IL-1, and TNFa), of which IL-6 corresponded to the severity of the EHS, as well as their antagonist receptors (IL-6R, IL-1RA, and TNFr I&II), after being exposed to a mix of exertional components and heat. An uncontrolled anti-inflammatory response was related to poor prognosis in recovering patients (Bouchama et al., 1993; Hammami et al., 1997; Hashim et al., 1997).

A more distinct effect of environmental heat has been observed in neutrophil activation, which serves as a link between the inflammation and coagulation responses (Heled et al., 2013). Involvement of pyrogenic cytokines (IL-6, IL-8 and IL-1 RA) was also reported (Duque et al., 2014). Animal models reported similar results alongside increases in antiinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-10 and IL-1 RA (Zhang et al., 2007). Again the elevation in plasma IL-6 levels was related to the severity of the heat stroke. A dysregulation of the inflammatory response in non-surviving patients leads to the hypothesis that it may contribute to fatal tissue injury. Nevertheless, the antiinflammatory component is also heavily involved in heat stroke (Bouchama et al., 2005 a; Bouchama et al., 2005 b). In EHS, a major role for the endotoxemic component is reflected by cytokines, especially by the IL-1 cytokine family (IL-1a, IL-1 β , and IL-1 RA).

Cytokines are involved from the early stages, pointing to multi-factorial damage due to excessive heat and EIMD. Once again, IL-6 is correlated with the severity of the heat stroke (Chang, 1993; Lu et al., 2004).

Following a bout of physically demanding exercise, plasma levels of both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines increase, and that this increase is enhanced by previous illness or inflammation (Bouchama and Knochel, 2002; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006; Suzuki et al., 2000). For example, performing physical activity in the heat contributes to and increases the level of complexity of the physiological processes mentioned above, providing a combination of stressors (Akimoto et al., 2000; Cox et al., 2007; Rhind et al., 2004; Walsh and Whitham, 2006). Indeed, submaximal exercise in a hot environment has been found to enhance the amount of pyrogenic cytokines following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation (Starkie et al., 2005). In addition, evidence demonstrates that skeletal muscle responds to heat stress with a distinct "stress-induced immune response," characterized by an early upregulation of IL-6, IL-10, and TLR-4 and suppression of IL-1 β and TNF- α mRNA, a pattern discrete from classic innate immune cytokine responses (Leon et al., 2015; Welch et al, 1985). This effect is due to an increased amount of secreting cells such as like macrophages, B lymphocytes, and T lymphocytes (Janeway et al., 2001) (**Chapters 5 and 6**).

Following exercise, an inhibition of cytokine production was expected due to the release of stress hormones, but this has not been confirmed in studies that showed cytokines plasma levels to rise in the combined stress situation. It has also been shown that acclimation has considerable influence on the ability to perform exercise bouts in the heat. Indeed, heat acclimation was found to lower the increase in pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines during exercise in the heat (Heled et al., 2013). Furthermore, thermoregulatory preconditioning has a considerable influence on the ability to perform exercise in the heat. In particular, heat acclimation was found to diminish the increase in IL-6 and IL-10 during exposure to exercise in the heat, while TNF-a remained unchanged. Supplementation with quercetin, a heat shock response inhibitor, abolished this effect,

suggesting that the mechanisms controlling the extent of the pro- and antiinflammatory cytokine reaction to heat stress are enhanced by heat acclimation (Kuennen et al., 2013).

Cytokines have been shown to contribute to thermoregulation and heat stroke development via fever, leucocytosis, leukocyte activation, and stimulation of the HPA axis (Heled et al., 2013; Rav-Acha et al., 2004). However, the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of heat illnesses is complex (**Figure 4.**). Increases in the production of both anti- and pro-inflammatory cytokines and the activation of several pathways belonging to physiological and biochemical processes have been highlighted in hyperthermia (Heled, Fleischmann, and Epstein, 2013). Current knowledge is summarised in **Fig. 4**.



Fig. 4. Proposed roles of cytokines in hyperthermia and heat stroke, (Heled et al., 2013). T core, core body temperature; BBB, Blood-brain-barrier; CVP, Central venous pressure.

2.4.6. Considerations on the effect of exercise on innate and adaptive immune function

With regard to exercise-induced changes in innate immune function and how this relates with EHI and EHS, there is evidence to show how febrile response to LPS injection was nullified in test-rodents previously dosed with anti-IL-6 antibodies (Rummel et al., 2006). Furthermore rats injected with an IL-1 receptor antagonist had an increase rate of survival following experimentally induced heatstroke (Chiu et al., 1996). Another study clearly shows how exercise has a pyrogenic effect of similar magnitude to fever. For example, human plasma taken from subjects post-exercise induced fever in rodents, in contrast to pre-exercise plasma which did not. This indicates an exercise response, and not an allergic or immune response (Cannon and Kluger, 1983). A later study showed that doping human subjects with the cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor rofecoxib over a six day period, curtailed body temperature increase during prolonged exercise, which indicates that the prostaglandin-mediated inflammatory processes might exacerbate exercise-induced caused heat strain (Bradford et al., 2007). This prompted the proposition of an additional pathway in the development of EHI. This would involve a systemic inflammatory response (Bouchama, 1995; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006), with increased pyrogenic cytokines (e.g. IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-α), which might in turn push the individual towards EHI and/or EHS (Walsh et al., 2011 a). Hence, it remains unclear whether EIMD increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress, which in turn may increase the risk of EHI. As mentioned, it is well known that exercising muscle releases the inflammatory cytokine IL-6, and it has been demonstrated that EIMD elicits a greater circulating IL-6 response than non muscle-damaging concentric exercise. Therefore, it is plausible that EIMD and associated inflammation (increase in circulating pyrogenic cytokines) might increase heat strain at least in the short-term during subsequent exercise heat stress.

2.5. Heat Shock Proteins

In consequence to exposure to physiological stressors a challenge to homeostasis at the cellular level is posed, and this stimulates an increase in the expression of Heat Shock Proteins (Hsp). Although many studies have focused on the function of intra-cellular Hsp72 after exposure to acute stressors, such as exercise or extreme environments, little is known about the potential function of endogenous extra-cellular Hsp72 (eHsp72). What is known is that although eHsp72 might be a not widely recognized feature of the stress response, it may function as an endogenous "danger signal" for the immune system. Therefore, this allows a reaction and an adaptation to the new challenge the body is facing.

These molecules have a cytoprotective effect, indeed to maintain cellular homeostasis they act as molecular chaperones. In addition, they are also involved in the immune response modulating the inflammatory response following a stress (Horowitz et al. 1996). There is also evidence that Hsp72 is a marker of heatstroke risk (Pavlik et al., 2003; Westman and Sharma, 1998; Yang et al., 1998). Therefore it is of interest of the present thesis to investigate its role during exercise-heat stress and the subsequent effect on thermoregulation. Indeed, it could be suggested that Hsp might act as a link between the peripheral inflammatory response following eccentric-exercise and the CNS that regulate core body temperature. Hsps are characteristically divided into superfamilies based on their function, structure and molecular weight (Feige and Polla, 1994; Park et al., 2000; Westman and Sharma, 1998).

2.5.1. Heat Shock Protein 72 (Hsp 72) (Chapter 6)

Heat shock protein 72 is an inducible isoform of 70kDa of molecular weight.

Indeed, Hsp72 release depends on the Heat Shock Element (HSE) in the promoter region of the Hsp gene binding heat shock transcription factor-1 (Pirkkala et al., 2001). After Hsp72 mRNA transcription, Hsp72 protein synthesis starts (Kregel and Moseley, 1996). Expression of intracellular Hsp72 is the result of many signals such as ACTH (Blake et

al., 1991; Blake et al., 1994), corticosterone (Cvoro and Matic, 2002; Valen et al., 2000), catecholamines (Heneka et al., 2003; Matz et al., 1996; Matz et al., 1996), glycogen depletion (Febbraio et *al.*, 2002; Santoro, 2000), oxidative stress (Calabrese et al., 2001; Wallen et al., 1997) and heat/hyperthermia (Cvoro and Matic, 2002; King et al., 2002; Kregel and Moseley, 1996; Redaelli et al., 2001; Thomas et al., 2002).

Studies have shown that stressors of exercising muscle (e.g. acidosis, increased temperature, free radical formation, ischaemia and glucose deprivation) induce an increase in intracellular Hsp72 (Salo et al., 1991; Skidmore et al., 1995; Zhou et al., 1997; Omatsky et al., 1995; Vesely et al., 1998; Martinez et al., 1999). Furthermore, exercise itself increases Hsp72 in many central and peripheral tissues (Walsh et al., 2001). This evidence suggests that exercise might affect the extracellular expression of Hsp72 (Febbraio et al., 2002; Fleshner and Johnson, 2005; Walsh et al., 2001; Yamada et al., 2008), because Hsp72 had been demonstrated *in vitro* to have potential immunostimulatory capabilities (Asea et al., 2000; Prohaszka et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2005).

Hsp72 has been detected in the circulation of humans (Pockley et al., 1998). It has been hypothesized that an acute bout of exercise would increase Hsp72 protein expression in contracting skeletal muscle, which would then be released into the extracellular environment, increasing the concentration of serum Hsp72. A study by Walsh et al. (2001) showed that after an acute-exercise bout serum eHsp72 was elevated, but the increase preceded the increase in mRNA and protein Hsp72 synthesis within the muscle tissue. This led to the conclusion that muscle cells were not responsible for the extracellular release of eHsp72. Further studies have corroborated this using different protocols (Marshall et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 2006). Studies have demonstrated that eHsp72 responses were dependent on the intensity and duration of exercise (Fehrenbach et al., 2005); therefore, demonstrating that exercise results in an increase in extracellular Hsp72 in humans.

2.5.2. Mechanism, releasing signal and origin of extracellular Hsp72

Many questions, however, have been raised about the possible mechanism, releasing signal and origin of extracellular Hsp72 release, and the biological significance of Hsp72 in the extracellular environment. Given that eHsp72 has been measured in interstitial space and in body periphery, something (e.g. cell, organ) must release it. Two mechanisms might, potentially, be involved; (1) Hsp72 is passively released from an intra-cellular pool following cellular lysis, or death, and (2) a receptor-mediated exocytotic pathway actively releases Hsp72 (Asea, 2007; Fleshner and Johnson, 2005). A further plausible explanation for Hsp72 presence is that it is co-ordinating further molecules, which the cell excreted/secreted (Prohaszka and Fust, 2004). Other studies suggest that Hsps are only released under pathological circumstances (Gallucci et al., 1999). Either way, this results in necrotic death rather than controlled apoptotic cell death (Kroemer et al., 2005). Some *in vivo* evidence links elevated eHsp72 with muscle damage markers.

One study on runners showed that heavy/repeated footfall damages erythrocytes (Gromov and Celis, 1991), and this might help towards elevating eHsp72. Indeed, exercise duration and the consequent induced muscle-damage, seems a principle elevator of eHsp72 (Fehrenbach et al., 2005). However, a direct correlation between eHsp72 levels and markers of muscle damage has not been shown in literature. Moreover, downhill running and running on a level gradient reported similar Hsp72 levels (Peake et al., 2005).

The fact that Hsp72 is released into the peripheral circulation within 10-30 minutes of stressor onset suggests that necrosis is not the only factor involved in such a big increase (Fleshner and Johnson, 2005). Indeed, 30 minutes is not enough time for the protein induction pathway, and moreover it is unlikely that such a large number of cells would simultaneously die through necrosis. Whilst a passive release through necrosis may be an important mechanism in pathological circumstances and trauma (da Rocha et al., 2005; Pittet et al., 2002), the fact that psychological stressors, such as predatory

fear and threat of electric shock, evoke a stress-induced eHsp72 release adds further evidence to the suggestion that a pathway other than necrosis is evident (Fleshner et al., 2004; Fleshner et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 2005). In particular, an active release mechanism for Hsps in the absence of lysis was demonstrated by stimulated cultured rat embryo cells that released a number of heat shock proteins. More recently, glia-like cells have been shown to actively release Hsp70 upon heat shock in vitro, prompting recent investigations into the mechanism of this selective exocytic release. It has been demonstrated that the presence of Hsp72 within plasma membrane detergent-resistant micro domains of epithelial cells increased significantly when exposed to heat shock. Recently, much interest has revolved around the role of exosomes in the selective release of Hsp72 (Clayton et al., 2001). Much of this interest is based on findings that immuno-stimulatory exosomes contain many molecules, such as major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I and II, co-stimulating molecules and adhesion molecules, suggesting that exosomes could provide an exocytic pathway for other potential immune-stimulatory molecules, such as Hsp72 (Johnson et al., 2006), and are small membrane-bound vesicles that are secreted by a number of eukaryocytes as the consequence of a fusion of multivesicular bodies with the plasma membrane (Denzer et al., 2000). Exosomes are released by many haemopoietic cells following changes in intracellular calcium levels (Savina et al., 2003). Hsp72 has been detected within exosomes in a variety of cell types, although it appears that cellular specificity exists with regard to exosomal Hsp72release/expression (Clayton et al., 2005). Whilst the supporting evidence to date suggests that the majority of Hsp72 is actively released via an exocytic pathway into the circulation from cells under times of stress, it is likely that exosomes/lysosomes are involved, although further research is needed to clarify the factors involved in Hsp72 release.

Exercise is a stress that tends to disrupt homeostasis inducing a multitude of physiological changes. In addition, these physiological changes are known to increase the concentration of intracellular Hsp72, providing a plausible answer to "What triggers

the specific release of eHsp72?". The term heat shock protein clearly elicits heat as the main stimulator of the Hsp response. Indeed, using an isolated working heart model at different temperatures (Staib et al., 2007), it has been implied that elevated temperature was a requirement for myocardial Hsp72 expression and might be concluded that HSF-1, which regulate Hsp72 synthesis, is activated by temperature (Ruell et al., 2006). However, it is still unclear if heat stress increases Hsp72 into the extracellular environment.

Whitham and Fortes, using an elegant model, which involved a thermal clamp protocol have studied the independent and combined effects of exercise and increased core temperature on eHsp72 (2008). The greatest eHsp72 increase was the result of combined exercise and increases in core temperature, although it must be mentioned that passive heating alone induced significant eHsp72 responses (Ruell et al., 2006). Therefore, the increases in eHsp72 during exercise are not just induced by increases in core temperature.

2.5.3. Other factors involved in the eHsp72 response

The eHsp72 response is clearly complex. Prolonged exercise decreases muscle glycogen and blood glucose. Inadequate refuelling directly leads to an increase in glycogenolysis within the liver and skeletal muscle which maintains blood glucose levels (Coyle et al., 1986). The liver releases a great deal of acute phase proteins, and it was therefore postulated that Hsps may originate there. Evidence supporting the described process stems from studies which used arterial-venous difference cannulation techniques (Febbraio et al., 2002). These evidenced significant Hsp72 release during cycling, from the hepatosplanchic viscera (Febbraio et al., 2002). Furthermore, this release was diminished following recent glucose ingestion therefore, researchers concluded that glucose ingestion reduces hepatic production (Febbraio et al., 2004; Jeukendrup et al., 1999). Further evidence that blood glucose may regulate eHsp72 production abounds in the literature (Krause et al., 2015; Keane et al., 2015).

Exercise challenges cellular integrity by releasing increased levels of ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS). ROS have been shown to induce Hsp expression in lymphocytes (Marini et al., 1996). The findings showed that heat, glucose availability and oxidative stress play significant roles in generating an eHsp72 exercise response (Fischer et al., 2006). These studies failed, however, to demonstrate a clear cause and effect relationship. Any association might, therefore, be mediated by a different signal, particularly should an active exocytic pathway be the release mechanism from the cell.

Campisi et al. (2003) suggested that eHsp72 could form part of the normal stress response. Hence it would seem plausible for eHsp72 release to be mediated by a signal associated with the HPA or the SAM axis, particularly since many stress-induced signals originate in the anterior pituitary. Also, adrenal glands were shown to increase the intra-cellular concentration of Hsp72 (Matz et al., 1996). Studies that utilised adrenalectomy, hypophysectomy and adrenergic receptor blockade to induce eHsp72 in animal subjects, suggested a probable catecholamine connection.

One hypothesis states that under times of stress, calcium flux within the cell is precipitated by increased noradrenaline acting on a-adrenergic receptors and, subsequently, Hsp72 is released in exosomes, since intra-cellular calcium affects them (Johnson and Fleshner, 2006). Furthermore, one mouse study measured the release of eHsp72 by noradrenaline stimulation of a-adrenergic receptors, but there is relatively little human research to date (Fleshner et al., 2003). Since catecholamines possibly stimulates eHsp72 release, it is also possible that any sympathetic nervous system stimulation could stimulate eHsp72. This could be shown by psychologically stimulating a subject during exercise to induce a greater cardiovascular response. Psychological stress has been proven to stimulate eHsp72 in animals (Fleshner et al., 2004), which would suggest that heightened mental stress during exercise might have an additive effect in inducing a greater eHsp72 response.

Studies on post-operative anaesthesia and curarization, which essentially block or reduce peripheral tissue afferent feedback, suggest a central command contribution in

sympathetic activity (Kjaer et al., 1989; Pawelczyk et al., 1997). This would provide a potential mechanism by which central drive could stimulate eHsp72, independent of afferent feedback. Further evidence shows that immune and epithelial cells can release Hsp72 into extracellular environments (Broquet et al., 2003). It would also be worth investigating whether there are any other tissue sources of eHsp72 during exercise. One concept skeletal muscle is highly active during exercise, and exercise-induced intracellular Hsp72 response has been widely demonstrated, which appears to present skeletal muscle cells as an additional generator of eHsp72. While this could be true, the appearance of eHsp72 preceded the increase in skeletal muscle Hsp72 mRNA and protein concentration in exercising humans, as already mentioned (Walsh et al., 2001). Further to this, eHsp72 was not detected after 4-5 hours of knee extensor exercise at 40% maximal leg power output in a muscle glycogen depleted state (Febbraio et al., 2002).

In conclusion, it might be said that Hsp72 is partly released by muscle damage. Additionally, cannulation studies revealed a possible Hsp72 release in the brain after 180 minutes of cycling at 60% VO_{2max} , albeit the response demonstrated significant subject specificity. Considering the involvement of sympathetic activation in Hsp72 expression (Johnson et al., 2005), it can be plausibly suggested that Hsp72 could be released by any tissue served by the sympathetic nervous system.

2.5.4. Potential functions of Hsp 72

A deeper understanding of the signalling mechanisms behind intracellular and extracellular Hsp72 expression becomes more urgent when one considers the potential roles played by Hsp on immune system function, and vice versa (Srivastava et al., 1986). Initiating an intracellular Hsp leads to stress tolerance and protection against otherwise potentially lethal stressors. It has been previously suggested that Hsp72 has a role to play in the protection of immune cells operating in stressful inflammation environments (Campisi et al., 2003; Breloer et al., 1999).

It has been also shown that Hsp72 demonstrates higher responses to heat shock in phagocytic leukocytes than in other immune cell types (Oehler et al., 2001), and this increase was attributed to the observation that phagocytes mainly produce reactive oxygen species. Pursuant to this, the resting and post exercise concentrations of eHsp72 initially decrease during heat acclimation (Marshall et al., 2006) and that leads to the conclusion that there is an increased cellular uptake of eHsp72 which improves stress tolerance to any subsequent heat exposure. So Hsp72 may, in trying times, protect cells from external stressors and also from cytotoxicity of the immune system itself. It would be fascinating to understand whether eHsp72 could be taken up by distant cells that might be undergoing stress and/or are incapable of inducing Hsp72 by themselves. To present one idea; motor neurons contain basal Hsp72, but are incapable of synthesizing it following heat shock (Whitham and Fortes, 2008). One study administered an exogenous application of Hsp72 to a motor neuron cell culture and this enhanced post heat shock motor neuron survival (Robinson et al., 2005). Glial cells also release Hsp72, and since they are in close proximity to motor neurones their production could bolster the stress tolerance of their neighbours (Guzhova et al., 2001). This attribute of Hsp72 could lead to innovative treatment for exertional heat illness, particularly heat stroke.

Whilst many cell types are known to release Hsp72, eHsp72 must bind to a receptor, thereby precipitating an event cascade resulting in the initiation of an immune response. For example, leukocytes and NK cells have been shown to bind with eHsp72 (Asea et al., 2000; Asea, 2006; Sondermann et al., 2000) and certain pattern recognition receptors (PRR's) have been shown to exhibit cytokine-like eHsp72 of actions (Asea, 2006). Some argue that since Hsp72 could bind with the plasma membrane of human monocytes that this could cause intracellular calcium flux, that concordantly results in up-regulation of the inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6. It has also been shown that Hsp72 activates the complement cascade, independent of antibodies (Markievski et al., 2007). One molecule, the Cluster of Differentiation 14 (CD14), is a co-receptor for LPS detection expressed by macrophages, and has been shown to induce pro-inflammatory cytokines

via eHsp72. Consequentely, a bacterial activation of CD14 might lead to an eHsp72initiated up-regulation of innate immunity (Asea et al., 2000). Since Hsp72 binds to and then stimulates CD40+ cells (e.g., macrophages and B cells) this could be through a costimulatory pathway which would consist of an interaction between CD40 on PAC and CD40L on T cells (Caux et al., 1994). Accordingly, Hsp72, it is postulated, could have a contributory role in the interphase between innate and adaptive immunity.

2.6. The pathophysiology of heat stroke (Chapters 5 and 6)

Humans maintain their body core temperature within a narrow range. Consequently, when body temperature becomes higher, clinical failure may quickly develop (Hales et al., 1996; Horowitz and Hales, 1998). Heat illness represents a family of disorders ranging in severity from temporary and mild to fatal, depending on a variety of factors and the presence of hyperthermia (Sawka et al., 2011). Together these factors affect the magnitude and rate in the rise of body temperature, by interfering with the homeostatic control systems that regulate temperature (Hales et al., 1996). Nevertheless, the cascade of pathophysiological consequences is similar in all cases, with the critical factor in the development of heat stroke being the inability to sustain circulatory function (Hales et al., 1996; Horowitz and Hales, 1998). Indeed, cardiovascular activity transports heat to the body surface, while perfusing all tissues at a rate adequate to meet their metabolic demand. For example, during mild heat stress, body surface blood flow is elevated, without impairing the blood supply to other tissues. As the heat load increases, skin blood flow is further augmented and profuse sweating occurs. This increases peripheral blood volume, concurrently, the enhanced evaporation decreases total blood volume and causes a depletion of central blood volume. In turn, this reduces central venous pressure, which diminishes skin blood flow and volume, as well as evaporative cooling via low-pressure baroreceptors. These factors in conjunction, may lead to hyperthermia as blood maintenance becomes difficult, as the thermoregulatory

demands conflict with blood pressure regulation requirements. This conflict may result in physiological breakdown and heat stroke syndrome development.

Body temperature control is considered secondary compared to cardiovascular need. Severe body hyperthermia is supplemented by cellular/molecular changes resulting in a potentially fatal cascade of events, including cerebral hypoxia, neural dysfunction and hypotension (Hales et al., 1996; Horowitz and Hales, 1998). Many studies have focused on experimental animal models, as well as case reports of humans suffering from heat stroke or post-mortem examinations. Substantiated causal relationships between elevated circulating plasma cytokines (Leon et al., 2006), brain cytokines and monoamines (Kao et al., 1994; Lin, 1999) have all been suggested in the pathophysiology of this syndrome (Bouchama, 2006; Bouchama and Knochel, 2002).

2.6.1. Hsp 72 as marker for Heat Stroke risk (Chapter 6)

The assertion that Hsp72 is a marker of heatstroke risk is based on studies demonstrating that a severe diffuse loss of Purkinje cells is associated with Hsp70 expression in heat stroke victims (Bazille et al., 2005), and that a marked elevation in inducible Hsp70 is found in CNS tissues in response to heat stress and hyperthermia (Pavlik et al., 2003; Westman and Sharma, 1998; Yang et al., 1998). Animal studies have also shown increased Hsp70 in extracellular space during heat stroke (Dehbi et al. 2010).

This protein protects nascent and unfolded proteins and further protects against tissue damage (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2006; Reshef et al., 1996), therefore, this protein is considered to be a reliable biomarker for stress. Indeed, many studies evidence that thermal preconditioning (leading to the overexpression of Hsp70) delays heat stroke induced by cerebral ischaemia and hypotension (Yang et al., 1998). The neuroprotective role of Hsp70 has been tested in many stress conditions (Welch, 2001; Yenari, 2002). However, whether HSPs have additional functions beyond their chaperoning abilities or if they mediate physiological processes through cellular safeguarding is an important

unanswered research question. It is based on the observation that thermal preconditioning, in contrast to ischaemic preconditioning, induces the "Second Window of Protection" (SWOP) in cardio protection, suggesting that SWOP and heat stress have distinct protection mechanisms and that they might not be exclusive to Hsp72 expression (Qian et al., 1999).

There have been suggestions that Hsp70 potentiates the baroreflex response by acting on the *Nucleus Tractus Solitarii* (NTS) (Li et al., 2001), i.e. the baroreceptor afferent fibres. Li and colleagues (2001), demonstrated the Hsp70 levels in the NTS further enhanced the sensitivity of both the sympathetic and parasympathetic arms of the autonomic nervous system, and this mollified heat stroke induced cerebral ischaemia and hypotension. The opposite effect was seen when microinjections of anti-Hsp antibodies were applied to the NTS before thermal preconditioning. The same authors observed a threshold level of Hsp expression in the NTS had to be overcome to activate the baroreflex response.

These observations support the concept that thermal preconditioning and increased Hsp72 are fundamental to preserving synaptic transmission during thermal stress (Kelty et al., 2002). Since Hsp is absorbed by neurons it can control transmitter release by interacting with a variety of intracellular proteins (Jiang et al., 2000; Ohtsuka and Suzuki, 2000). One might conclude that Hsp72 protects the organism by multiple functions and direct interaction with autonomic neuronal networks. The interaction is not completely understood, but molecular pathways associated with synaptic transmission have been mooted. It has been also hypothesized that cell integrity is important to this process (Chamber et al., 2013).

2.6.2. Immune system and Heat stroke: Is there any link?

Recently, the debate on whether or not the immune system is involved in the aetiology of EHS has gathered pace (Muldoon et al., 2004; Muldoon et al., 2008). Unlike milder EHI, EHS is a life-threatening acute heat illness characterised by hyperthermia and

neurological abnormalities that can develop after exposure to high ambient temperature and humidity (**Figure 5.**).



Fig. 5. Summary of Exertional Heat Stroke (EHS) pathophysiological responses ending in multi-organ system failure. In exercise-induced heat stress, an increase is observed in cutaneous blood flow and decrease in splanchnic blood flow. Gut epithelial membrane ischemia induces oxidative and nitrosative stress and this increases tight junction permeability and allows endotoxins to leak into the systemic and portal circulation. Toll-like receptors (e.g., TLR4) meet pattern-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) on the cell membrane and stimulate pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine production. Heat is toxic to many organs and this stimulates heat shock proteins (HSPs) secretion. These interact with cytokines and other proteins to lessen the systemic inflammatory (Th2) to a pro-inflammatory (Th1) balance (i.e. anergy) is thought to mediate heat stroke symptoms that lead to multi-organ system failure and death (Sawka et al., 2011).

There is evidence of the involvement of immune system in the aetiology of EHS (Sawka et al., 2011; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006; Shephard and Shek, 1999) (**Figure 5.**). Indeed, exercise heat stress can cause a redistribution of blood flow which can lead to gastrointestinal ischaemia. That in turn results in damage to the intestinal mucosa and leads to the unwelcome LPS in the portal circulation (**Figure 5.**). The LPS is neutralised by the liver and then by monocytes and macrophages. However, these may be insufficient, resulting in increased concentrations of LPS in peripheral circulation. This

process may be exacerbated by heavy training where immune function is impaired (Bosenberg et al., 1988; Camus et al., 1997).

Many events are associated with LPS binding to protein; the transfer of LPS to its receptor complex (Toll-like receptor 4), subsequent nuclear factor-kappa B activation, and the translation and production of inflammatory mediators, including interleukins IL- 1β , TNF-a, IL-6 and inducible nitric oxide synthase (Selkirk et al., 2008). These events can lead to systemic inflammatory response syndrome, intravascular coagulation and eventually multi-organ failure. This is an attractive model, particularly for cases of EHS that are otherwise difficult to explain, because the pyrogenic cytokines can alter thermoregulation and cause cardiovascular instability resulting in collapse of the athlete or soldier (Bosenberg et al., 1988; Bouchama et al., 1991; Camus et al., 1997; Walsh and Whitham, 2006).

It is likely that the more traditional predisposing factors for EHS, such as high heat load and underlying illness, alongside a possible muscle defect causing excessive endogenous heat production, play a more prominent role in EHS aetiology than immune dysregulation (Rav-Acha et al., 2004). Immune dysregulation might have a role to play in the aetiology of a small number of EHS cases that remain to be explained by more traditional predisposing factors (Rae et al., 2008). These considerations provide part of the rationale of the present thesis. Indeed, the effect of EIMD upon heat strain during subsequent exercise in the heat has been studied to clarify the role of inflammation on thermoregulation.

2.7. Cold stress and Immune function (Chapter 4)

It is of interest for exercise immunologists to have a better understanding of the effects of cold exposure on immune function and URTI incidence (Castellani et al., 2006). There is still a debate on whether cold exposure with or without exercise increases susceptibility to URTI and leads to immune function depression.

In a cold environment, any attempt by the body to maintain core temperature may be insufficient, consequently shivering thermogenesis and peripheral vasoconstriction begin (Castellani and Rhind, 2002). SAM and HPA axis lead these responses, which also have effects on the immune system; therefore, it conceivable to think that the immune system may also be affected. Evidence shows that peak infection and illness typically occur in the coldest times of the year and last longer. However, it must be noted that most of these epidemiological reports did not establish that cold exposure was the cause of URTI, as many other stressors were likely to have been present (Makinen et al., 2009; Shephard and Shek, 1998; Whitham et al., 2006).

Makinen and colleagues (2009), has recently provided evidence for a link between low ambient temperature and increased URTI. Indeed, a study on 892 Finnish military conscripts indicates that URTI, including the common cold, were preceded by three days of declining ambient temperature and humidity (Makinen et al. 2009). More compelling evidence indicates that patients who become cold during surgery suffer greater surgical wound infection post operation (Kurz et al., 1996). Further, URTI symptoms were more than doubled in the 4-5 days after people had their feet immersed in cold water for 20 minutes compared with non-chilled controls (Johnson and Eccles 2005). Consequently, decreased immune function with repeated cold exposure could be a mechanism which may partially explain for the increase in infection reported by athletes and soldiers during winter months.

Hypothermia is defined as core body temperature of less than 35 °C, and it is uncommon in athletes due to the metabolic heat produced while exercising, nonetheless

it has been reported in cold-water swimmers or hill walkers (Pugh et al., 1967). Indeed, hypothermia is more frequent in some active occupational populations exposed to cold air and cold water during recreational or professional activities (e.g. military personnel, hikers and outdoor enthusiasts) (Beeley et al., 1993; Brannigan et al., 2009; Giesbrecht, 2000; Keatinge et al., 2001; Nuckton et al., 2000).

A limited number of investigations (Brenner et al., 1999; Costa et al., 2010) have studied the effect of modest core temperature reduction (0.5-1 °C) on leukocyte cell trafficking and function in humans, and findings showed leukocytosis that lasted for two hours after cooling. In particular, an increase in neutrophils and a simultaneous decrease in lymphocytes were reported. This modest rise in neutrophils may be attributed to demargination of leukocytes from the blood vessel walls as a result of increased cardiac output and catecholamine action. Moreover, these studies reported that natural killer cell activity (NKCA) remained unaltered, but saliva secretory Immunoglobulin-A (SIgA) secretion rate, lymphocyte function and neutrophil function were all reduced (Beilin et al., 1998; Brenner et al., 1999; Costa et al., 2010; Wenisch et al., 1996). Furthermore, it has been suggested that mild hypothermia can disrupt circulating immune function (LaVoy et al., 2011), which may partly explain the increased infection in cold exposed athletes and soldiers. A limitation of this research is that the studies were focused on patients undergoing surgery and might not be applicable to a healthy population, additionally a thermo-neutral control trial was not performed and therefore any effect of diurnal variation cannot be excluded.

Because cold exposure causes an increased energy requirement, cold-induced diuresis and a blunted thirst response (Pugh et al., 1967), then a negative energy balance and dehydration, are more likely to affect those exercising and training in the cold. Physical activity in cold air versus thermo-neutral conditions has been shown to have minimal effect on mucosal immunity (Walsh et al., 2002). A limitation of this study, in the present context, is that data provided by Walsh and colleagues (2001) were collected after cold air exposure but core body temperature was not measured and it was also

unlikely to be decreased due to the metabolic heat produced while exercising. However, there is limited evidence to support that exercising in cold air compared with thermoneutral conditions decreases mucosal immune function. Another plausible explanation for the increased URTI, is the decreased epithelial barrier function caused by upper airway drying from breathing cold air during exercise (Giesbrecht, 1995). Indeed, cold exposure leads to decreases in nasal respiratory epithelium temperature and reduces mucocilliary clearance of pathogens. Further evidence was provided by Tomasi and colleagues (1985) who studied secretory IgA levels in nationally ranked Nordic skiers before and after the national cross-country races held. Comparing the skiers with age-matched controls, there was significantly lower level of salivary IgA before the race. Concentrations of IgA decreased further following the competition to very low levels (Tomasi et al., 1985). Furthermore, low skin temperature and subsequent cold-induced peripheral vasoconstriction may impair whole body peripheral immune cell trafficking and function (Webb, 1992). This could be even greater with an existing open wound. Indeed, wound healing is slower and infection higher in patients that become hypothermic during surgical operations (Kurz et al., 1996).

Another important factor that must be taken in account is the increased time spent in close contact with others during winter months that can increase pathogen exposure, and may therefore explain the increased reported URTI. This factor has been highlighted as a cause for increased infection for more than 80 years (Hill and Cobbold, 1929). Whether crowding is really greater in winter compared with summer has not been demonstrated yet. In summary, cold exposure is associated with a greater incidence of URTI in active populations. The mechanism responsible for the increased URTI, however, remains elusive and may not be related to a reduced immune function (Eccles, 2002). While the clinical significance of cold/exposure induced immune function impairment is yet to be clarified in healthy individuals, there are indications that decreases in neutrophil function, saliva IgA and other antimicrobial proteins have been have been linked to an increased incidence of infection in otherwise healthy and active subject, in a

wealth of clinical trials (Smitherman and Peacock, 1995; Fahlman and Engels, 2005; Gleeson et al., 1999; Gleeson et al., 2013; Gleeson et al., 2011). On numerous occasions the individual contributions of these agents have been conferred a high level of clinical relevance (Albers et al., 2005; Walsh et al., 2011). Associations between URTI and other blood and salivary immune agents are yet to be extensively examined. Additionally, dysregulation of interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) production (a cytokine which has important anti-viral and immunomodulatory roles) was found for illness prone athletes, with normal function in regularly robust athletes (Gleeson et al., 2011). These 'first line of defence' chemicals form an innate part of immune system and a disruption by cold exposure could result in increased URTI. More research is required as to whether a decrease in innate immune function results from hypothermia or whether this is a consequence of extreme metabolic responses to the adverse/cold environment. These responses (or similar ones) could be attributed to moderate physical exercise.

To date it is unknown whether the high incidence of infection cases in the studies above stem from a cold-induced immune-function suppression. As already mentioned, cold exposure responses (e.g. shivering thermogenesis or peripheral vasoconstriction) are regulated by the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which are also instrumental in modulating the immune system (Costa et al., 2012). It would therefore follow that cold exposure might result in impaired immune function due to increased stress hormones (cortisol and catecholamines) which are released by the SNS and HPA axis during a thermoregulatory feedback process.

2.8. Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage (EIMD): mechanism, measures and consequences (Chapters 5 and 6)

In 1902, Hough first suggested that delayed onset muscle soreness (DOMS) was a consequence of micro-lesions in the muscle (Hough, 1902). For the next 9 decades, the study of muscle damage and muscle soreness received little attention, with only a few studies published. However, the interest in exercise-induced muscle damage (EIMD) has risen, with more than 100 studies conducted on humans. Most of the studies used eccentric actions of isolated muscle groups or exercises that are biased toward eccentric action, because it is well documented that eccentric actions result in muscle damage.

An additional EHI development pathway has been proposed which involves a systemic inflammatory response, with increased pyrogenic cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF-a) that might accelerate progression towards EHI and/or EHS. It has been proven that exercise has a pyrogenic effect similar to fever.

It remains unclear whether EIMD increases the heat strain experienced during subsequent exercise-heat-stress, which may in-turn increase the risk of EHI.

2.8.1. Assessment of muscle damage

Muscle biopsies or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are the only ways to directly assess muscle damage in human skeletal muscle. These techniques both present limitations, for example muscle biopsy uses a small sample to estimate damage in an entire muscle, and imaging techniques present images that are not stationary. Due to these limitations indirect measures to assess damage have been developed. The three most commonly used indirect damage markers on humans are; (1) a subjective determination of muscle soreness (63% of studies), (2) blood protein assessment (52% of studies), and (3) maximal voluntary contraction force (50% of studies) (Warren et al., 1999).

In 1981, some of the first evidence of muscle fibre damage in humans after exercise was provided using biopsies (Friden et al., 1981), and this was later confirmed by a follow-up

study (Friden et al., 1983). The percentages of damaged muscle corresponded to 1.6%, 2.4%, and 0.6% of the fibre area, with disturbances predominantly occurring in Type II fibres. The greater damaged was observed immediately after exercise, compared with samples taken 24-48 hours after exercise cessation (Friden et al., 1983; Newham et al., 1983). In contrast, the effect of multiple biopsies taken over a period of seven days in control subjects and subjects who performed eccentric exercise was measured, showed both conditions resulted in similar changes in infiltrating neutrophils and macrophages (Malm et al., 2000; Roth et al., 2000). Consequently, the biopsy procedure itself can produce some changes. There is evidence from human trials that the initial bump of the exercise creates a jolt to fibres, which results in damage to the extracellular matrix and, possibly, capillaries. This activates an inflammatory response, which may be part of the repair and regeneration process.

Between indirect assessment methods, prolonged strength loss after eccentric exercise is considered to be one of the most valid and reliable measures of muscle damage in humans (Warren et al., 1999). Metabolic and neural fatigue strength losses (Edwards et al., 1977) immediately after exercise are restored quickly, with strength returning to baseline within hours after exercise (Jones et al., 1989; Newham et al., 1983).

2.8.2. Differences between exercise protocols

The main differences between concentric protocols and eccentric-biased downhill running protocols are a longer recovery period (up to 24 h post-exercise for eccentric exercise) with a comparable 10-30% force loss immediately after exercise (Eston et al., 1996; Eston et al., 2000; Mizrahi et al., 2001). Longer recovery time and higher degrees of strength loss are associated with high-force eccentric exercise (Clarkson and Newham, 1995) that can often generate up to 50-65% loss of force-generating capacity (Newham et al., 1987; Nosaka et al., 1991; Saxton et al., 1995). Prolonged force loss in the days after eccentric exercise can typically last between 1 and 2 weeks (Armstrong, 1990; Lieber and Friden, 1993), as a result of the initial damage and additional damage during the regeneration process.

Mechanical muscle strain has been shown to be a principle causes of EIMD. Mechanical muscle strain is when a muscle is lengthened beyond 140% of its optimum length during eccentric contractions. This both decreases its force production capacity post exercise and increases subsequent muscle injury (Faulkner et al., 1993). Human studies have reported that greater produced force losses after the subject exercised with muscles initially set at a longer length (Child et al., 1998; Newham et al., 1988; Nosaka and Sakamoto, 2001; Saxton and Donnelly, 1996). These observations indicate that exercise at longer initial muscle lengths creates a larger amount of strain on muscle fibres. This should coincide with a linear deformation of sarcomeres within muscles that generate lower strength peak, which ultimately increases EIMD.

The mechanism by which force is lost after eccentric exercise is yet to be established. One theory, the popping-sarcomere hypothesis, states that sarcomeres lengthen in a non-uniform manner during lengthening contractions (Morgan and Allen, 1999). If the muscle is lengthened slowly, sarcomere length uniformly stretches with increasing tension. If instead, sudden tension or of high force is applied, a non-uniform stretching takes place in the sarcomere resulting in excess stretching, generating cellular damage. The proposition: that when a muscle is lengthened, weak sarcomeres stretch to such a length that they are supported purely by passive elements; colloquially 'popped' (Morgan and Allen, 1999).

2.8.3. Indirect methods of muscle damage assessment

It has been often reported that the appearance of muscle proteins in the bloodstream following eccentric exercise provides an indirect indication of muscle damage. Assessments have been performed on the following muscle enzymes: lactate dehydrogenase, aspartate aminotransferase, carbonic anhydrase isoenzyme II, and creatine kinase (CK) (Sorichter et al., 1999). While all of these are now known to increase after damage-inducing exercise, CK has received the most attention. This is probably since it exhibits a high magnitude increase and the assay is relatively inexpensive. To date there has not been a systematic study of all of these markers in

combination. Another drawback is that the two types of exercise predominantly used in muscle damage studies (downhill running and high force muscular contractions) show different CK responses. It is problematic to use any of these muscle proteins from blood samples as muscle damage markers because blood concentration is a function of two individual processes: what the muscle produces, and what is cleared from the blood. Concentric exercise performed over several days after an eccentric exercise can result in increased levels of CK in the blood, but no evidence of damage has been found using direct measures. Therefore, it has been suggested that the increased CK levels was released from damaged muscle due a massaging action (Sorichter et al., 1995). However, exercising lightly in the days after a bout of high-force eccentric exercise resulted in lower increases in serum CK activity than performance of the eccentric exercise alone (Saxton and Donnelly, 1995). This effect could be due to a decrease in release from damaged muscle, but also faster clearance of CK from the blood.

A second bout of eccentric exercise resulted in a lower CK increase; probably because blood CK levels were elevated from previous exercise and this had already activated clearance (Nosaka and Clarkson, 1994). CK is released by the muscle, enters the lymphatic system and finally is diffused into the blood stream (Havas et al., 1997; Sayers et al., 2000). One of the major drawbacks when using CK as a muscle damage marker is related to broad range of inter-subject response variability (236 to 25,244 UI/ Litre (Nosaka and Clarkson, 1996). MRI assessments show that individuals with the highest blood CK activity have generally undergone the greatest damage, but this relationship is not perfect. The great variability in CK response to exercise is not understood the roles of gender, muscle mass or subject activity level are not fully understood. The source of this variability remains to be determined (Gunst et al., 1998). The same study showed that serum CK activity might be related to serum glutathione activity, which ought to act as a CK preserving agent when in the circulation (Gunst et al., 1998). To summarise, blood CK activity clearly provides an indirect qualitative

marker of muscle damage and that it may be influenced by several factors besides exercise-induced muscle damage.

2.8.4. Muscle soreness as a marker of muscle damage

Muscle soreness peaks 24-48 hours after the performance of the damage-inducing exercise bout (Clarkson et al., 1992; Ebbeling and Clarkson, 1989; Newham et al., 1983). The degree of soreness differs with mode and intensity of the exercise. The assessment of the amount of muscle damage is by a scale of 1 (no soreness) to 10 (very sore) and this correlates well with the increases in blood CK activity and force loss (Baird at el., 2012).

Different exercise protocols have different degrees of soreness, but they are similar in time-course (Clarkson et al., 2002). Muscle soreness could be the result of swelling and augmented pressure in the muscle where, as consequence of the damage, muscle area increases proportionally (Friden et al., 1988). The larger the damage/area, the longer it takes for the tissue fluid pressure to return to normal. It is possible that swelling in the muscle fibres activates free nerve ending in muscles, contributing to the sensation of soreness (Shellock et al., 1991). In addition, through the synthesis and release of inflammatory mediators and interactions with neurotransmitters and their receptors, the immune cells, glia and neurons form an integrated network that coordinates immune responses and modulates the excitability of pain pathways (Ke Ren et al., 2010). The immune system also reduces sensitization by producing immune-derived analgesic and anti-inflammatory or pro resolution agents (Ke Ren et al., 2010).

Chemicals (e.g. prostaglandins) are also implicated in producing the sensation of soreness (Ricciotti et al., 2012). Indeed, they activate Type III and Type IV nerve afferents, which send pain signals to the central nervous system (Buckworth et al., 2013). There is evidence that the presence of chemical mediators is reflected by the time-course of soreness, but the physical stimulus for the sensation of pain should be given by the increased pressure (Howell et al., 1993).

Muscle damage is caused more by eccentric contractions than by concentric contractions due the mechanical strain from extreme muscle fibre lengthening (Teague and Schwane, 1995). Eccentric contractions increase tension and a higher load is distributed across the same number of fibres (Enoka, 1996). This results in a higher ratio of load to fibre (Howell, 1995). However, since soreness peaks 24-48 hours after exercise and swelling is greatest several days after exercise, this suggests that damage is somehow exacerbated in the days following exercise. The inflammation after the initial insult is the most probable cause for continued damage and might contribute to the regeneration process. Enoka showed that reperfusion injury increases CK plasma activity and a biopsy showed histologic changes similar to those found after exercise-induced damage (Enoka, 1996). Reperfusion injury was due to restricted blood flow and then an increase in blood flow. It has been suggested that muscle damage associated with reperfusion injury might stem from capillary damage (Jones and Round, 1997).

Scientists have proposed that mechanical insult to muscle from eccentric contractions would most likely result in damage to the capillary endothelium. This is based on the similarities between reperfusion damage and exercise-induced muscle damage. Consequently, these burst capillaries could contribute to edema and compromised blood flow, causing further fibre damage (Jones and Round, 1997). Importantly, inflammation after muscle damage clears debris from the injury site to prepare for regeneration (MacIntyre et al., 1995). This is thought to be triggered by the initial mechanical insult and it is characterized by an infiltration of fluid and plasma proteins into the injured tissue and increased inflammatory cell populations (MacIntyre et al., 1995; Pedersen and Toft, 2000; Smith, 1991). This inflammatory cell increase is thought to amplify initial muscle injury by increased production of reactive oxygen species and an activation of phospholipases and proteases in injured tissue (MacIntyre et al., 1995). The development and duration of the inflammation can vary due to several factors, such as mode, intensity and duration of exercise (Brentano and Kruel, 2011; MacIntyre et al., 1995; Pedersen and Toft, 2000; Smith, 1991).
2.8.5. The repeated bout effect (Chapter 6)

A single bout of muscle-damaging eccentric produces an adaptation following there less damage is reported when the exercise bout is repeated after a week, or even up to 6 months following the initial damage (Clarkson et al., 1992; McHugh et al., 1999). Significantly, CK activity is dramatically increased after the first bout but the second bout results in virtually no change (Balnave and Thompson, 1993; Clarkson and Tremblay, 1988). When the second bout of muscle-damaging exercise occurred 2 to 6 days after the first bout, recovery time from the first bout did not differ and this did not result in a recovery setback (Nosaka and Clarkson, 1995; Paddon-Jones et al., 2000).

The process behind the repeated bout effect is not understood. One can assume that the first bout of damage produces an adaptation i.e. the muscle is less vulnerable to subsequent exercise damage (Clarkson and Tremblay, 1988). Moreover, this did not depend on the degree of damage in the first bout, which might suggest neural factor involvement (Kuhl et al., 2010). One plausible explanation is greater recruitment pattern efficiency during the second bout (Golden and Dudley, 1992; Nosaka and Clarkson, 1995). For example, it was suggested that soreness was caused by muscle fibre rupture due to discrepancies in stimulating neurons activation (Hough, 1902; Hortobagyi et al., 1998). Other reached the conclusion that neural factors were at least partly involved in the adaptation process. The limitations of neural factor models came originated in animal models where the repeated bout effect was found in electrically-stimulated muscular contractions, but fibre recruitment was not found to be different (McHugh et al., 1999). Armstrong (1990) first suggested that muscle damage observed after eccentric exercise could stem from irreversible damage to stress-susceptible fibres. One study (Foley et al., 1999) may be taken to mean that the repeated bout effect is due to fragile fibre loss during the first bout of exercise. These findings suggest that stress-susceptible fibres develop over time quite naturally and are susceptible to eccentric exercise strain when they are irreversibly damaged or lost. When an exercise is repeated there follows further fibre damage, and these fibres would also be lost. If this continued a significant decline

in muscle mass would occur, which seems implausible. A contrary explanation is that damaged fragile fibres are repaired over time and that these repaired fibres are enhanced and less susceptible to damage. Evidence, suggests a 6 months development period for fragile fibre areas due to muscle disuse (Clarkson et al., 2002).

Immune responses to exercise-induced muscle damage are, it has been argued, diminished after repeated bouts of exercise. Evidence has shown decreases in the number of circulating neutrophils and lower levels of neutrophil and monocyte activation 3 weeks after the first bout of exercise (Pizza et al., 1996). Neutrophils and monocytes, it has been suggested, induce more damage as they enter the fibre, therefore, their lessened activity could result in less damage sustained. Cytokines (e.g., IL-6) are released, it is believed, from exercise-damaged muscle due to acute inflammation. Plasma IL-6 increases were shown to show similar patterns following each bout of eccentric exercise (Croisier et al., 1999). It has therefore been argued that IL-6 is either not related to acute inflammation or that inflammation is not reduced by the repeated bout effect (Margaritelis et al., 2015).

Animal studies show that the first bout of eccentric exercise could promote increased sarcomeres (Lynn and Morgan, 1994). Meanwhile human studies have shown sarcomere length may correlate to muscle injury (Clarkson et al., 2002). It has been further suggested that eccentric exercise produces an altered optimal angle for force production and that it was significantly greater in the leg that had been trained. This resulted in an increased muscle damage susceptibility (Whitehead et al., 1998). That in turn would suggest that concentric training reduces sarcomeres and leads to increased eccentric exercise-induced damage vulnerability. This evidence suggests that increasing sarcomeres may protect against injury (Ploutz-Snyder et al., 1998), which has particular implications for the repeated bout effect, and how it is taken under consideration in training plans.

2.9. Thesis objectives

In conclusion, the aim in the present thesis was to assess the effect of mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure on relevant measures of immune function in healthy humans. As cold exposure is known to activate the SNS and HPA axes that have immunosuppressive effects, we hypothesised that mild hypothermia would impair immune function, as assessed by neutrophil degranulation, and whole-blood culture cytokine release (IFN-γ and IL4).

In addition, it is of interest to investigate if prior EIMD increases heat strain during exercise-heat-stress conducted after muscle damage thus supporting the work of Montain et al. (2000). They showed that performing eccentric exercise might be an additional and novel risk factor for EHI due to the increased heat strain while exercising in the heat. Limitation of this study was to show a very small increase in core body temperature (0.2-0.3 °C) during exercise heat stress after muscle injury compared with control at 2 h and 7 h after injury. Evidently, it is of interest to investigate, and adopt actions that may reduce the risk of EHI. It is logical that a reduction of the degree of muscle damage experienced will also lessen the amount of heat strain met. One coherent, but unexplored pathway of research is the well-known repeated bout effect of muscle-damaging exercise.

As stated above, there are numerous factors that could influence the immune response to exercise and extreme environments.

With this in mind, the broad objectives of the following experiments were to investigate the influence of:

1. Mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure on measures of immune function in healthy humans.

2. Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage (EIMD) upon heat strain during subsequent exercise in heat.

3. If the repeated-bout effect of EIMD lower the increase in rectal temperature ($T_{\rm re}$) experienced during subsequent endurance exercise under determined heat conditions.

CHAPTER THREE

General Methods

3.1. Ethical approval

Approval for all studies was obtained from the local Ethics Committee (School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences, Bangor University, Bangor).

The nature and purpose of each study was fully explained verbally and in writing to each volunteer (**Appendix A**). Each participant was made fully aware that they were free to withdraw from the study at any time and completed an informed consent form (**Appendix B**). To further confirm that participants were free from upper-respiratory tract infections, on each of the 14 days preceding both main trials, participants completed an illness-specific questionnaire (WURSS-44) (Barnett et al., 2002).

Following personal meetings we could confirm that all participants were non-heat or cold acclimated, nor accustomed to downhill running or regular eccentric exercise. In addition, participants were non-smokers and free from any known immune, cardiovascular, or metabolic diseases and not taking any medication (e.g., anti-inflammatories). Participants were also asked to refrain from exercise 72 h before and from alcohol and caffeine 24 h before all exercise bouts. Prior to every trial, participants were provided fluids to consume (40 mL·kg⁻¹·NBM·d⁻¹) in the prior 24-hour period to ensure they began exercise bouts euhydrated.

3.2. Anthropometry

Prior to commencement of the first experimental trial, height was recorded using a wall stadio-meter (Bodycare Ltd, Warwickshire, UK) and Nude Body Mass (NBM) by digital platform scales accurate to the nearest 50 g (Model 705, Seca, Hamburg, Germany). To monitor NBM changes during exercise-induced dehydration (**Chapter 4**) or cold exposure participants removed clothing and were towel dried prior to being weighed.

3.3. Maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max})

For the determination of VO_{2max} and trial workloads, participants performed a continuous incremental exercise test to volitional exhaustion on a treadmill (**Chapters 5, 6**), (HP Cosmos Mercury 4.0, Nussdorf-Traunstein, Germany).

Treadmill tests: on completion of a 5 min warm-up period at 9 km·h⁻¹ participants began running at 10 km·h⁻¹ at a 1.0% gradient with 2 km·h-1 increments every 3 min until 14 km·h-1 was reached, after which the gradient was increased by 2.5% every 3 min increment until fatigue. During all VO_{2max} tests expired gas was analysed continuously using an on-line breath-by-breath system (Cortex Metalyser 3B, Biophysik, Leipzig, Germany) to determine the volumes of expired gas, oxygen and carbon dioxide. Criteria for attaining VO_{2max} included the participant reaching volitional exhaustion, a HR within 10 beats·min⁻¹ of age predicted HR max and a respiratory exchange ratio greater than or equal to 1.15 (Bird and Davison, 1997).

3.4. Blood collection, handling and analysis

Prior to commencement of every experimental trial, participants' fasted condition was verified by a finger-prick blood sample analysed for glucose and ensuring that the reading was $<6 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{dl}^{-1}$ (ACCU-CHECK Aviva, Roche, Basel, Switzerland).

During experimental trials (**Chapters 4, 5** and **6**), blood samples were collected, without venestasis, by venepuncture from an antecubital vein, into separate vacutainers tubes (Becton Dickinson, Oxford, UK), containing the anticoagulants ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and lithium heparin. Part of the blood collected was then immediately used to determine haematocrit. Haematocrit (heparinised blood) was determined in triplicate using the capillary method in accordance with Watson and Maughan (2014), and plasma volume changes were estimated (Dill and Costill, 1974). Blood in the EDTA tube and blood in the lithium heparin tube was immediately

centrifuged (1500 g for 10 min at 5 °C: Hettich Rotina 35R, Bach, Germany), the plasma was aspirated and stored at -80 °C for further analysis.

3.5. Urine collection, handling and analysis

During experimental trials (**Chapters 4, 5** and **6**), all urine passed was collected into 2 L plastic containers. A 3 mL sample of each urine sample at collection times was aspirated into two eppendorfs and frozen at -80°C for further analysis.

Euhydration was verified by checking that urine-specific gravity (Atago Uricon-Ne refractometer, Atago Co., Ltd. Tokyo, Japan.) upon arrival at the laboratory was less than 1.028 (Armstrong et al., 2010). Urine colour was determined by a urine colour scale (Armstrong et al., 1994).

3.6. Body temperatures

Rectal core temperature was assessed using a standard flexible, sterile, disposable thermistor (Henleys Medical Supplies Ltd, Herts, UK) inserted 12 cm beyond the anal sphincter, with temperature recorded using a data logger (YSI model 4000A, YSI, Dayton, USA) (**Chapters 4, 5** and **6**). In both repeated trials, participants used the same thermistor which was sterilized after every trial. For skin temperature measurements (T_{sk}), insulated thermistors (Grant EUS-U, Cambridge, UK) were attached to the skin via surgical tape which conducted heat and allowed evaporation (Hypafix, BSN medical GmbH, Hamburg, Germany). The amount of tape used to attach the thermistors was standardised both between and within participants. Temperature data collected were registered using a portable data logger (Grant SQ2020, Cambridge, UK), then mean T_{sk} was calculated using a weighted equation (Ramanathan, 1964).

3.7. Statistical Analysis

Prior to commencement of each study, a sample size calculation was performed (G*Power, 3.1.9.2) using mean and SD data from previous studies (Costa et al., 2011; Montain et al., 2000; Fortes et al., 2013). For a two-tailed test with alpha level set at 0.05, and power set at 0.8.

All data were checked for normality and sphericity and analyzed using either paired ttests or fully repeated-measures ANOVA with the Greenhouse–Geisser correction applied to the degrees of freedom if necessary. All F values reported are for the time – trial interaction unless otherwise stated. Tukey's HSD or Bonferroni-adjusted paired t-test post hoc procedures were used to determine withinsubject differences where appropriate. All data were analyzed using SPSS version 14 software (IBM, NY) and Prism 6 (GraphPad Software Inc, La Jolla, CA, USA). Data are reported as mean (SD).

Statistical significance was accepted as P < 0.05.

CHAPTER FOUR

Influence of mild hypothermia and cold exposure on immune function as assessed by neutrophil degranulation and antigenstimulated cytokine production in whole blood culture

4.1. Abstract

The aim was to assess the effect of mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure on relevant measures of immune function in healthy humans. As cold exposure is known to activate the SNS and HPA axes that have immunosuppressive effects, we hypothesised that mild hypothermia would impair immune function, as assessed by neutrophil degranulation, and whole-blood culture cytokine release (IFN-y and IL4). In random order, nineteen men completed a thermal-neutral control trial and a cold trial. During the cold trial they were immersed in 13 °C water until rectal core temperature reached 36 °C. Afterwards they completed a seated and semi-nude cold air exposure (0 °C) for up to 3 hours or until rectal core temperature reached 35 °C. Rectal core temperature was lowest (21 (31) (mean (SD)) minutes into the cold air exposure (35.17 (0.33) °C). Immediately after the lowest rectal core temperature total leukocytes were increased (30% P < 0.001), neutrophil degranulation and IL4 were unchanged, and IFN- γ production was decreased (44%, P = 0.04). In the fifteen participants that completed the 3-hour cold-air exposure, and were not removed from the chamber due to a decrease in rectal core temperature below 35 °C, immune function was similarly altered immediately afterwards. Despite rewarming and feeding, leukocytes (+30% P < 0.001) and IFN-y production after cold-air exposure did not return to control values within the 3-hour recovery period. This is the first study that reports that other stressors than exercise (e.g. cold) might affect interferon production even after recovery from hypothermic state. In conclusion, this study shows that mild hypothermia causes immune suppression in healthy young men that might, at least in part, explain the increased incidence of upper-respiratory infection reported after cold exposure. Further research is required to elucidate if the decrease in immune function observed is due to a lower core body temperature or to the metabolic responses to the adverse environment.

4.2. Introduction

Cold exposure and mild hypothermia are commonplace in many active and clinical populations (e.g. military personnel, open-water swimmers, patients undergoing Popular belief is that cold exposure increases susceptibility to infection, surgery). however, evidence to support a link between cold exposure and increased incidence of infection is not well defined in humans (Castellani and Rhind, 2002). Indeed, early research using viral inoculation before, or immediately after, cold exposure showed no increase in the frequency of colds in the six days after cold exposure (Dowling et al., 1958). A recent study of 892 Finnish military conscripts indicates that URTI, including the common cold, were preceded by three days of declining ambient temperature and humidity (Makinen et al., 2009). More compelling evidence indicates that patients who become cold during surgery suffer greater surgical wound infection post operation (Kurz et al., 1996). Further, URTI symptoms were more than doubled in the 4-5 days after people that had their feet immersed in cold water for 20 minutes compared with nonchilled controls (Johnson and Eccles, 2005). Whether the increased infection in these studies is related to a cold-induced suppression of immune function is not clear from these studies. Cold exposure responses, including peripheral vasoconstriction and shivering thermogenesis, are initiated by the SNS and HPA axis that are also potent modulators of the immune system (Costa et al., 2010). Therefore, it is plausible that cold exposure may lead to impaired immune function because of increases in stress hormones (cortisol and catecholamines) released by the SNS and HPA axis during thermoregulatory responses.

The few human studies to investigate the effect of cold exposure on immune function report conflicting information that is dependent on the degree of hypothermia, the health of the individual, and the immune parameter studied. A very mild decrease in core temperature (<0.5 °C) has no effect, or may even be immune-stimulatory, increasing circulating leukocytes and natural killer cell activity (Lackovic et al., 1988; Brenner et al.,

1999). In contrast, lymphocyte and neutrophil function are reduced when core temperature has been decreased by more than 1°C (Wenisch et al., 1996; Costa et al., 2010; Beilin et al., 1998). Collectively, these studies suggest lowering core temperature (e.g. core temperature decrease > 1 °C) can disrupt circulating immune function, which may partly explain the increased URTI reported after cold exposure. Limitations of previous research is that they included patients undergoing surgery, which have questionable relevance to healthy persons, as surgery, anaesthesia and existing comorbidity have independent effects on inflammation and immune responses (Wenisch et al., 1996; Beilin et al., 1998). Moreover, the study with healthy participants did not include a thermoneutral control trial and therefore it is unclear whether diurnal variation is responsible for the altered immune function reported. Thus, it remains to be shown in healthy humans whether immune function is impaired when core temperature is reduced (e.g. core temperature decrease of 1-2 °C).

In consequence, the purpose of this investigation was to determine, in healthy humans, the effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia (rectal core temperature ~35 °C) on immune function. This was achieved by immersing participants in cold water until rectal core temperature reached 36 °C after which they were exposed to cold air for up to 3 hours.

Water immersion was chosen as water has many physical characteristics that differentiate it from air. It is reported that water has a thermal conductivity of 630.5 mW/m² per °K, whereas for air it is 26.2 mW/m² per °K. This 24-fold greater capacity for thermal conductivity translates into a much greater capacity of heat transfer (Casa et al., 2007) Generally, the immersed body portion is nearly 100% in direct contact with water that surrounds it, therefore the conductive potential is far superior to air. This results in volume-specific heat capacity of water nearly 3500 times greater than that of air (Toner et al., 1996; Golden et al., 2002). Thus, a person cools four times faster in water than in air of the same temperature. Also, a water temperature of 13 °C during experimental trials was chosen to reflect typical water average temperatures in British

Isles during summer (Tipton et al., 1989). In addition, 3-hours air cold exposure was previously choosen to reflect the average time to rescue in practical context (MacGregor, 1988; Grant et al., 2002). Indeed, even if the time for rescues varies greatly depending on weather conditions and location of the casualty it has been reported that the time taken for rescues is likely to be at least 2.25 hours, and non-helicopter evacuations could be in the region of 3.5 hours (MacGregor, 1988; Grant et al., 2002). To control for time of day, results of immune function were obtained serially during a cold exposure trial and were compared to measures collected at the same time of day on a thermoneutral control trial. Immune function was assessed by neutrophil function, and antigen-stimulated IFN-y and IL4 cytokine production, measures are considered relevant as they are part of the innate immune system and therefore the 'first line of defence' against pathogens, and thus disruption by cold exposure of any of these parameters could lead to increased URTI. Indeed, decreases in neutrophil function, and dysregulation of interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) production, a cytokine that has important anti-viral and immunomodulatory roles, is associated with increased infection in illness prone athletes compared with healthy counterparts (Clancy et al., 2006; Fox et al., 2003; Gleeson et al., 2012; Yang and Gordon, 2002; Fahlman and Engels, 2005). As cold exposure is known to activate the sympathetic nervous system and HPA axis, we hypothesised that cold exposure leading to mild hypothermia would impair immune function.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Participants

Nineteen healthy, recreationally active males volunteered to participate in the study (mean (SD): age 20.7 (2.2) years, height 178 (7) cm, nude body mass 68.7 (6.2) kg, body fat 11 (4) %). Participants gave written informed consent before the study, which received local ethics committee approval. Participants were free from medication or supplements and had not reported an infection on the daily health questionnaire in the two weeks before the first experimental trial (Barrett et al. 2005).

4.3.2. Preliminary testing

To ensure habituation to the laboratory, cold-water immersion and blood collections, participants visited the laboratory before their first experimental trial and performed each procedure. For the 24 hours before the first trial participants recorded their food intake. They were asked to repeat the same diet before each trial. The day before each trial participants consumed water equal to 35 ml·kg⁻¹ of body mass throughout the day (Oliver et al., 2007). Participants were also asked to abstain from strenuous exercise and alcohol during this 24-hour period.

4.3.3. Experimental trials

In random order separated by one week participants completed a control trial and a cold trial. Participants awoke at 07:00 hours after an overnight fast and were transported to the laboratory. On arrival participants were requested to empty their bladder and bowels and a urine sample was collected to determine hydration status from the measurement of urine specific gravity (Atago Uricon-Ne, NSG Precision cells, New York, USA). After voiding, anthropometric measures of height and body mass were obtained. To measure rectal core temperature participants inserted a thermocouple 12 cm beyond the external anal sphincter (Grant REC soft insertion probe thermocouple; Grant 2020 Squirrel data logger, Shepreth, UK). Energy expenditure and metabolic heat production were

determined indirectly by analysis of expired gasses (Feurer and Mullen, 1986; ISO 8996, 1989).

Participants began each trial at 08:00 hours resting and clothed on a steel framed plastic laboratory chair in a 20.2 ± 1.7 °C environment. After 30-minutes of being seated, baseline blood samples were collected (08:30 hours). On the cold trial, whilst wearing swimming shorts only, participants were immersed up to the axilla in 13.0 (0.1) °C stirred water until rectal core temperature reached 36 °C. Once removed from the water participants were lightly towel dried and dressed in dry shorts, socks and gloves before entering an environmental chamber at approximately 09:00 hours. (0°C, 40% relative humidity and 0.2 m·s⁻¹ wind velocity, Delta Environmental Systems, Chester, UK). During the cold-air exposure participants remained seated on a steel framed plastic laboratory chair in a polythene survival bag for 3 hours or until rectal core temperature reached 35 °C. Once seated, at 1 and 2 hours participants consumed water equal to 6 ml·kg⁻¹ body mass (412 (37) ml each serving (total 1236 (117) ml). The water was flavoured but had negligible nutritional value and was served at 36 °C in an insulated mug. 60-s expired gas samples were collected by Douglas bag method every 10 minutes and analysed for VO₂, VCO₂ and VE. No food was consumed during the cold air exposure. After the cold air exposure participants were immersed up to the axilla in 40 °C water until rectal core temperature reached 36 °C or for up to 1 hour. After participants were towelled dry, 1-hour recovery blood samples were obtained (~13:00 hours) and participants consumed a meal (5146 kJ; carbohydrate 58%, fat 28%; protein 14%). After a further 2 hours of seated rest, final blood samples were obtained (~15:00 hours). On the control trial, participants remained seated in the thermoneutral environment $(20.2 \pm 1.7 \text{ °C})$ and were asked to add and remove clothes to maintain thermal comfort (Hollies and Goldman, 1977). Participants consumed identical fluid and food as on the cold trial. An overview of the study design is depicted in **Figure 6**.



Fig. 6. Schematic of experimental procedures. Participants were removed from the environmental chamber if their rectal core temperature reached 35 °C. Participants were left in the Warm Bath until their rectal core temperature reached 36 °C or up to 1 hour. COLD, Cold trial; CON, thermo-neutral control trial; RH, relative humidity.

4.3.4. Sample collection and analytical methods

For both trials blood samples were collected at 08:30 hours (baseline), ~12:00 hours (immediately after the cold air exposure), ~13:00 hours (1 hour after the cold air exposure) and ~15:00 hours (3 hours after the cold exposure). On the cold trial only an additional blood sample was collected immediately after the lowest rectal temperature was recorded (~09:30 hours). Samples were obtained at 12:00, 13:00 and 15:00 hours after a baseline sample at 08:30 hours. These times of day were determined from average cold-water immersion times of pilot investigations.

4.3.5. Blood collection and analysis

Blood samples were collected, by venepuncture from an antecubital vein, into two K₃EDTA and two lithium heparin vacutainer tubes (Becton Dickenson, Oxford, UK). Haematocrit was determined by capillary method in triplicate using lithium heparin blood and a micro-haematocrit reader (Hawksley & Sons Ltd., Lancing, UK). One K₃EDTA vacutainer tube was placed on a roller and stored at room temperature before haematological analysis that included haemoglobin concentration, total and differential leukocyte counts (Gen-S, Beckman Coulter, High Wycombe, UK). All blood-borne parameters were corrected for changes in plasma volume, which was calculated from haematocrit and haemoglobin (Dill and Costill, 1974).

4.3.6. Antigen stimulated whole blood culture IFN-γ and IL-4 production

Stimulated whole blood culture production of IFN- γ and IL-4 was determined as previously described (Gleeson et al., 2011). Within 10 minutes of collection, and after mixing, 0.25 mL of lithium heparin whole blood was added into a culture well with 0.75 mL of medium (RPMI 1640, Sigma, Poole, UK) and 0.25 µL of vaccine stimulant (Pediacel Vaccine, Sanofi Pasteur, UK). The stimulant was a multi-antigen vaccine that contained diphtheria, tetanus, acellular pertussis, poliomyelitis and Haemophilus influenzae type b antigens, which was diluted in RPMI medium to a final concentration of 1:100. The culture well was then placed for 24 hours in an incubator (5% CO₂, 37 °C). After centrifugation at 5000 g for 4 minutes, supernatants were collected and stored frozen at -80 °C. After thawing ELISA was used to determine the cytokines IFN- γ (Cat. No. ab46045, Cambridge, United Kingdom) and IL-4 (Cat. No. ab46058 Abcam). Values that were below the detectable range on the normal sensitivity ELISA were re-assayed using high sensitivity ELISA (Cat. No. ab46063 (IFN- γ) and ab46050 (IL4), Abcam). The intra-assay coefficient of variation for IFN- γ and IL-4 concentration was 3.4 and 6.6% respectively.

4.3.7. Bacterially stimulated neutrophil degranulation

Neutrophil degranulation was determined as previously described (Laing et al., 2008). Briefly, 1 mL of lithium heparin blood was added to a micro-centrifuge tube containing 50 µL of bacterial stimulant solution (Sigma, Poole, UK). After a gentle vortex mix, this was incubated in a water bath at 37 °C for 1 hour. Samples were then centrifuged at 5000 g for 2 minutes, and the supernatant was immediately aspirated into an eppendorf and stored at -80 °C for further analysis. Plasma elastase concentration, a marker of neutrophil degranulation, was measured in unstimulated and bacterially stimulated lithium heparin plasma by ELISA (Cat No. RM191021100 Biovendor, Heidelberg, Germany). The intra-assay coefficient of variation for elastase concentration was 2.8%.

The remaining blood from lithium heparin and K₃EDTA samples was centrifuged at 1500 g for 10 minutes at 4 °C within 15 minutes of sample collection. The plasma was aspirated into eppendorfs and stored for further analysis. ELISA was used to determine cortisol concentration from lithium heparin plasma (Cat No. EIA1887, DRG Diagnostics, Marburg, Germany) and adrenaline and noradrenaline from K₃EDTA plasma (Cat No. RE59242, IBL international, Hamburg, Germany). The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 1.9, 12.2, 16.2% for plasma cortisol, adrenaline and noradrenaline, respectively.

4.3.8. Statistical analysis

The required sample size for the main outcome measures (bacterially stimulated elastase release per neutrophil) was estimated to be between six and fourteen (G*Power, Version 3.1.2) using standard alpha (0.05) and beta (0.8) levels, and means and standard deviations from previous investigations in our laboratory that have examined the effect of cold exposure on immune function (Costa et al., 2011). All data analysis was completed using Prism 6 (GraphPad Software Inc, La Jolla, CA, USA). Data are reported as mean (SD). Paired t-tests were used to compare cold trial and control trial participant body mass, fat percentage, hydration status (urine specific gravity), rectal core temperature, energy expenditure and metabolic heat production. To determine the

effect of mild hypothermia on immune function each blood parameter obtained immediately after the lowest rectal core temperature was compared by paired t-test to the control trial sample collected at the nearest time of day (08:30 hours for bloods). To determine the effect of prolonged cold exposure and recovery from cold exposure, a fully-within groups factorial ANOVA was used to compare each immune parameter (two trials – Control and Cold x four to six measurements for time dependent on analysis of blood or saliva). Where data violated the assumption of normality it was log-transformed before completing the ANOVA. For post-hoc analysis of the fully-within groups factorial ANOVA we used Holm-Sidak-tests. Significance was accepted as P < 0.05. In addition to traditional hypothesis testing a standardised difference (Cohen's *d* effect size) was calculated for each outcome measure to compare cold and control immune parameters at individual time points. In these calculations the numerator was the mean difference between trials. The denominator was the control standard deviation. Effect sizes were interpreted as ≥ 0.2 small, ≥ 0.5 moderate and ≥ 0.8 large (Cohen, 1988).

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Pre trial body composition and hydration status

Before each experimental trial, body mass and hydration status, as assessed by urine specific gravity, were similar (Body mass, Cold 68.65 (6.43) kg, Control 68.73 (6.23) kg, P = 0.73; Body fat, Cold 10.9 (3.7) %, Control 11.4 (3.7) %, P = 0.10; Urine specific gravity, Cold 1.022 (0.005) g·mL⁻¹, Control 1.022 (0.004) g·mL⁻¹, P = 0.81).

4.4.2. Experimental trial thermoregulatory and plasma volume responses

Rectal core temperature and metabolic heat production were similar during the thermoneutral rest at the beginning of each trial (rectal core temperature, Cold 36.80 (0.29) °C, Control 36.78 (0.24) °C, P = 0.55; metabolic heat production, Cold 48 (11) W·m², Control 47 (12) W·m²; P = 0.66). Immersing participants in cold water increased metabolic heat production (Cold 165 (58) W·m², Control 45 (13) W·m², P < 0.001) and reduced rectal core temperature to 36°C in 29 (14) minutes (**Figure 7.**).



Fig. 7. Rectal core temperature during a cold exposure trial and thermoneutral control trial. Interaction post hoc statistics indicate a difference between trials at the time of day compared, § P < 0.05, §§ P < 0.01. Note the cold stress only occurred during the cold trial.

Rectal core temperature was lowest 21 (31) minutes into the cold air exposure (35.17 (0.33) °C, which was lower than control trial rectal core temperature at this time (36.66 (0.28) °C, P < 0.001). Rectal core temperature then rose slowly during the cold trial (cold air exposure 60 min 35.98 (0.52) °C, 120 min 36.06 (0.50) °C, 180 min 36.23 (0.41) °C). However, at 180 minutes it was still lower than in the control trial (36.55 (0.25) °C, P = 0.01). During the cold air exposure, metabolic heat production declined (60 min 120 (37) W·m², 120 min 104 (36) W·m², 180 min 100 (40) W·m²). However, at 180 minutes it was still greater than in the control trial (60 (23) W·m², P = 0.04). Consequently the energy expenditure during the cold stress was 180% greater during

the cold trial than during the control trial (Cold 2692 (1111) kJ, Control 966 (442) kJ, P < 0.001).

Immediately after the lowest rectal core temperature, plasma volume was reduced by 12 (5) % (P = 0.53). Immediately after the cold exposure plasma volume continued to be lower in the cold trial relative to the control trial (Cold -10 (5) %, Control -2 (5) %: Interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 8.5$, P < 0.001). Plasma volume returned to within control values by 1 hour after cold exposure (Cold -4 (5) %, Control -1 (4) %).

4.4.3. Mild hypothermia, immune function and neurotransmitters

Table 1 shows that mild hypothermia caused immune modulations that included increases in circulating leukocytes (30%), decreases in antigen-stimulated IFN-γ production (44%), and no change in Neutrophil degranulation (bacterially stimulated elastase release per neutrophil), plasma elastase concentration and antigen-stimulated IL4. Additionally, Mild hypothermia increased plasma cortisol (39%), adrenaline (150%) and noradrenaline (357%).

| | Number | Control | Mild hypothermia | Absolute difference (90% confidence intervals) | Effect size | P value |
|---|--------|-------------|------------------|--|-------------------|---------|
| Leukocytes (x10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 5.25 (0.93) | 6.82 (1.81) | 1.57 (0.90 to 2.23) | 1.7 (large) | <0.001 |
| Lymphocytes (x10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 1.70 (0.42) | 2.07 (0.60) | 0.37 (0.16 to 0.59) | 0.9 (large) | 0.008 |
| Monocytes (x10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 0.48 (0.13) | 0.64 (0.19) | 0.17 (0.10 to 0.24) | 1.2 (large) | <0.001 |
| Neutrophils (x10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 2.69 (0.74) | 3.83 (1.43) | 1.13 (0.59 to 1.67) | 1.5 (large) | 0.002 |
| Bacterially stimulated elastase release per neutrophil (fg·cell ⁻¹) | 17 | 591 (133) | 566 (216) | -25 (-117 to 67) | -0.2 (small) | 0.65 |
| Antigen stimulated IFN- γ (pg·mL ⁻¹) | 12 | 27 (30) | 15 (14) | -12 (-22 to -3) | -0.4 (small) | 0.04 |
| Antigen stimulated IL-4 (pg·mL ⁻¹) | 10 | 1.0 (1.0) | 0.9 (0.7) | -0.1 (-0.4 to 0.2) | -0.1 (trivial) | 0.46 |
| Plasma elastase (ng∙mL ⁻¹) | 17 | 42 (14) | 49 (24) | 7 (-1 to 15) | 0.5 (moderate) | 0.14 |
| Plasma cortisol (nmol·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 358 (99) | 498 (158) | 140 (78 to 203) | 1.4 (large) | 0.001 |
| Plasma adrenaline (nmol·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 0.4 (0.3) | 1.0 (0.5) | 0.6 (0.4 to 0.7) | 1.5 (large) | <0.001 |
| Plasma noradrenaline (nmol·L ⁻¹) | 18 | 2.3 (1.0) | 10.5 (5.1) | 8.2 (6.1 to 10.2) | 3.6 (large) | <0.001 |

Table 1. Mild hypothermia effect on blood immune and hormone responses for each blood parameter mean and (SD) is presented for the control (08:30 hours) and mild hypothermia ($T_{re} < 36$ °C). Absolute differences are presented as the mean difference of mild hypothermia minus control with 90% confidence intervals in brackets. Effect sizes are standardised differences (Cohen's *d*) with a qualitative description in brackets. Effect sizes were interpreted as ≥ 0.2 (small), ≥ 0.5 (moderate) and ≥ 0.8 (large) (Cohen, 1988). Abbreviations: IFN- γ , interferon-gamma, IL-4, interleukin-4.

4.4.4. Three-hour cold air exposure effects on circulating immune responses

Relative to baseline, circulating leukocytes were increased by 50% immediately after cold exposure and throughout recovery were higher than during the control trial (Interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 11.8$, P < 0.001: **Figure 8.A**). This was attributable to a 93% increase in neutrophils (Interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 14.7$, P < 0.001: **Figure 8.B**), which contrasted a smaller 13% decrease in lymphocytes (Interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 3.9$, P = 0.02: **Figure 8.C**). This decline in lymphocytes was in contrast to the initial increase reported during mild hypothermia (**Table 1**). Lymphocytes returned to within control values 3 hours after cold air exposure. Monocytes were not altered from control values after the 3 hour cold exposure (Interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 1.2$, P = 0.32), which differed from the initial increase observed with mild hypothermia (**Table 1**).



Fig. 8. Circulating leukocytes (A), neutrophils (B) and lymphocytes (C) during a cold exposure trial and thermoneutral control trial. Data are for the participants that completed the whole cold trial only (n = 14). Interaction post hoc statistics indicate a difference between trials at the time of day compared, §§ P < 0.01. Note the cold stress and warm bath only occurred on the cold trial.

Neutrophil function, as assessed by bacterially stimulated neutrophil degranulation, was increased at 13:00 from 08:30 hours (Main effect of time F = 9.4, P < 0.001). However, there was no difference between the trials (Interaction F = 1.8, P = 0.33; **Figure 9.**), which was consistent with observations during mild hypothermia (**Table 1**). Immediately after cold exposure, plasma elastase concentration was greater than in the control trial (Interaction F = 3.1, P = 0.04: **Table 2**).



Fig. 9. Neutrophil degranulation during a cold exposure trial and a thermoneutral control trial. Data are for the participants that completed the whole cold trial only (n = 13). Main effect of time (P < 0.01): Post hoc statistics: * indicates that 13:00 hours was greater than all other times of day (P < 0.01). Note the cold stress and warm bath only occurred on the cold trial.

Antigen-stimulated IFN- γ production decreased immediately after cold exposure, being 69% lower than for the control trial throughout recovery (Interaction $F_{(3,21)} = 2.9$, P = 0.06: **Table 2**). In contrast, antigen-stimulated IL-4 production was not altered by cold exposure (Interaction $F_{(3,27)} = 1.7$, P = 0.19: **Table 2**), which was consistent during mild hypothermia (**Table 1**).

| | 08:30 hours | 12:00 hours | 13:00 hours | 15:00 hours |
|---|----------------|-----------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| | Baseline | Post cold air | 1 h post cold air | 3 h post cold air |
| Antigen-stimulated IFN- γ (pg·mL ⁻¹) | | | | |
| Cold | 27 (23) | 10 (9)§§ | 9 (10)§ | 11 (10)§§ |
| Control | 34 (34) | 33 (37) | 26 (32) | 41 (45) |
| Effect size | -0.2 (small) | -0.6 (moderate) | -0.5 (moderate) | -0.7 (moderate) |
| Antigen-stimulated IL-4 (pg·mL ⁻¹) | | | | |
| Cold | 1.1 (0.9) | 0.7 (0.7) | 0.9 (0.7) | 0.9 (0.8) |
| Control | 1.0 (1.0) | 0.9 (0.9) | 1.1 (1.0) | 1.0 (1.0) |
| Effect size | <0.1 (trivial) | 0.2 (small) | 0.2 (small) | -0.1 (trivial) |
| Plasma Elastase (pg·mL⁻¹) | | | | |
| Cold | 582 (14) | 759 (39) | 798 (31) | 688 (31) |
| Control | 661 (24) | 577 (39) | 714 (30) | 721 (68) |

Table 2. Prolonged cold exposure effect on antigen-stimulated production interferon-gamma, plasma elastase and interleukin-four cytokines. Data are for the participants that completed the whole cold trial only (n = 8 for IFN- γ , plasma elastase and IL-4). Interaction post hoc statistics indicating a difference between trials at the time of day compared, § P < 0.05 and §§ P < 0.01. Effect sizes are standardised differences (Cohen's d) with a qualitative description in brackets. Effect sizes were interpreted as ≥ 0.2 (small), ≥ 0.5 (moderate) and ≥ 0.8 (large) (Cohen, 1988).

4.4.5. Three-hour cold air exposure effects on neurotransmitter

Plasma cortisol was greater during the cold trial than for the control trial (main effect of condition $F_{(1,13)} = 5.0$, P = 0.05, interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 3.2$, P = 0.03: **Table 3**). Differences were evident at baseline (**Table 3**: post hoc: P = 0.03, d = 0.8). However, differences between trials greatest at the lowest rectal core temperature (**Table 1**: P < 0.001, d = 1.4). Plasma cortisol returned to within control values during the cold trial after the cold exposure (**Table 3**). Plasma adrenaline and noradrenaline were greater in the cold than the control trial (adrenaline, main effect of condition $F_{(1,13)} = 5.0$, P = 0.04, interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 3.5$, P = 0.02; noradrenaline, main effect of condition $F_{(1,13)} = 63.5$, P < 0.001, Interaction $F_{(3,39)} = 26.4$, P < 0.001: **Table 3**). Differences were evident immediately after the cold exposure (**Table 3**: Post hoc: P < 0.01) and were similar to those at the lowest rectal core temperature (**Table 3**: Post hoc: P < 0.01) and were similar to those at the lowest rectal core temperature (**Table 1**, d < 0.8, large effect size). Plasma adrenaline returned to within control values by 1 hour after the cold exposure (**Table 3**). There was, however a trend for noradrenaline to remain elevated during recovery 1 hour after the cold exposure (P = 0.09, d = 0.6), although this difference between trials was reduced after 3 hours recovery.

| | 08:30 hours | 12:00 hours | 13:00 hours | 15:00 hours | |
|---|----------------|---------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|
| | Baseline | Post cold air | 1 h post cold air | 3 h post cold air | |
| Plasma cortisol (nmol· L ⁻¹) ⁺ | | | | | |
| Cold | 441 (122)§ | 348 (165) | 265 (209) | 308 (112) | |
| Control | 353 (105) | 282 (174) | 301 (189) | 304 (102) | |
| Effect size | 0.8 (large) | 0.4 (small) | -0.2 (small) | <0.1 (trivial) | |
| Plasma adrenaline (nmol· L^{-1})† | | | | | |
| Cold | 0.5 (0.4) | 0.9 (0.7)§§ | 0.7 (0.4) | 0.5 (0.3) | |
| Control | 0.5 (0.3) | 0.4 (0.5) | 0.5 (0.6) | 0.6 (0.8) | |
| Effect size | <0.1 (trivial) | 1.0 (large) | 0.3 (small) | -0.1 (trivial) | |
| Plasma noradrenaline (nmol· L^{-1})† | | | | | |
| Cold | 2.4 (0.8) | 6.6 (2.1)§§ | 3.5 (0.7) | 3.6 (1.2) | |
| Control | 2.2 (0.9) | 2.5 (1.1) | 2.7 (1.4) | 3.2 (1.1) | |
| Effect size | 0.2 (small) | 3.7 (large) | 0.6 (moderate) | 0.4 (small) | |

Table 3. Prolonged cold exposure effect on plasma adrenaline, noradrenaline and cortisol. Data are presented as mean (SD) and are for participants that completed the whole cold trial (n = 14). \dagger Main effect of condition. Interaction post hoc statistics indicating a difference between trials at the time of day compared, § P < 0.05 and §§ P < 0.01. Effect sizes are standardised differences (Cohen's *d*). Effect sizes were interpreted as ≥ 0.2 (small), ≥ 0.5 (moderate) and ≥ 0.8 (large) (Cohen, 1988).

4.5. Discussion

The aim of the current study was to test the hypothesis that cold exposure, leading to mild hypothermia (rectal temperature ~35 °C) would impair immune function as assessed by neutrophil degranulation and antigen-stimulated cytokine production by whole blood culture (IFN- γ and IL-4 cytokine production) in healthy humans. Hypothermia is frequent in some occupational populations exposed to cold air and cold water during activities (e.g. military personnel, hikers and outdoor enthusiasts) (Beeley et al., 1993; Brannigan et al., 2009; Giesbrecht, 2000; Keatinge et al., 2001; Nuckton et al., 2000) and there is evidence of an increase of URTI incidence after cold exposure. In addition, trauma victims often suffer from hypothermia on arrival at hospital which is associated with a poorer prognosis and an increase in mortality rate (Lapostolle et al., 2012; Luna et al., 1987).

In the current study, cold-water immersion and cold-air exposure under controlled laboratory conditions were successful in inducing mild-hypothermia in healthy young males. In contrast to our hypothesis, immune indices such as neutrophil degranulation (bacterially stimulated elastase release per neutrophil), plasma elastase concentration and antigen stimulated IL-4 production were not compromised compared with a thermoneutral control trial. However, in support of our hypothesis, whole-body cooling to mild hypothermia and cold exposure decreased antigen-stimulated IFN-Y production compared to a thermoneutral control trial. The decrease in antigen-stimulated IFN-r production was evident from immediately after onset of mild hypothermia, and remained below thermoneutral control values even after rewarming restored normal body temperature and individuals had received approximately two-thirds of their daily energy requirements (Nieman, 2011). Moreover, an increase in circulating leukocytes, cortisol, adrenaline and noradrenaline was observed during mild hypothermia. These data suggest that mild-hypothermia might decrease immunity leading to an "open window" where immune function is suppressed. This window of opportunity may allow for an increase in susceptibility to URTI.

Compared with previous studies (Lackovic et al., 1998; Brenner et al., 1999; Wenisch et al., 1996; Costa et al., 2010; Beilin et al., 1998), a strength of the present research is that experimental procedures were carried out under controlled laboratory conditions and were specifically designed to enable us to be more specific regarding the influence of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on immune function. Indeed, the main limitation of the studies in the literature was the lack of a thermo-neutral control trial and therefore the effect of diurnal variation on outcomes could not be excluded. Moreover, other limitations such as multi-stressor experimental designs and the study of patient populations with existing comorbidities or undergoing surgery mean that prior to this study it was difficult to interpret the possible interaction between cold exposure and the immune system.

Additional strength to the present study design comes from protocol followed; removing participants from water immersion and cold-air exposure at pre-defined body temperature (water immersion T_{re} 36 °C, cold-air exposure T_{re} 35 °C), rather than a pre-defined time period, allowed for a more accurate assessment of the influence of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on immune indices. Furthermore, a cut off time of 3 hours of cold-air exposure was previously agreed to reflect the average time to rescue in practical context. Indeed, even if the time for rescues varies depending on weather conditions and location of the casualty, it has been reported that the time taken for rescues is likely to be at least 2.25 hours, and non-helicopter evacuations could be in the region of 3.5 hours (MacGregor, 1988; Grant et al., 2002). Lastly, even if participants did not reach a rectal core temperature of 35 °C in this time they were removed from the chamber.

A limitation of the present study is that mild hypothermia does not generally apply to the general population but affects those involved in outdoor activities during winter months (e.g. soldiers, climbers, athletes). In this respect, the data presented have to be seen as the first attempt to clarify if cold exposure and the subsequent mild-hypothermia is a potential factor in the increase of URTI reported during winter months.

During cold exposure, the body attempts to maintain a normal body temperature by increasing heat production and minimizing heat loss. This is accomplished through involuntary tonic muscular activity, rhythmic muscular activity (shivering), and peripheral vasoconstriction. Although primarily thermoregulatory, these mechanisms induce metabolic and hormonal changes such as SAM axis stimulation, which can subsequently affect immune function (Brenner et al., 1999; Castellani et al., 2002).

The relatively modest leucocytosis immediately after cold exposure is likely to be explained by demargination of neutrophils from the vascular endothelium. Although raised circulating noradrenaline after cold exposure might play a role in demargination of neutrophils from the vascular endothelium (Brenner et al., 1998), other mechanisms such as shear effect and adrenaline intervention results could be involved (Zhang et al., 2011; Bote, Giraldo and Peake, 2008, Laing et al., 2008, Ortega et al., 2005; Ramel and Peake, 2004; Ramel, 2003; Malpica et al., 2002). In this context, catecholamines are the most likely cause for the observed rise in circulating neutrophils because they are rapidly released in the blood, causing an immediate response in immune cells. On the contrary, the small increase in plasma cortisol (~12%) during cold exposure is unlikely to account for the changes observed in leukocyte trafficking due to the time required for cortisol itself to produce any immune responses (Goldstein-Golaire et al., 1970, Jefferies, 1991). This is supported by that a second delayed increase of blood leukocytes count due to cortisol-induced release of neutrophil from the bone marrow has not been observed a few hours after cold exposure (Gagnon et al., 2014). There is evidence that the second increase in leukocyte trafficking elicited by cortisol is dependent upon intensity and duration of the exercise (Fragala et al., 2011), and that only high-intensity exercise results in significant elevation of cortisol (200%) (Jacks et al., 2002), which is unlikely to be the case of present study. In addition, substantial biological effects of cortisol tend to be reported only when the plasma cortisol concentration exceeds the capacity of the corticosteroid-binding globulin (550 nmol l^{-1}) and free cortisol concentration increases (Costa et al., 2011).

Cold exposure and mild hypothermia did not compromise neutrophil function, as assessed by bacterially stimulated neutrophil degranulation. These results conflict with previous findings where modest whole body cooling (T_{re} 35.9 °C) was observed to decrease neutrophil degranulation (Costa et al., 2011). The decrease reported previously was explained by the demargination of more naïve intravascular neutrophils that responded less to the bacterial challenge. The discrepancy in the results might be explained by additional stressors in Costa et al.'s (2011) study before the cold exposure, which included two days of sleep and energy restriction with daily maximal exercise. The significant neutrophilia reported in our study is in line with evidence in the literature (Fedor and Fisher, 1959, Villalobos et al., 1955; Blair et al., 1969). An increase in circulating neutrophils was reported in septic patients who were cooled to 34 °C by Blair and colleagues (1969). To the contrary, in another study on animals, Biggar and colleagues (1983) found that hypothermia was associated with a marked reduction in the release of mature and immature neutrophils from the bone marrow into the circulation. Once again it is underlined that the mediators of the neutrophilia and decrease in neutrophil degranulation in response to stress (e.g. exercise) are not as clear as previously thought and require further research.

Lymphocytosis is observed during and after cold exposure, with the number of cells falling below pre-exercise levels during recovery. It has been previously reported that changes in T cell populations, and to a lesser extent B cell populations, are proportional to stress intensity and duration, although the effect of intensity is more marked (Gleeson et al., 2005). Research showed a 50% decrease in T cell population after a 2.5 h treadmill run at 75% VO_{2Max} compared with resting values (Gleeson et al., 2005). Due to the prolonged nature of that exercise bout present data can be compared. We acknowledge the limitation that we did not assessed maximal oxygen uptake before trials and therefore we are not able to determine the workload imposed by thermoregulatory responses. In addition, indirect assessment of the cost of thermogenic activity can be perform using the Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks (MET) providing us with

the information that the increased thermoregulatory demand during the three hours cold exposure can be equated with prolonged-moderate exercise (5.6 (2.0) MET) (Ainsworth et al., 2011).

Lymphocyte count acted in a similar fashion to that measured in response to prolonged exercise even if the percentage decrease observed during trials was smaller. In addition, T cell number returned to baseline levels after 3 h, similarly to the response to prolonged exercise (Robson et al., 1999). Raised circulating adrenaline might account for the lymphopenia during recovery after cold exposure possibly via alterations in adhesion molecules and surface receptors on lymphocytes (Costa et al., 2011; Kruger and Mooren, 2007). Adrenaline is thought to have a key role in governing lymphocyte trafficking during environmental stress (Costa et al., 2010). Moreover, adrenaline and noradrenaline indirectly mediate symphatetic influences on cardiac output, with the subsequent increase in shear stress associated with enhanced blood flow. T cells play a fundamental role in the orchestration and regulation of the cell-mediated immune response to pathogens (Shephard and Shek, 1999). One important consequence of a defect in T cell function is an increased incidence of viral infections (Fabbri et al., 2003).

Cold air exposure did not alter monocyte count after the initial increase with mild hypothermia. A plausible explanation of this increase could be that shivering and involuntary tonic contractions count as acute physical exercise which has been reported to result in a transient monocytosis and which most likely represents the shifting of monocytes from the marginated to the circualtion pool (Young et al., 2000). This could occur as a result of haemodynamic and/or cortisol or catecholamine-induced release from the vascular endothelium (Walsh et al., 2011). This explanation is supported by research which showed that administering the beta-blocker propranolol reduced exercise-induced monocytosis (Walsh et al., 2011). Moreover, reports showed that stressors can affect monocyte phenotype, cell surface protein, and cytokine expression. For example, in response to acute exercise, there is a preferred use of inflammatory monocytes (CD4+/CD16+) (Freidenreich and Volek, 2012). It is therefore conceivable

that these marginated cells have a more mature inflammatory function for entry into tissues and are knocked off the endothelium in response to exercise. Interestingly, the percentage of these CD14+/CD16+ cells is reduced during recovery, maybe indicating remarginalization or tissue recruitment. Acute exercise also reduces expression of TLRs 1,2 and 4 on inflammatory monocytes (Gleeson et al., 2011). However it remains to be elucidated the extent to which these changes reflect a true decrease versus monocyte population shift.

Some of the changes reported on innate immune markers are similar to the ones effected by exercise and this might partially be explained by the raised concentration of catecholamines observed in both scenarios. Indeed, under these conditions exercise could be seen as the thermogenic activity through which the body counteracts the cold environment (Walsh et al., 2006). Through involuntary tonic muscular activity and rhythmic muscular activity (shivering) up to 30% of aerobic capacity could be involved making reasonable expecting immune markers mimics the response to exercise (Young et al., 2000). It was previously been reported (Golden and Dudley, 1992) that shivering corresponded to $46\% \text{ VO}_{2Max}$ in 12 °C water immersion which is close to the water temperature used in this study (13 °C). In addition, metabolic rate during cold exposure was also found to be comparable to the ~40% VO_{2Max} observed results presented by Young et al. (2000) in participants who had a T_{re} of 35 °C and was.

A direct comparison between the rise in adrenaline and noradrenaline recorded in the present study and the raise induced by exercise can be performed using data provided by Galbo et al. (1975). The increase in catecholamines observed is similar to the one observed in response of a short bout of running (10 mins) at 75% VO_{2Max} intensity or repeated bouts of running performed at 75% VO_{2Max} intensity for prolonged periods of time. Therefore, this suggests that the changes observed on innate immunity might be partially explained by the thermoregulatory activity initiated by the body to counteract mild-hypothermia. In addition, it also helps to describe why neutrophil function was not affected by cold exposure even if neutrophilia has occurred. Furthermore,
catecholamines have a direct effect on cardiac output and the shear effect derived. This additionally contributes to justification of the observed changes in white blood cell count.

Antigen-stimulated IFN-Y production was lower compared with thermoneutral control trial values throughout cold exposure and did not recover to baseline levels after 3 hours despite participants having been fed and rewarmed. Similar results were found following a 2.5 h of cycling exercise at 65% VO_{2Max} (Lancaster et al., 2005). The release of cytokines such as interferon is mediated by Th1 cells which play an important role in defence against intracellular pathogens (e.g. viruses) (D'Elios et al., 2007) and they have been found to decrease in response to prolonged moderate-intensity exercise (Gleeson et al., 2005), this might explain the decreased production of IFN-Y. They are part of the acquired immunity which is designed to combat infections by preventing colonisation of pathogens and destroying invading micro-organisms (Gleeson et al., 2005). A disregulation of IFN-Y production has been reported in illness prone athletes compared with healthy counterparts (Clancy et al., 2006). This is the first study that reports that other stressors (e.g. cold) might affect interferon production. Present results suggest that the decreased capability of the adaptive immunity induced by cold exposure may increase the possibility of being affected by pathogens even during the recovery period. This is explained by the fact that the adaptive immunity response is initiated by the presentation of antigens to T helper lymphocytes within the peptide binding groove of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules on antigen presenting cells CD4+ T cells. This forms a key part of the cell-mediated immune response, since they orchestrate and direct the subsequent adaptive immune response to bacteria and viruses. A decreased production of IFN- Y might result in a suppressed response of the immune system to invading micro-organisms as they act with immunostimulatory and immunomodulatory effects or by directly inhibiting viral replication. This might, in part, explain of the increased number of URTI reported by athletes and outdoor enthusiasts during winter months.

IL-4 production was not altered by cold exposure. This finding is in line with evidence in the literature regarding IL-4 production in response to prolonged exercise at moderate intensity (Gleeson et al., 2005). The role played in a hypothermic scenario by this cytokine is not well established, but it is known to activate B cells and T cell proliferation and regulate adaptive immunity responses (Paul et al., 1997). It is usually coupled with another anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10. There is evidence that IL-10 production from microglia, decreases with mild-hypothermic state and that this decrease is proportional to the decrease in body core temperature (Matsui et al., 2004). This decrease is beneficial as excessively high levels of IL-10 are detrimental for the central nervous system.

In conclusion, cold exposure and mild-hypothermia did not alter neutrophil degranulation, or antigen-stimulated IL-4 production but did lower antigen-stimulated IFN- γ production. Despite rewarming and feeding, IFN- γ production did not return to control values within the 3-hour recovery period. These findings might therefore, at least in part, explain the increased susceptibility to upper respiratory tract infections reported after cold exposure.

CHAPTER FIVE

Muscle-damaging exercise increases heat strain during

subsequent exercise heat stress

5.1. Abstract

It is still unclear if exercise-induced muscle damage (EIMD) increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress, which in turn may increase the risk of exertional heat illness. We investigated heat strain during exercise heat stress 30 min after EIMD to coincide with the maximal increment in circulating pyrogens [e.g. interleukin (IL)-6] and 24 h after EIMD to correspond with the late muscle inflammatory response when a greater rate of metabolic energy expenditure (*M*) and thus diminished economy might also increase heat strain.

Thirteen non-heat-acclimated males (mean(SD), age 20(2) years) completed exercise heat stress tests (running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50% humidity) 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after treatment, involving running for 60 min at 65% VO_{2max} on either -10% gradient (EIMD) or +1% gradient (CON) in a crossover design. Rectal (T_{re}) and skin (T_{sk}) temperature, local sweating rate, and \dot{M} were measured throughout HS tests.

Compared with CON, EIMD elicited higher circulating IL-6 pre-HS1 (P < 0.01) and greater plasma creatine kinase and muscle soreness pre-HS2 (P < 0.01). The $\Delta T_{\rm re}$ was greater after EIMD than CON during HS1 (0.35 °C, 95% confidence interval = 0.11 °C – 0.58 °C, P < 0.01) and HS2 (0.17 °C, 95% confidence interval = 0.07 °C –0.28 °C, P < 0.01). \dot{M} was higher following EIMD throughout HS1 and HS2 (P < 0.001). Thermo-effector responses ($T_{\rm sk}$, sweating rate) were not modified by EIMD. Thermal sensation and RPE were greater on EIMD after 25 min during HS1 (P < 0.05). The final $T_{\rm re}$ during HS1 correlated with the pre-HS1 circulating IL-6 concentration in EIMD trial (r = 0.67). Heat strain was higher during endurance exercise in the heat conducted 30 min after and, to a lower degree, 24 h after muscle-damaging exercise. These data show that EIMD is a probable risk factor for exertional heat illness especially during exercise heat stress when behavioural thermoregulation clues, they might suggest to stop exercising, are neglected.

5.2. Introduction

Athletes and soldiers taking part in heavy training often have to perform repeated bouts of strenuous exercise on the same day, in hot environments, which may predispose them to EHI or the more severe form, and often incurable, EHS. Numerous conventional risk factors have been classified for EHI and EHS such as hot and humid environmental conditions, incongruous clothing, absence of heat acclimation, sleep disruption, high exercise intensity, obesity, poor physical fitness levels, and hidden medical conditions (Armstrong et al., 2007; Epstein et al., 1999; Rav-Acha et al., 2004). However, these conventional risk factors do not account for all EHI events, implying that other lesser known risk factors and pathways may play a role in many cases of EHI (Sawka et al., 2011). An additional pathway for the development of EHI has been suggested that includes a systemic inflammatory reaction (Bouchama, 1995; Lambert et al., 2001; Shephard and Shek, 1999), with an increment in pyrogenic cytokines [e.g., interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor-a], which may accelerate the progression of the person toward EHI and/or EHS (Walsh et al., 2011). In support of this assumption, the fever response to LPS injection was abolished in rodents pre-treated with anti-IL-6 antibodies (Cartmell et al., 2000; Rummel et al., 2006), and rodents injected with IL-1 receptor antagonist showed increased survival after experimental heatstroke (Chiu et al., 1996). Evidence also exists that exercise itself has a pyrogenic effect similar to that of fever. For example, post-exercise plasma taken from humans caused fever in rodents, opposite to pre-exercise plasma that did not cause the same effect (Pedersen et al., 2002). Furthermore, 6 days of integration with the cycloxygenase (COX) inhibitor rofecoxib attenuated the increase in body core temperature during prolonged exercise in humans, implying that a prostaglandin-mediated inflammatory process may also reinforce to increased heat strain during exercise (Bradford et al., 2007).

It still needs to be established whether exercise-induced muscle damage (EIMD) boosts heat strain during successive bouts of exercise heat stress, which consecutively may increase the risk of EHI.

Exercising muscle releases the pyrogenic cytokine IL-6 (Febbraio et al., 2002), and it has been showed that EIMD evokes a greater circulating IL-6 response than non-muscledamaging concentric exercise (Braun and Dutto, 2003). Accordingly, it is possible that EIMD and correlated inflammation (increase in circulating pyrogenic cytokines) might increase heat strain at least in the short-term during consecutive exercise heat stress. The muscle soreness that commonly peaks 24–48 h after EIMD might also augment heat strain during walking and running by increasing the rate of metabolic energy expenditure (decreased economy) as a result of alterations in gait and motor unit recruitment because of muscle stiffness (Montain et al., 2000). To the best of our knowledge, only one published study has tried to elucidate these possibilities, althought if the experimental design of this investigation elicited only relatively modest heat strain (Montain et al., 2000). Core body temperature was 0.2–0.3 °C higher at 2 and 7 h but was not altered 26 h after lower body muscle-damaging exercise (eccentric component of leg press and leg curl) (Montain et al., 2000). The authors credit a large proportion of the EIMD-evoked increase in core body temperature during exercise heat stress to diminished economy but admitted that other elements such as the inflammatory response probably play a role. Regrettably, the muscle-damaging protocol did not evoke a significant increase in circulating inflammatory markers (e.g. the pyrogen IL-6) prior to the exercise heat challenge 2 h after muscle injury and only a small increase 7 h after injury. Fundamentally, it is still unclear whether the acute circulating inflammatory response that follows EIMD exarcebates to greater heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress. In addition, from a practical viewpoint, participants in the preceding study were heat acclimated (Montain et al., 2000), so the effect of EIMD on exercise heat strain in non-heat-acclimated individuals, in whom EHI is more common (Armstrong et al., 2007) remains unknown.

The aim of this study was to examine the effect of EIMD upon heat strain during successive exercise bouts in the heat. Therefore, we had non-heat-acclimated participants

perform muscle-damaging exercise on a downhill running model (10% gradient) and then assessed heat strain during two subsequent exercise heat stress running bouts. The first exercise heat stress bout was performed 30 min post-EIMD to coincide with the early inflammatory phase and expected increases in circulating pyrogens (e.g. IL-6). The second exercise heat stress bout was performed 24 h post-EIMD to coincide with the delayed muscle inflammatory response, i.e. when circulating creatine kinase (CK) values peak after downhill running (Clarkson and Hubal, 2002) and when lower economy might be expected to change heat strain. The EIMD responses to the two exercise heat stress bouts were compared with an energy-expenditure equivalent control, trial (treadmill running on a +1% gradient). We hypothesized that EIMD would increase core rectal temperature (T_{re}) during subsequent exercise heat stress compared with control and that the increase in T_{re} would be correlated with increases in circulating pyrogen 30 min post-EIMD.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Participants

Thirteen healthy, active males volunteered to participate in the study and provided fully informed written consent. The study received local ethical approval and was conducted within the standards required by the *Declaration of Helsinki*. Participant characteristics were as follows (mean (SD)): age, 20 (2) years; nude body mass (NBM), 70.5 (7.5) kg; height, 176 (5) cm; body mass index, 22.8 (2.0) kg·m⁻²; body surface area,1.86 (0.11) m²; and maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}), 60 (5) mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹. All participants were non-heat acclimated nor accustomed to downhill running or regular eccentric exercise. Participants were non-smokers and free from any known immune, cardiovascular, or metabolic diseases and not taking any medication (e.g., anti-inflammatories). Participants were asked to refrain from exercise 72 h before and from alcohol and caffeine 24 h before all exercise bouts. All data were collected between February and December 2011.

5.3.2. Study Design

A counterbalanced experimental design in which the order of presentation of trials was randomized was used to test the hypothesis that previous muscle damage would increase rectal core temperature (T_{re}) during subsequent exercise heat stress tests. To assess this, participants completed exercise heat stress tests, 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after both muscle-damaging exercise (EIMD: running downhill on -10% gradient) and energy-expenditure equivalent exercise (CON: running at +1% gradient). The two trials were separated by 14 days, and an overview of the study design is depicted in **Figure 10**.



Fig. 10. Schematic of experimental procedures. EIMD, exercise-induced muscle damage; CON, energy-expenditure equivalent control exercise; RH, relative humidity.⁺ Blood sampling time points.

5.3.3. Fitness and familiarization

Participant's VO_{2max} was determined by a continuous maximal incremental exercise test performed on a motorized treadmill (HP Cosmos Mercury 4.0, Nussdorf-Traunstein, Germany) to volitional exhaustion. Expired gas was analysed by an online breath by-breath system (Cortex Metalyser 3B; Biophysik, Leipzig, Germany). From this, the treadmill running speed which elicited 65% VO_{2max} running at +1% gradient was calculated by interpolation of the running speed–VO₂ relationship.

This running speed was subsequently verified and used as the running speed for the treatment on CON and for both heat stress tests in both trials. Participants were also asked to run downhill on a -10% gradient with expired gas analysed continuously, with the running speed adjusted accordingly until $65\%VO_{2max}$ had been verified. This running speed was used for the treatment phase to elicit muscle damage on the EIMD trial.

Participants were also familiarized with all instrumentation and procedures used in the experimental trials. They were given diet diaries to record all food consumed during the 24 h before and during the first experimental trial and instructed to replicate this diet before and during the second trial.

5.3.4. Experimental Trials

On the day of the experimental trial, participants arrived at the laboratory [20 °C ambient temperature and 40% relative humidity (RH)] at 07:10 h fasted. Participants were provided fluids to consume (40 mL·kg⁻¹ NBM·d⁻¹) in the previous 24 h period to ensure they began exercise euhydrated, and this was verified by assessing urine specific gravity upon arrival (Atago Uricon-Ne refractometer; NSG Precision Cells, Farmingdale, NY). Participants were then weighed nude (NBM) on a digital platform scale accurate to the nearest 50 g (Model 705; Seca, Hamburg, Germany). On the basis of this body mass, participants were then provided with a small breakfast consisting of a cereal bar equivalent to 8.4 kJ·kg⁻¹ NBM and water (5 mL·kg⁻¹ NBM). At 08:15 h, baseline NBM was again measured, and a rested blood sample was taken before the participant fitted a rectal thermistor probe and an HR monitor (Polar Electro, Kempele, Finland). The participant also rated their perceived muscle soreness at this point.

5.3.5. Exercise Trial Treatment

The exercise trial treatment (EIMD or CON) started at 08:30 h, with participants wearing standardized clothing, i.e. running shorts, socks, and shoes. Participants ran for 60 min at the predetermined speed that reflected 65% VO_{2max} on either +1% gradient (CON) or -10% gradient (EIMD). Rectal core temperature (T_{re}) and HR were measured every 10 min, and 60-s expired gas samples were collected by Douglas bag method at 20 and 40 min of exercise and analyzed for VO_2 . Water (2 mL·kg⁻¹ NBM) was provided every 15 min throughout treatment.

5.3.6. Exercise Heat Stress 1

Immediately after treatment, participants rested for 30 min during which skin thermistors were applied. A standardized amount of water (2.5 mL·kg⁻¹ NBM) was also provided during this period. Pre heat stress 1 (pre-HS1) NBM was assessed, and a blood sample was collected just before the participant entered the environmental chamber (Delta Environmental Systems, Chester, UK), which was maintained at a dry bulb temperature of 33 °C, 50% RH, and 0.2 $m \cdot s^{-1}$ face-on wind velocity. Immediately upon entering the chamber, a ventilated capsule was attached to the forearm (for local sweating rate), and participants then began exercise heat stress (HS1) by running ,without fluids, on a motorized treadmill at +1% gradient for 40 min at the predetermined running speed that reflected 65% VO_{2max}. Throughout HS1, measurements taken were: local forearm sweating rate, HR, T_{re} , skin temperature (T_{sk}), RPE (Borg 6-20 scale (Borg, 1982)), thermal sensation (McGinnis 0-13 point (Hollies et al., 1977)), and 60-s expired gas samples by Douglas bag method VO_2 . Immediately after HS1, participants were removed from the chamber, seated, and a blood sample was drawn (post-HS1). Post-HS1, NBM (after towel drying) was re-assessed. Fluids were provided to replace sweat losses during HS1, and participants were provided with a standardized meal and fluids to consume until they returned to the laboratory the following morning for the second heat stress test (HS2). Participants refrained from any exercise, caffeine or alcohol in the intervening period between the two HS bouts.

5.3.7. Exercise Heat Stress 2

HS2 was performed 24 h after the beginning of HS1. Participants reported to the laboratory and were provided with a standardized breakfast and fluids identical to the previous day. Participants rated their perceived muscle soreness just before HS2. For HS2, participants ran in the same environmental conditions and running speed as that during HS1. Before (pre-HS2) and after (post-HS2) exercise heat stress blood samples were drawn, and NBM was also assessed. All measures collected during HS2 were

identical to HS1. The participant left the laboratory and returned 14 days later to complete the remaining trial.

5.3.8. Measurements and Instrumentation

Body temperatures. T_{re} was measured using a flexible, sterile, disposable thermistor (Henleys Medical Supplies Ltd., Herts, UK) inserted 12 cm beyond the anal sphincter, with temperature recorded using a data logger (YSI model 4000A; YSI, Dayton, OH). Participants used the same thermistor in both trials. T_{sk} was measured at four sites on the left side of the body (on the chest at a point midway between the acromion process and the nipple, the anterior mid-bicep, the anterior mid-thigh, and the lateral calf) using insulated thermistors (Grant EUS-U, Cambridge, UK) fixed to the skin using surgical tape. Temperature data were registered using a portable data logger (Grant SQ2020,

Cambridge, UK). Mean T_{sk} was calculated using a four-site-weighted equation (Ramanathan, 1964). Because of individual skin thermistors becoming detached during HS in three participants, T_{sk} mean data are presented for those with a complete data set (n = 10).

5.3.9. Sweating responses

Whole-body sweating rate was estimated from NBM losses during HS1 and HS2. Local forearm sweating rate was measured by dew point hygrometry.

Anhydrous compressed nitrogen was passed through a 5 cm² capsule placed on the lower arm ventral surface (halfway between the antecubital fossa and carpus) and connected to a hygrometry system (DS2000; Alpha Moisture Systems, UK). Local forearm sweating rate was calculated using the difference in water content between effluent and influent air and the flow rate (1 L·min⁻¹) and normalized for the skin surface area under the capsule (expressed in milligrams per square centimetre per minute). Sweating threshold and sensitivity were calculated by plotting individual relationships between local forearm sweating rate and $T_{\rm re}$ values. A simple linear regression equation for the initial 4 min of exercise was calculated, with the threshold $T_{\rm re}$ for active

thermoregulatory sweating defined as the T_{re} at which local forearm sweating rate = 0.06 mg·cm⁻²·min⁻¹. Sweating sensitivity was calculated as the slope of the linear regression line for both (a) the exercise transient phase (when the rapid increase in sweating rate occurred during the initial 4 min of exercise) and (b) the plateau sweating phase (when sweating rate plateaued from 6 to 40 min of exercise).

5.3.10. Rate of metabolic energy expenditure (\dot{M})

Oxygen consumption (VO₂) was calculated for 60 s expired air samples collected into a Douglas bag and analyzed for O2 and CO2 concentrations (Servomex, Crowborough, UK) and volume (Harvard Apparatus, Edenbridge, UK). \dot{M} was calculated using VO₂ (L·min⁻¹) and RER in the following equation (Nishi, 1981): \dot{M} (W) = VO₂ {21,166[0.23(RER) +0.77]} /60.

5.3.11. Perceived leg muscle soreness

Perceived leg muscle soreness was self-rated using two scales. First, participants rated leg muscle soreness using a 100-mm visual analog scale anchored on the left with the phrase "My leg muscles don't feel sore at all" and anchored on the right with the phrase "My leg muscles feel so sore I don't want to move them." Participants gave their rating while performing a wall sit with their legs bent 90°. Participants also rated their leg muscle soreness using a seven-point validated Likert scale (Vickers, 2001) while walking up and down the laboratory.

5.3.12. Blood collection, handling, and analysis

Whole blood samples were collected, without venestasis, by venepuncture from an antecubital vein, and collected into one K₂EDTA and one lithium heparin vacutainer tube (BD, Oxford, UK).

Haematocrit (capillary method) using a micro-haematocrit reader (Hawksley & Sons Ltd., Lancing, UK) and haemoglobin concentration using a photometer (Hemocue, Sheffield, UK) were both analysed immediately on whole blood, in triplicate, with plasma volume change calculated (Dill and Costill, 1974). The remaining whole blood was spun in a

refrigerated centrifuged at 1500 *g* for 10 min, with the plasma aspirated, aliquoted into eppendorf tubes, and frozen at -80 °C for later analysis. CK activity pre-treatment and 24 h post-treatment was assessed as an indirect measure of muscle damage. Plasma CK activity was measured in duplicate, on lithium heparin-treated plasma using an enzyme reaction kit (EnzyChromi CK assay kit; BioAssay Systems, Hayward, CA). The intra-assay coefficient of variation for CK was 3.8%. Plasma IL-6 concentrations were determined at baseline and before and after HS1 and HS2 on EDTA-derived plasma in duplicate using a commercially available high sensitivity ELISA (Quantikine_ HS IL-6, HS600B; R&D Systems Europe, Abingdon, UK). Intra-assay coefficient of variation for plasma IL-6 concentration was 5.3%.

For all biochemical analyses, the participant's samples were always assayed on the same plate.

5.3.13. Statistical Analysis

A sample size calculation was performed (G*Power, 3.1.2) using mean and SD core temperature data from Montain et *al.* (Montain et *al.*, 2000). For a two-tailed test with alpha level set at 0.05, and power set at 0.8, recruiting 12 participants was deemed appropriate to detect a significant difference in core rectal temperature between the conditions during subsequent exercise in the heat. All data were checked for normality and sphericity and analysed using either paired t-tests or fully repeated-measures ANOVA with the Greenhouse–Geisser correction applied to the degrees of freedom if necessary. All F values reported are for the time – trial interaction unless otherwise stated. Tukey's HSD or Bonferroni-adjusted paired t-test post hoc procedures were used to determine within-subject differences where appropriate. To assess the contribution of acute circulating inflammation (IL-6) after muscle damage on altered heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress, Pearson correlations were performed by correlating the pre-HS IL-6 concentration with the final $T_{\rm re}$ attained during HS. All data were analysed using SPSS version 14 software (IBM, NY). Statistical significance was accepted as P < 0.05.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Treatment Responses

Both treatments [-10% (EIMD) and +1% gradient running (CON)] were conducted at the same exercise intensity with no between-trial differences in \dot{M} (EIMD = 939 (111), CON = 941 (106) W, P = 0.90) or RER (EIMD = 0.92 (0.05), CON = 0.94 (0.05), P = 0.25). Despite being conducted at the same exercise intensity, $\Delta T_{\rm re}$ was greater during 60 min -10% downhill running [EIMD = 1.88 °C (0.33) °C] than 60 min +1% gradient running [CON = 1.25 °C (0.27) °C; P < 0.001]. However, 30 min post-treatment and just before HS1, $T_{\rm re}$ was not different between trials (P = 0.52).

Sixty minutes of downhill running was successful in inflicting muscle damage because indirect markers of muscle damage, assessed by plasma CK and perceived muscle soreness (VAS and Likert scale), were all significantly greater on EIMD than CON 24 h post-treatment (P < 0.001, **Table 4**).

| | | Before | 24 h After |
|---|----------|-------------|-------------------|
| Plasma CK activity (U·L ⁻¹) | EIMD | 82 ± 82 | 253 ± 76ª |
| | CON | 83 ± 60 | 133 ± 70 |
| Perceived muscle soreness (VAS | S) EIMD | 11 ± 10 | 52 ± 15ª |
| | CON | 6 ± 6 | 17 ± 9 |
| Perceived muscle sorene | ess EIMD | 1 ± 0.3 | 3.4 ± 1.4^{a} |
| (Likert scale) ^b | | | |
| | CON | 2 ± 0.4 | 7 ± 0.7 |

Table 4. Markers of muscle damage before and 24 h after either 60 min EIMD (-10% gradient running at 65% VO_{2max}) or 60 min of energy-expenditure equivalent control exercise (+1% gradient running at 65% VO_{2max}). Values are presented as mean ± SD; n = 13. ^aEIMD significantly higher than CON (P < 0.001); ^bLikert scale (0 - 6); VAS [visual analog scale (0 - 100 mm)].

Furthermore, all participants on EIMD had increases in plasma CK and perceived muscle soreness (VAS and Likert scale), and these responses were greater on EIMD compared with CON 24 h post-treatment for all participants. There were no baseline differences for any of these variables. Rectal core and skin temperature.



Mean ΔT_{re} , T_{re} , and T_{sk} responses to HS1 and HS2 are presented in **Figure 11**.

Fig. 11. Change in rectal temperature (ΔT_{re} , A and B), absolute temperature (T_{re} , C and D), and mean skin temperature (T_{sk} , E and F) responses during exercise heat stress tests, which involved running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50 % RH conducted 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after treatment, which involved either EIMD (-10% gradient running, EIMD, *filled bar and circles*) or energy equivalent controlexercise (+1% gradient running, CON *empty bar and circles*). EIMD was significantly greater than CON (# P < 0.05, ## P < 0.01). Significantly greater than time 0 on both trials (* P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01).⁺⁺ Main effect of time, significantly greater than time 0 (P < 0.01). Data are presented as mean ± SD, n = 13 for T_{re} and n = 10 for T_{sk} .

 T_{re} demonstrated an interaction during both HS1 (F = 8.8, P < 0.01) and HS2 (F = 6.3, P < 0.01). There was no significant difference in starting T_{re} between trials before HS1 or HS2. The ΔT_{re} during HS1 was greater after EIMD than CON (P < 0.01; Fig. 11A). During HS1, T_{re} was significantly higher after EIMD than CON from 16 min onward, resulting in a higher final T_{re} after 40 min of the same exercise heat stress (EIMD = 39.53 °C (0.42) °C, CON = 39.01 °C (0.38) °C, P < 0.01; Fig. 11C). Furthermore, five participants showed evidence of mild hyperthermia with a T_{re} 39.5 on EIMD compared with only one participant on CON. During HS2, ΔT_{re} was also significantly greater after EIMD than CON (P < 0.05; Fig. 11B). Although post hoc testing failed to show any significant differences between trials in actual T_{re} throughout HS2, there was a trend for a 0.13 °C higher final T_{re} on EIMD than CON (P = 0.08; Fig. 11D). Mean T_{sk} was not altered by previous muscle-damaging exercise during HS1 (F = 2.1, P = 0.17; Fig. 11E) or HS2 (F = 0.44, P = 0.56; Fig. 11F).

5.4.3. Sweating rate and plasma volume change

Whole body sweating rate was not different between trials during HS1 [EIMD = 23.1 (8.2), CON = 23.2 (5.0) mL·min⁻¹, P = 0.98) or HS2 [EIMD = 21.4 (9.0), CON = 22.6 (5.0) mL·min⁻¹, P = 0.62]. There was a small interaction for local forearm sweating rate during HS1 (F = 2.9, P < 0.05; **Fig. 12A**), with sweating rate only higher after 2 min of exercise on EIMD than CON (P < 0.05). Despite the threshold temperature for initiation of sweating visually appearing to occur at a higher T_{re} on EIMD than CON during HS1 (**Fig. 12C**), this was not significant (P = 0.36). There was no difference in sweating sensitivity between trials during the initial transient exercise phase (P = 0.50) nor later during exercise in HS1 (6–40min, P = 0.19). Throughout HS2, there was no effect of sweating threshold temperature (P = 0.95), sweating sensitivity during the initial transient phase of exercise (P = 0.69), or sweating sensitivity during the plateau sweating phase from 6 to 40 min of exercise (P = 0.17; **Fig. 12D**).



Fig. 12. Local forearm sweating rate reported as a function of time (A and B) and as a function of rectal temperature (T_{re} , C and D) during exercise heat stress tests, which involved running for 40 min at 65 % VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50 % RH conducted 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after treatment, which involved either EIMD (-10% gradient running, EIMD, *filled circle*) or energy equivalent control exercise (+1% gradient running, CON, *empty circle*). EIMD was significantly greater than CON (# P < 0.05). ** Significantly greater than time 0 on both trial (P < 0.01). ⁺⁺ Main effect of time, significantly greater than time 0 (P < 0.01). Data are presented as mean ± SD, n = 11.

There was no effect of muscle damage on plasma volume change during HS1 and HS2 (no interaction, F = 1.7, P = 0.15, or main effect of trial, F = 0.1, P = 0.75).

Rate of metabolic energy expenditure, RER, and HR.

Mean \dot{M} was significantly higher after EIMD than CON throughout both HS1 and HS2 [HS1: EIMD = 1040 (115) W, CON = 970 (102) W, P < 0.001; HS2: EIMD = 986 (131) W, CON = 920 (113) W, P <0.001]. These metabolic rates equated to 71 (6)% and 66 (6)% VO_{2max} for EIMD and CON, respectively, during HS1, and 67 (6)% and 62 (6)% VO_{2max} for EIMD and CON, respectively, during HS2. There was no difference in mean RER between EIMD and CON throughout either HS1 [EIMD = 0.94 (0.05), CON = 0.92 (0.04), P = 0.35] or HS2 [EIMD = 0.94 (0.03), CON = 0.96 (0.07), P = 0.19]. Mean HR throughout both HS1 and HS2 was significantly greater on EIMD than CON [HS1: EIMD = 177 (12) beats·min⁻¹, CON = 168 (14) beats·min⁻¹, P < 0.01; HS2: EIMD = 164 (12) beats·min⁻¹, CON = 159 (11) beats·min⁻¹, P < 0.05].

Thermal sensation and RPE data are presented in **Figure 13**. Participants rated their thermal sensation significantly hotter on EIMD from 25 min onward than CON throughout HS1 (F = 5.7, P < 0.01; **Fig. 13A**). Throughout HS2, there was a trend for a higher thermal sensation during EIMD than CON (main effect of trial, F = 4.4, P = 0.06; **Fig. 13B**). Participant's RPE was higher from 25 min onward on EIMD during HS1 (F = 4.1, P < 0.05, main effect of trial F = 7.4, P < 0.01; **Fig. 13C**). Participants RPE was considerably higher on EIMD than CON 24 h post-treatment throughout HS2 (main effect of trial, F = 11.4, P < 0.01; **Fig. 13D**).



Fig. 13. Thermal sensation (A and B) and RPE (C and D) during exercise heat stress tests, which involved running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50% RH conducted 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after treatment, which involved either EIMD (-10% gradient running, EIMD, filled circle) or energy equivalent control exercise (+1% gradient running, CON, empty circle). EIMD was significantly greater than CON (# P < 0.05, ## P < 0.01). §§ Main effect of trial (P < 0.01). Data are presented as mean \pm SD, n = 13.

5.4.5. Plasma IL-6

Plasma IL-6 concentration was measured as a circulating marker of inflammation. Plasma IL-6 concentration was not different between trials at baseline but responded differently to the treatment and heat stress tests (F = 18.1, P < 0.001; **Fig. 14**). Thirty minutes after treatment and immediately before HS1, plasma IL-6 concentration was significantly elevated above baseline on EIMD (P < 0.001) and CON (P < 0.01). Importantly, participants began HS1 on EIMD with a significantly higher plasma IL-6 concentration than CON (P < 0.01). In addition, the plasma IL-6 exercise response to HS1 was significantly greater on EIMD versus CON (P < 0.01). The acute circulating inflammatory response after treatment, measured as the pre-HS1 plasma IL-6 concentration, correlated with the final T_{re} attained after HS1 in EIMD trial (r = 0.67, P < 0.01). On day 2, immediately pre-HS2, plasma IL-6 concentrations on both trials had returned to baseline values with no difference between trials. As such, the preceding IL-6 response was not strongly associated with final T_{re} during HS2 (r = -0.33, P = 0.10). Plasma IL-6 concentration increased after HS2 on both EIMD and CON (P < 0.01) with no between-trial differences.



Fig. 14. Plasma IL-6 concentrations at baseline and before and after exercise heat stress tests, which involved running for 40 min at 65 % VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50% RH conducted 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after treatment, which involved either EIMD (-10% gradient running, EIMD, filled circle) or energy equivalent control exercise (+1% gradient running, CON, empty circle). ## EIMD significantly greater than CON (P < 0.01). ** Significantly greater than baseline (P < 0.01). Data are presented as mean \pm SD, n = 13.

5.5. Discussion

In agreement with our hypothesis, in non-heat-acclimated males, ΔT_{re} is increased during exercise heat stress performed 30 min after moderate muscle-damaging exercise timed to coincide with the early inflammatory phase. This ended in a ~0.5 °C greater final T_{re} during HS1 in muscle damaged participants (final T_{re} ~39.5 °C) after just 40 min of moderate exercise heat stress, which under hot environmental conditions could perhaps expedite the progression toward EHI.

We have also shown that the preceding EIMD-evoked increase in plasma IL-6 concentration was associated (r = 0.67) with increased heat strain during HS1 conducted 30 min after exercise heat stress tests, (running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50% RH) conducted 30 min (HS1) and 24 h (HS2) after EIMD (-10% gradient running) relative to energy equivalent control exercise (+1% gradient running).

When exercise heat stress was timed to coincide with the deferred muscle inflammatory phase 24 h after moderate muscle-damaging exercise, we also observed a meaningful, even if small, increase in ΔT_{re} . These results have realistic applicability, particularly for non-heat-acclimated athletes and soldiers who undertake repeated, and/or prolonged heavy training bouts, with an eccentric component, in hot environmental conditions. Thus actions that can decrease EIMD associated inflammation may mitigate the risk of EHI.

Downhill running is often used in studies to evoke muscle damage (Braun and Dutto, 2003; Paulsen et *al.*, 2012; Peake et *al.*, 2005), and the aim of the model used here was to evoke moderate, realistic muscle damage that would not impair the participants ability to complete the subsequent exercise heat stress bouts. All participants were able to complete the HS bouts, and the degree of muscle damage was equivalent to experiencing "a light pain when walking" (Vickers, 2001). As anticipated, EIMD resulted in greater increases in plasma CK concentration than CON. Although we acknowledge that we did not assess muscle strength as an indicator of muscle damage and the

limitations of plasma CK and delayed onset of muscle soreness as markers of EIMD (Paulsen et *al.*, 2012), the mode of EIMD (downhill running) and severity of soreness perceived may mirror that encountered by soldiers and athletes performing unaccustomed exercise. Despite not being a central focus of the current study, an important finding in the context of EHI risk is the greater increase in $T_{\rm re}$ (+0.63 °C) during the EIMD treatment in thermo-neutral conditions. This took place even exercise intensity was carefully matched in CON and EIMD and is likely interpreted by altered muscle fibre recruitment and efficiency during eccentric exercise (Abbott and Wilkie, 1952). With our primary aim in mind, it is important that $T_{\rm re}$ was not significantly different between trials before commencement of HS1, 30 min later, or HS2, 24 h later.

To the best of our knowledge, there is only one published study that has examined heat strain during exercise heat stress after muscle injury, which showed a 0.2 °C - 0.3 °C greater core body temperature than control at 2 h and 7 h, but no effect 26 h after injury (Montain et al., 2000). In line with our two phase approach, we noticed a 0.35 °C greater increment in T_{re} during exercise heat stress conducted 30 min post-EIMD timed to correspond with the early inflammatory phase, where participants exhibit evidence of mild hyperthermia (mean final T_{re} : EIMD = 39.5 °C, CON = 39.0 °C). The 0.17 °C greater increase in T_{re} during exercise heat stress conducted 24 h post-EIMD indicates a minor effect of the delayed muscle inflammatory phase on exercise heat strain. These considerations happened without any significant differences between trials in thermoeffector response measures (e.g., skin temperature, whole body and local sweating rate, and sweating sensitivity) or hydration (plasma volume change). We recognize the limitations with measuring local sweating rate at only one site, and using T_{re} to calculate sweating sensitivity as opposed to oesophageal temperature, which responds more quickly during exercise-induced hyperthermia (Gagnon et al., 2010). We felt that these were necessary compromises because of the practical constraints of the running mode of exercise and for participant comfort.

We also acknowledge that additional testing at later time-points post-exercise (48 h-120 h post) has not been performed. Indeed, many of the criterion measures may peak 48-

72 h post exercise. Therefore, assessment at these timepoints would have confirmed whether or not the criterion measures continued to rise and if muscle function was altered. Again we felt this was another necessary compromise to reflect real life situations where non-heat-acclimated athletes and soldiers undertake repeated, and/or prolonged heavy training bouts, in hot environmental conditions over short periods of time.

Eccentric exercise has been demonstrated to inhibit glycogen resynthesizes (Costill et al., 1990; O'Reilly et al., 1987), consequently one might hypothesize that modified substrate availability may have changed metabolism and contributed to increased heat strain, particularly during HS2. However, this is unlikely because we did not notice any differences between trials in RER during HS1 or HS2. On the basis of previous evidences (Montain et al., 2000), one might also assume a meaningful involvement of reduced economy in the increased heat strain after EIMD, possibly due to modified gait, greater motor unit recruitment, and/or muscle weakness due to the muscle-damaging protocol (Montain et al., 2000). In support of this assertion, \dot{M} , HR, and RPE were greater during HS1 and HS2 after EIMD. Muscle-damaging exercise in humans has been shown to reduce economy, with steady-state exercise VO₂ elevated 3% – 7% in the 3 d after downhill running (Braun and Dutto, 2003; Chen, Nosaka and Tu, 2007). Furthermore, rodent models have provided evidence that damaged muscle fibres also demonstrate diminished contraction economy (Warren et al., 1996).

We assessed circulating IL-6 concentration as a marker of acute inflammation and hypothesized that EIMD-evoked increases in circulating IL-6 would be associated with increased heat strain during consecutive exercise heat stress 30 min after muscle-damaging exercise. As expected, EIMD generated a significantly greater elevation in circulating IL-6 response than CON before HS1, although it is important that the circulating level of IL-6 after EIMD was relatively modest compared with the level usually observed after more prolonged, metabolically demanding endurance exercise (Nieman et al., 2001).

Nevertheless, it has been observed a moderate correlation between the previous circulating IL-6 concentration and the final T_{re} during HS1 in EIMD trial (r = 0.67). It is noteworthy to stress the sequential nature of this relationship, that is, it was the preceding, perhaps modest, early inflammatory response that was associated with subsequent increases in T_{re} during exercise heat stress. Additionally, these associations were not evident during HS2 when pre-HS2 IL-6 concentrations had returned to baseline values, with no difference between trials. Because IL-6 is a known pyrogen (Dinarello et al., 1991), it is plausible that acute increases in circulating IL-6 after muscle damage may act upon the cycloxygenase 2–mediated PGE2 pathway, ending-up in an increment in the thermoregulatory set point (Bradford et al., 2007; Rummel et al., 2006) and heat strain during exercise heat stress. However, we recognize the relatively moderate augmentation in the circulating IL-6 response after EIMD and that the concept of a thermoregulatory set point remains controversial (Romanovsky, 2007).

Future studies should examine the supposed contribution of pyrogenic pathways after muscle damage upon exercise heat strain. Because the exercise intensities on the two treatments were carefully matched, with no differences in RER, it is unlikely that modified metabolic demands or fuel utilization during treatment could account for the greater plasma IL-6 after EIMD. Whether the greater circulating IL-6 response after EIMD come from muscle cells, leukocytes, or other cells remains a topic of debate (Braun and Dutto, 2003; Montain et al., 2000; Paulsen et al., 2012).

Soldiers and athletes undergoing heavy training are generally expected to perform repeated bouts of arduous physical activity on the same day, often in hot environments that might predispose them to EHI. Irrespective of the underlying mechanisms, based on the evidences of the present study, it is expected that the non-heat-acclimated soldier or athlete may experience greater heat strain during a subsequent exercise heat stress bout performed shortly after, and to a much lesser extent, the following day after unaccustomed muscle-damaging exercise. It has been also noticed a greater increase in $T_{\rm re}$ during the -10% gradient downhill running treatment than the energy-expenditure matched +1% gradient running exercise. Taking this into account, individuals

undertaking a prolonged bout of exercise in the heat that includes an eccentric component, such as running or walking across mountainous terrain, might also experience greater heat strain. Given the increase in thermal sensation during HS1 and increase in RPE during HS1 and HS2 after EIMD, the effects of EIMD may be somewhat self-limiting; that is, we anticipate that in many cases, the exercising individual would lower their exercise intensity while exercising in the heat after EIMD. However, it is a common observation in military and athletic scenarios that very motivated and highly experienced individuals choose to ignore some of the normal behavioural thermoregulation cues (Sawka et al., 2011) so they would be at increased risk of EHI as a consequence of EIMD. Likewise, it might be predicted EIMD-associated increased heat strain during exercise in the heat when the exercise intensity is externally regulated, for example, during group exercises in military scenarios.

EIMD has not been proposed as a risk factor for EHI in recent reports (Armstrong et al., 2007; Casa et al., 2012), but our data show that EIMD should be given due consideration as a risk factor for EHI, specifically for exercise in hot environments. Because it has been shown an association, perhaps moderate, between previous acute circulating inflammation and subsequent exercise heat strain, a logical line of exploration is to identify strategies that can diminish inflammation, which in turn may mitigate the rise in T_{re} and diminish the risk of EHI during exercise heat stress. It remains to bedemonstrated, for example, whether the well known repeated bout effect for muscledamaging exercise (Clarkson et al., 1992) or a period of heat acclimatization provides protection from the observed increase in heat strain during exercise heat stress after EIMD. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (e.g., Ibuprofen) are an unsuitable possibility because nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs augment the plasma IL-6 response in ultramarathon runners (Nieman et al., 2006) and increase gastrointestinal permeability, which in turn might increase the risk of EHI through the immune sequelea that results from gastrointestinal endotoxin leakage (Lambert et al., 2001; Lim et al., 2006). Whether actions that dampen inflammation also curtail some of the important cell

signalling and associated physiological adaptations with training remains a debatable point.

It is quite credible that strategies to diminish inflammation may decrease the risk of EHI for athletes and soldiers performing in hot environments in the short term but paradoxically decrease some of the training adaptations in the long term (e.g., anti-inflammatory supplementation using antioxidants (Peternelj and Coombes, 2011; Ristow et al., 2009). Clearly, more evidence is required before we will know whether this is an ill-conceived concept.

In conclusion, these data show that a bout of EIMD, brought about by downhill running, increases heat strain during successive endurance exercise in the heat conducted 30 min after and, to a much lesser extent, 24 h after muscle damage. EIMD evoked increases in the circulating pyrogen IL-6 were associated with increased heat strain during exercise heat stress conducted 30 min after EIMD. These results have practical relevance, particularly for non-heat-acclimated athletes and soldiers undertaking either multiple, or prolonged bouts of heavy exercise with an eccentric component in the heat.

Consequently, it would be of interest to investigate, and adopt strategies that may reduce the risk of EHI following EIMD. Reducing the degree of muscle damage encountered might be a countermeasure to lessen the degree of heat strain encountered. One unexplored avenue of investigation is the well-known repeated bout effect of muscle-damaging exercise, where a single session of eccentric exercise induces adaptations resulting in less evidence of damage when the exercise bout is repeated.

CHAPTER SIX

The influence of the exercise-induced muscle damage repeated-

bout-effect upon heat strain during subsequent exercise in the

heat

6.1. Abstract

Exercise-induced muscle-damage (EIMD) has recently been shown to increase heat strain during exercise-heat-stress (HS), and thereby represents a risk factor for EHI. We hypothesised that a repeated-bout of EIMD blunts the increase in rectal temperature (T_{re}) during subsequent endurance exercise in the heat. Sixteen non-heat-acclimated males were randomly allocated to EIMD (n=9) or control (CON, n=7). EIMD performed a downhill running treatment at -10% gradient for 60 min at 65% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in 20°C, 40% RH. CON participants performed the same treatment but at +1% gradient. Following treatment, participants rested for 30 min, and then performed HS (+1% gradient running for 40 min at 65% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in 33°C, 50% RH) during which thermoregulatory measures were assessed. Both groups repeated the treatment and subsequent HS 14days later. Isometric quadriceps strength was assessed at baseline, and 48-h post treatment. The decrease in leg strength 48-h post EIMD trial 1 (-7.5%), was absent 48-h post EIMD trial 2 (+2.9%) demonstrating a repeated-bout-effect. Final T_{re} during HS was lower following EIMD trial 2 (39.25 \pm 0.47 °C) compared with EIMD trial 1 (39.59 \pm 0.49 °C, P< 0.01), with CON showing no difference. Thermal sensation and the $T_{\rm re}$ threshold for sweating onset were also lower during HS on EIMD trial 2.

The repeated-bout-effect blunted the increase in heat strain during HS conducted after EIMD. Incorporating a muscle-damaging bout into training could be a strategy to reduce the risk of EHI and improve endurance performance in individuals undertaking heavy exercise with an eccentric component in the heat.

6.2. Introduction

Exercising in hot conditions poses one of the greatest challenges to homeostasis of the human body (Armstrong et al., 2007; Sawka et al., 2011). If heat production during exercise is not effectively dissipated, core body temperature can rise to dangerous levels, thereby placing the individual at risk of developing EHI (Armstrong et al., 2007) or the more serious and potentially fatal condition of EHS (Casa et al., 2012; Sawka et al., 2011). In addition to exercising in hot and humid environments, a number of risk factors for EHI/EHS have been identified, including: inappropriate clothing, inadequate heatacclimation, high body mass index, poor physical fitness, dehydration, and underlying medical conditions (Armstrong et al., 2007; Epstein et al., 1999; Rav-Acha et al., 2004; Sawka et al., 2011). Other potential risk factors, which are less well supported include disruption of sleep, and the circulating inflammatory response (Bouchama, 1995; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006; Moore et al., 2013; Shephard and Shek, 1999). Highly motivated, well trained athletes, who may ignore normal thermoregulatory behavioural cues, and military personnel, in whom evaporative cooling is limited due to their occupational clothing, and where exercise intensity is often externally regulated, are two groups who may be at particular risk of EHI/EHS (DeMartini et al., 2014). A number of deaths in athletes and military personnel each year are attributed to EHS (Carter et al., 2005; Casa et al., 2012; Rav-Acha et al., 2004). These groups regularly perform multiple bouts of heavy exercise, often within a short time span and in hot environmental conditions, and often involving an eccentric component (e.g. walking downhill/jumping/lunging etc.).

As discussed previously (**Chapter 5**), it has been recently shown by Fortes et al. (2013), and others (Montain et al., 2000), that prior exercise-induced muscle-damage (EIMD) increases heat strain during exercise-heat-stress conducted shortly after muscle damage. For example, final rectal temperature (T_{re}) was 0.53 °C higher during 40 min of moderate exercise-heat-stress conducted 30 min after 1-hour of EIMD, compared to identical exercise-heat-stress conducted 30 min after 1-hour of non-muscle-damaging control exercise (Fortes et al., 2013). This increased heat strain suggests that

performing exercise with an eccentric component may represent an additional risk factor for EHI.

Clearly, it is of interest to investigate and adopt strategies that may reduce the risk of EHI. It is plausible that reducing the degree of muscle damage encountered will lessen the degree of heat strain encountered. One obvious, but unexplored avenue of investigation is the well-known repeated bout effect of muscle-damaging exercise, where a single session of eccentric exercise induces adaptations resulting in less evidence of damage when the exercise bout is repeated (Clarkson et al., 1992; Clarkson and Hubal, 2002; McHugh et al., 1999). The mechanism to explain this repeated bout effect is not fully understood, though likely involves neural, cellular and mechanical mechanisms (Clarkson et al., 1992; Clarkson and Hubal, 2002; McHugh et al., 1999). In our previous study (Fortes et al., 2013), increased circulating interleukin (IL)-6 concentration following EIMD was associated with increased heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress, a pertinent finding due to a potential inflammatory role in the aetiology of EHI/EHS (Bouchama, 1995; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006; Shephard and Shek, 1999). A dampening of the inflammatory response is one proposed explanation for the repeated bout effect (Pizza et al., 1996), and given that there is some evidence that circulating IL-6 concentration is reduced following a second, repeated bout of EIMD compared with the first bout (Smith et al., 2007) this may provide a mechanism for a potential beneficial repeated bout effect in reducing heat strain. Also, circulating extracellular (e)Hsp 72 was measured as concentrations have been shown to increase following EIMD (Peake et al., 2005). Additionally, eHsp72 itself may have direct pyrogenic effects (Pastukhov et al., 2003), and it provides another measure of the inflammatory response due to its immune-stimulating capability (Asea et al., 2000; Whitham and Fortes, 2008).

With this in mind, the aim of this study was to investigate the influence of the EIMD repeated-bout-effect upon heat strain during subsequent exercise in the heat. To this end, we had non-heat-acclimated participants perform muscle-damaging exercise using

a downhill running model, and then assessed heat strain during an exercise-heat-stress test conducted 30 min post EIMD to coincide with the circulating inflammatory response. This procedure was then repeated 14 days later. We hypothesised that the second (repeated) bout of EIMD would blunt the increase in $T_{\rm re}$ during subsequent exercise-heat-stress compared with the first EIMD trial. In order to discount any potential temporary heat acclimation, or passage of time effects, a separate control group undertook all identical procedures, except that non-muscle-damaging exercise was performed instead of EIMD.

6.3. Methods

6.3.1. Participants

Sixteen healthy, physically active males volunteered to participate in the study, giving fully-informed consent in writing. The study received local ethical approval and was conducted according to the standards required by the Declaration of Helsinki. Characteristics of the participants were as follows: (Mean ± standard deviation): age, 21.9 ± 1.7 yr; nude body mass, 72.3 ± 7.5 kg; height, 176 ± 7 cm; body mass index, 23.1 \pm 1.9 kg·m⁻²; body surface area, 1.88 \pm 0.12 m², and maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}) 59 ± 5 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹. Participants were excluded if they were heat-acclimated, or regularly undertook downhill running or eccentric exercise as part of their normal Participants were non-smokers, and free from any known immune, training. cardiovascular or metabolic disease. To further confirm participants were free from upper-respiratory tract infections, on each of the 14 days preceding both main trials, participants completed an illness-specific questionnaire (WURSS-44) (Barrett et al., 2002). No participants were taking any medication (e.g. non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs) or generic ergogenic supplementation. Participants were asked to refrain from exercise 72 hours prior to, and from alcohol and caffeine 24 hours prior to all exercise bouts.

6.3.2. Study design

Participants were randomised to one of two protocols, EIMD or CON. Nine participants completed an exercise-heat-stress-test 30 min after a treatment of muscle-damaging exercise (EIMD: running downhill on -10% gradient) (trial 1). This protocol was repeated two weeks later (trial 2). A separate control group (CON, n = 7) performed energy expenditure equivalent non-muscle-damaging exercise treatment (CON: running at +1%gradient), followed 30 min later by the exercise-heat-stress test, with the protocol repeated 14 days later. Thermoregulatory measurements (T_{re} , skin temperature (T_{sk}), sweating rate), perceptual measures (thermal sensation, rating of perceived exertion), heart rate, and metabolic energy expenditure, were assessed throughout all heat stress tests. Blood samples were collected at pre-treatment, pre, post and 1-hour post HS on all trials and assessed for circulating inflammatory markers IL-6, IL-10, and heat shock protein (Hsp) 72 concentration. Circulating extracellular (e)Hsp72 was measured as concentrations have been shown to increase following EIMD (Peake et al., 2005). Additionally, eHsp72 itself may have direct pyrogenic effects (Pastukhov et al., 2003), and it provides an other measure of the inflammatory response due to its immunestimulating capability (Asea et al., 2000; Whitham and Fortes, 2008). Isometric leg strength of the quadriceps, and perceived muscle soreness were determined at baseline and 48-hours post trials to assess the degree of muscle damage. There were no differences in anthropometric or fitness data between the groups. An overview of the study design is presented in Figure. 15.



Fig. 15. Schematic of experimental procedures. EIMD, exercise-induced muscle damage; CON, energy expenditure equivalent control exercise; HS, exercise heat stress; RH, relative humidity. ⁺ denotes blood sampling time points. Isometric leg strength was assessed at baseline and 48-hours post HS.

6.3.3. Preliminary testing and familiarisation

The VO_{2max} for each participant was determined by a continuous maximal incremental exercise test to exhaustion performed on a motorised treadmill (HP Cosmos Mercury 4.0, Nussdorf-Traunstein, Germany) (Fortes et al., 2013). Expired gas was analysed by an on-line breath-by-breath system (Cortex Metalyser 3B, Biophysik, Leipzig, Germany). After this, the treadmill running speed, which elicited 65%, VO_{2max} running at +1% gradient was obtained by interpolation of the running speed-VO₂ relationship. A running speed verification was then conducted and employed as the running speed for the treatment on the CON group, and for the heat stress test for both groups. A subsequent

verification was also performed on downhill running at -10% gradient with expired gas analysed on a continuous basis, and with the running speed adjusted accordingly until 65% VO_{2max} was attained. This downhill running verification took no more than 6 minutes, and the verified running speed was used during treatment on those assigned to muscle-damaging (EIMD) trials. Expired gas data were averaged every ten seconds over a period of two minutes during this process of verification. All instrumentation and procedures used in the experimental trials were also presented to participants at this time. Thirty minutes after this verification was completed, maximal isometric leg strength was measured to assess participants' baseline quadriceps leg-strength within 7 days of the first experimental trial. Diet diaries were provided to record all food consumed during the 24 hours prior to, and during the first experimental trial, and participants were instructed to replicate this before and during the second trial 14 days later.

6.3.4. Experimental trials

On the day of each experimental trial participants reported to the laboratory (ambient temperature 20 °C and relative humidity (RH) 40%) at 07:10 am having fasted overnight. Participants were provided fluids to consume (40 mL·kg⁻¹·NBM·d⁻¹) in the prior 24-hour period to ensure they began exercise euhydrated. This was verified by checking that urine-specific gravity (Atago Uricon-Ne refractometer, Atago Co., Ltd. Tokyo, Japan.) upon arrival was less than 1.028 (Armstrong et al., 2010). Participants' fasted condition was verified by a finger-prick blood sample analysed for glucose and ensuring the reading was <6 mg·dl⁻¹ (ACCU-CHECK Aviva, Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Participants' nude body mass (NBM) was then measured on a digital platform scale accurate to the nearest 50 g (model 705, Seca, Hamburg, Germany). A cereal bar equivalent to 8.4 kJ·kg⁻¹ NBM and water (5 ml·kg⁻¹ NBM) was subsequently provided to participants based on this body mass. At 08:15am, baseline NBM was measured, and a resting blood sample was taken before the participant fitted a rectal thermistor and heart rate monitor
(Polar Electro, Kempele, Finland). The participants also rated their perceived muscle soreness at this stage.

6.3.5. Exercise trial treatment

The exercise trial treatment (EIMD or CON) started at 08:30 am, with standardised clothes worn by participants (e.g. running shorts, socks and shoes). Participants ran for 60 min at the individualised predetermined speed that reflected 65% VO_{2max} on either +1 % gradient (CON) or -10% gradient (EIMD). Rectal core temperature and heart rate (HR) were assessed every 10 min, and 60 s expired gas samples were collected by Douglas bag method at 20 and 40 min of exercise, and analysed for VO₂. Water (2 mL·kg⁻¹NBM) was provided throughout treatment every 15 min.

6.3.6. Exercise heat stress

After the treatment, participants sat for 30 min in a temperature-controlled environment (20 °C) during which skin thermistors were applied (Grant EUS-U, Cambridge, UK). Participants were provided with a standardised amount of fluids (2.5 mL·kg⁻¹NBM) during this time. A blood sample was collected and pre-heat stress NBM was determined just before the participant entered an environmental chamber (Delta Environmental System, Chester, UK) which was kept at a dry bulb temperature of 33 °C, 50% RH, and 0.2 m·s⁻¹ face-on wind velocity. Immediately upon entering the chamber, a ventilated capsule was fastened to the forearm (for local sweating rate). Participants then began exercise-heatstress (HS) by running without fluids, on a motorised treadmill at +1% gradient for 40 min at the predetermined set running speed that reflected 65% VO_{2max} . Throughout HS, the following measurements were taken: local forearm sweating rate, HR, T_{re} , physiological strain index (Moran et al., 1998) and skin temperature (T_{sk}) continuously; rating of perceived exertion (RPE, Borg 6-20 scale (Borg, 1982)) and thermal sensation (McGinnis 0-13 points (Hollies and Goldman, 1977)) every 5 min; and 60 s expired gas samples by Douglas bag method (VO₂) every 10 min of exercise. Immediately after HS, participants were removed from the chamber, seated, and a blood sample was taken

after a standardised period of 3 min (post HS). Post HS NBM (following towelled drying) was also determined at this time. Water was provided to replace sweat losses encountered during HS. A further blood sample was taken 1-h post HS. Participants were then provided with a standardised meal (3290 kJ), and fluids to consume until they came back to the laboratory 48-h later for assessment of leg strength and perceived muscle soreness. Participants were required to refrain from any exercise, or ingesting caffeine or alcohol in this 48-h intervening period. The participant left the laboratory and returned 14 days later to repeat the trial (trial 2).

6.3.7. Assessment of muscle damage

Isometric right-leg quadriceps strength was assessed on a dynamometer (HUMAC norm, CSMi, Stoughton, MA, USA). Participants were sat upright and strapped in on their upper extremities to limit excess motion. The chair was adjusted so that the pivot was located on the lateral epicondyle of their right leg. A lever was applied to the right leg and adjusted so that the pad was located on the inferior part of the tibialis anterior. This lever was locked in at an angle of 70 ° leg extension. A warm-up protocol consisted of six sub-maximal repetitions (two repetitions at 25%, 50% and 75% of perceived effort) with a 30 s recovery between each repetition. Following a 2 min rest period, participants were required to exert maximal isometric force against the lever pad. Verbal encouragement was given throughout each repetition. Isometric leg strength of the quadriceps was determined by the peak torque elicited from four maximal 5s contractions (with a 90 s recovery between each). A separate pilot study conducted within our laboratory showed that there was no learning effect for this test, and that peak torque determined from this test has a day-to-day co-efficient variation of 5.5%. Perceived leg muscle soreness was self-rated by participants on a seven-point validated Likert scale (Vickers, 2001), whilst walking up and down the laboratory. The participant was blinded to the scores they had previously reported.

6.3.8. Body temperatures

Rectal core temperature was assessed using a standard flexible, sterile, disposable thermistor (Henleys Medical Supplies Ltd, Herts, UK) inserted 12 cm beyond the anal sphincter, with temperature recorded using a data logger (YSI model 4000A, YSI, Dayton, USA). In both repeated trials participants used the same thermistor. Insulated thermistors (Grant EUS-U, Cambridge, UK) were attached to the skin via surgical tape which conducted heat and allowed evaporation (Hypafix, BSN medical GmbH, Hamburg, Germany), and were used to measure T_{sk} at four sites on the left side of the body (on the chest at a point equi-distant to the acromion process and the nipple, the anterior mid-bicep, the anterior mid-thigh, and the lateral calf). The amount of tape used was standardised both between and within participants. Temperature data were registered using a portable data logger (Grant SQ2020, Cambridge, UK). Mean T_{sk} was calculated using a four-site weighted equation (Ramanathan, 1964).

6.3.9. Sweating responses

Whole-body sweating rate was estimated from nude body mass losses during HS. Local forearm sweating rate was measured by dew-point hygrometry. Anhydrous compressed nitrogen was passed through a 5 cm² capsule placed on the lower arm ventral surface (half-way between the antecubital fossa and carpus), and connected to a hygrometry system (DS2000, Alpha Moisture System, UK). Local forearm sweating rate was calculated using the difference in water content between effluent and influent air and the flow rate (1 L·min⁻¹), and normalised for the skin surface area under the capsule (expressed in mg·cm⁻²·min⁻¹). Sweating threshold and sensitivity were calculated by plotting the individual relationship between local forearm sweating rate and T_{re} values. A simple linear regression equation for the first 6 min of exercise was calculated, with the threshold T_{re} for active thermoregulatory sweating defined as the T_{re} at which local forearm sweating rate = 0.06 mg·cm⁻²·min⁻¹ (Buettner, 1959). Sweating sensitivity during the exercise transient phase was calculated as the slope of this linear regression line.

6.3.10. Rate of metabolic energy expenditure (M)

Oxygen consumption (VO₂) was calculated from 60 s expired air samples collected into a Douglas bag and analysed for O₂ and CO₂ concentrations by a paramagnetic and infrared gas analyser (Servomex 5200 Multipurpose, Crowborough, UK), and volume (Harvard Apparatus, Edenbridge, UK). Respiratory exchange ratio (RER) was calculated, and \dot{M} was determined using VO₂ (L·min⁻¹) and RER in the following equation (Nishi, 1981):

 \dot{M} (W) = VO₂ (21166 [0.23 (RER) + 0.77])/60.

6.3.11. Blood collection, handling and analysis

Whole blood samples were collected by venepuncture from an antecubital fossa vein and gathered into two K₂EDTA and one lithium-heparin vacutainer tubes (BD, Oxford, UK). Haematocrit (capillary method in triplicate) using a micro-haematocrit reader (Hawksley & Sons Ltd., Lancing, UK) and haemoglobin concentration using a photometer (Haemocue, Sheffield, UK) were both analysed immediately on heparinised whole blood in triplicate with plasma volume change calculated (Dill and Costill, 1974). The remaining whole blood was spun in a refrigerated centrifuge at 1500 g for 10 min, with the plasma aspirated, aliquoted into reaction tubes, and frozen at -80 °C for subsequent analysis. Circulating IL-6 and IL-10 concentrations were assessed on EDTA derived plasma using commercially available high-sensitivity ELISAs (Quantikine® HS IL-6, HS600B; Quantikine® HS IL-10, HS100C, R&D Systems Europe, Abingdon, UK). Circulating eHsp72 concentration was also assessed by commercially available ELISA (Hsp72 EIA kit, ADI-EKS-700B, Enzo Life Sciences LTD, Farmingdale, USA). Intra-assay co-efficient of variation for circulating IL-6, IL-10 and eHsp72 concentration was 3.2 %, 5 %, and 3 % respectively. For all biochemical analyses, all participants' samples were always assayed on the same plate.

6.3.12. Statistical analysis

A sample size calculation was performed (G*Power, 3.1.5) using mean and standard deviation T_{re} data from our previous study (Fortes et al., 2013). For a two-tailed test with alpha level set at 0.05, and power set at 0.8, it was deemed appropriate to recruit a minimum of 7 participants in each group to detect a meaningful difference in final T_{re} during subsequent exercise in the heat. Due to recruitment randomisation, 9 participants were recruited into the EIMD group, and 7 into CON. All data were checked for normality and sphericity. Data were analysed within condition (i.e. EIMD trial 1 *vs* trial 2), using two way repeated measures ANOVA or paired t-tests as appropriate. Bonferroni-adjusted paired t-test post-hoc procedures were used to determine within-subject differences. Pearson product moment correlation was also performed to assess the relationship between change in leg strength 48h after EIMD with change in T_{re} during HS. All data were analysed using SPSS version 20 software (IBM, NY, USA). Data are presented as means \pm SD. Statistical significance was accepted as P < 0.05.

6.4. Results

6.4.1. Treatment responses

The experimental model was successful in demonstrating a repeated bout effect of muscle damage, since the decrease in isometric leg strength 48h following EIMD trial 1 (-7.5 % *vs* baseline), was absent 48 h post EIMD 2 (+2.9 % *vs* baseline) (*P* < 0.01 versus trial 1, **Fig. 16A**), and the increase in perceived muscle soreness 48-h post EIMD in trial 1, was blunted in trial 2 (*P* < 0.05, **Fig. 16C**). The control group did not demonstrate any differences in leg strength (*P* = 0.37, **Fig. 16B**) or muscle soreness (*P* = 0.60, **Fig. 16D**) between trial 1 and trial 2. There were no differences between trials 1 and 2 in either EIMD or CON for ΔT_{re} during treatment (EIMD trial 1, 1.84 ± 0.35, trial 2 = 1.77 ± 0.43 °C, *P* = 0.53; CON trial 1 = 1.36 ± 0.49, trial 2 = 1.48 ± 0.43 °C, *P* = 0.42).



Fig. 16. Markers of muscle damage (leg strength peak torque (a and b) and muscle soreness (c and d)) assessed 48-h after either 60 min exercise-induced muscle damage (-10% gradient running at 65% VO_{2max}, EIMD, triangles, n = 9, a and c) or 60 min of control exercise (+1% gradient running at 65% VO_{2max}, CON, circles, n = 7, b and d). Trial 1 represents the first bout, trial 2 represents the repeated bout performed 14 days later. Individual responses are shown, with mean data shown as solid black squares. # P < 0.05, ##P < 0.01 vs trial 1.

6.4.2. Exercise heat stress responses

Rectal temperature, skin temperature and physiological strain index

Rectal core and T_{sk} responses to HS are presented in **Fig. 17**. There were no significant differences in T_{re} and T_{sk} responses to HS between CON trial 1 and CON trial 2 (**Figs. 17B, 17D, 17F**), confirming that there was no temporary heat acclimation effect of the first HS test on the second HS test or time effect on heat strain responses to HS. All participants on EIMD had a lower final T_{re} during HS on EIMD trial 2 (39.25 ± 0.47 °C)

compared with EIMD trial 1 (39.59 ± 0.49 °C, P < 0.01, **Fig. 17A**), with only two participants showing evidence of mild hyperthermia during HS on EIMD trial 2 (final $T_{re} >$ 39.5 °C) compared with seven on EIMD trial 1. Physiological strain index was lower during HS on EIMD trial 2 (6.8 ± 2.8) compared with EIMD trial 1 (7.3 ± 3.1, P < 0.01). There was no significant difference in starting T_{re} between EIMD trial 1 and 2 before HS, but T_{re} was significantly lower on EIMD trial 2 compared with EIMD trial 1 throughout HS (main effect of trial, F = 22.2, P < 0.01), with a trend for an interaction (F = 2.9, P = 0.09, **Fig. 17C**). The ΔT_{re} during HS was also lower after EIMD trial 2 (1.61±0.33 °C) than trial 1 (1.81±0.40 °C, P < 0.05) and the ΔT_{re} during HS correlated moderately with leg strength loss 48-h post EIMD (r = 0.46, P = 0.05). There was no repeated bout effect on mean T_{sk} during HS following EIMD (P = 0.32), **Fig. 17E**).



Fig. 17. Final rectal temperature (T_{re} , a and b), absolute rectal temperature (T_{re} , c and d) and mean skin temperature (T_{sk} , e and f) responses during exercise-heat-stress tests which involved running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33°C, 50% RH conducted 30 min after treatment which involved either exercise-induced muscle damage (-10% gradient running, EIMD, triangles, n = 9) or control exercise (+1% gradient running, CON, circles, n = 7). Note: due to individual skin thermistors becoming detached during HS, T_{sk} data (figs. E and F) are presented in those with a full data set (n = 7 EIMD, n = 6 CON). Individual responses are shown for final T_{re} (a and b), with mean data shown as solid black squares (## P < 0.01 versus trial 1). For panels c-f, mean \pm SD data are shown, with trial 1 representing the first bout (filled symbols), and trial 2 representing the repeated bout performed 14d later (open symbols). § Trial 2 significantly lower than trial 1 (main effect of trial, P < 0.05).

6.4.3. Sweating rate and plasma volume change

Whole body sweating rate was not different between the EIMD trials during HS (EIMD trial 1 = 23.3 ± 5.0, EIMD trial 2 = 23.0 ± 7.6 mL·min⁻¹, P = 0.89), but there was a tendency for a higher forearm local sweating rate on EIMD trial 2 (F = 2.6, P = 0.08) during HS on EIMD trials (**Fig. 18A**). Although there was no difference in sweating sensitivity between EIMD trials during the initial transient exercise phase (P = 0.17), the threshold temperature for sweating onset was significantly lower on EIMD trial 2 than EIMD trial 1 = 37.74 ± 0.16 °C, EIMD trial 2 = 37.58 ± 0.24 °C, P < 0.05; **Fig. 18B**). No differences were observed during HS for sweating rate, sweating onset, or sweating sensitivity between CON trial 1 and 2. There was no effect on plasma volume change following HS on EIMD or CON trials.



Fig. 18. Local forearm sweating rate reported as a function of time (a), and as a function of rectal temperature (T_{re} , b) during exercise-heat-stress tests which involved running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50% RH conducted 30 min after exercise-induced muscle damage (-10% gradient running, n = 9). Trial 1 represents the first bout (filled triangles), trial 2 represents the repeated bout performed 14d later (open triangles). Values are means (±SD in fig A). # Significantly different T_{re} for sweating onset (P < 0.05).

6.4.4. Rate of metabolic energy expenditure, RER and HR

There were no between-trial differences on EIMD for mean \dot{M} (trial 1 =1045 ± 115, trial 2 =1030 ± 128 W, *P*=0.21), indicating no improvement in running economy between trials. These metabolic rates equated to 75% ± 5% and 74% ± 6% VO_{2max} for EIMD trial 1 and trial 2 respectively, during HS. No difference was observed in mean RER or HR between EIMD trial 1 and EIMD trial 2 during HS (RER: EIMD trial 1 = 0.88 ± 0.03, EIMD trial 2 = 0.88 ± 0.04, *P* = 0.80, HR EIMD trial 1 = 176 ± 14 beats·min⁻¹, EIMD trial 2 = 175 ± 12 beats·min⁻¹, *P* = 0.54). No differences were observed during treatment for mean \dot{M} between CON trial 1 and 2.

6.4.5. RPE and thermal sensation

Thermal sensation and RPE data for EIMD are presented in **Fig. 19**. Participants rated their thermal sensation lower throughout HS following EIMD trial 2 compared with trial 1 (main effect of trial, F = 6.5, P < 0.05, **Fig. 19A**). There was a trend (main effect of trial, F = 3.7, P = 0.09) for participants to rate their perceived exertion lower during HS following EIMD trial 2 compared with EIMD 1 (**Fig. 19B**). No differences were observed during HS for RPE or thermal sensation between CON trial 1 and 2.



Fig. 19. Thermal sensation (a), and rating of perceived exertion (RPE, b) during exercise-heat-stress tests which involved running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33 °C, 50% RH conducted 30 min after exercise-induced muscle damage (-10% gradient running, n = 9). Trial 1 represents the first bout (filled triangles), trial 2 represents the repeated bout performed 14d later (open triangles). § Trial 2 significantly lower than trial 1 (main effect of trial, P < 0.05). Data are mean ± SD.

6.4.6. Plasma IL-6 and IL-10, and eHsp72

Circulating concentrations of IL-6, IL-10 and eHsp72 responses to EIMD are depicted in **Fig. 20**. There was no EIMD repeated bout effect on the inflammatory response between trial 1 and 2 for IL-6 (F = 2.3, P = 0.11), IL-10 (F = 0.7, P = 0.45), or eHsp72 concentrations (F = 0.8, P = 0.45). Similarly, there were no between trial effects on CON for IL-6 (F = 0.9, P = 0.44), IL-10 (F = 0.2, P = 0.73), or eHsp72 concentration (F = 2.2, P = 0.15).



Fig. 20. Plasma interleukin (IL)-6 (a), plasma IL-10 (b), and extracellular heat shock protein (Hsp) 72 (c) concentrations at baseline, pre, post and 1h-post exercise-heat stress (HS), which involved running for 40 min at 65% VO_{2max} in 33°C, 50% RH, conducted 30 min after exercise-induced muscle damage (-10% gradient running, n = 9). Trial 1 represents the first bout (filled triangles), trial 2 represents the repeated bout performed 14d later (open triangles). No significant effects. Data are mean ± SD.

6.5. Discussion

We have recently shown that an acute bout of EIMD increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress (HS), and thus, EIMD likely poses a risk factor for EHI (Fortes et al., 2013). The aim of the present study was to investigate if the well-known repeated bout effect for EIMD (Clarkson et al., 1992; McHugh et al., 1999) would blunt the increase in heat strain during subsequent exercise-heat-stress. In line with our hypothesis, heat strain was reduced (0.34 °C lower final T_{re}) during HS following the second EIMD bout, compared with the first bout. Furthermore, 7 of 9 participants showed evidence of mild hyperthermia (final $T_{re} > 39.5$ °C) during HS on EIMD trial 1 compared with only 2 of 9 participants during HS following EIMD trial 2. In addition, we observed a lower temperature threshold for sweating onset, a lower thermal sensation and a lower physiological strain index during HS after the second EIMD bout. This lessened heat strain during HS on the repeated EIMD trial was not due to temporary heat acclimation as a consequence of the first HS bout, nor due to passage of time effects, since no difference in heat strain was observed in the control group. By blunting the increase in thermal strain during exercise-heat-stress, incorporating a muscledamaging bout into training could be used as a practical strategy to reduce the risk of EHI, and improve exercise performance, in individuals undertaking subsequent heavy exercise bouts with an eccentric component in the heat.

Unaccustomed and/or heavy eccentric exercise is known to result in EIMD, and is characterised by decreased muscle strength, and increased muscle soreness in the days following EIMD (Clarkson et al., 1992; Clarkson and Hubal, 2002). We utilised a downhill running model to evoke moderate, realistic muscle damage, evidenced by significant decreases in leg strength (-7.5%), and increases in muscle soreness 48-h post EIMD trial 1. This degree of muscle damage is equivalent to experiencing 'a light pain when walking' (Vickers, 2001) and therefore likely reflects the degree of muscle damage that may be encountered by soldiers and athletes undergoing unaccustomed exercise with an eccentric component. Research has consistently shown, that a prior

muscle-damaging bout produces a protective adaptation that results in lesser symptoms of EIMD when the muscle-damaging bout is repeated (e.g. blunted losses of leg strength, and reductions in muscle soreness) (Byrnes et al., 1985; Clarkson et al., 1992; McHugh et al., 1999). The success of the repeated bout effect was demonstrated herein, since leg strength was restored to baseline levels, and muscle soreness was significantly reduced 48-h following the repeated bout of EIMD.

Heat strain during HS was reduced following the second, repeated bout of EIMD compared with the first, with the ΔT_{re} , and final T_{re} reduced 0.2 °C and 0.34 °C respectively during HS on EIMD trial 2 compared with trial 1. The final T_{re} on EIMD trial 2 was similar to the final $T_{\rm re}$ observed in the control group during HS on both CON trials (Fig. 17 c and d), although we acknowledge that these groups were composed of different individuals, so are not directly comparable. In our previous study (Fortes et al., 2013), final $T_{\rm re}$ was 0.53 °C higher during HS following EIMD compared to control nonmuscle-damaging exercise in a repeated measures design, whilst Montain et al. (2000), also demonstrated ~0.3 °C greater body temperature during HS following muscledamaging exercise compared to control exercise. It therefore appears that a prior bout of EIMD provides a significant degree of protection against the increased heat strain that EIMD elicits during subsequent exercise-heat-stress. It is acknowledged the limitation that it has not been established a performance benefit due to the reduced heat strain but anticipate a delay in reaching a critical core temperature (purported to be ~40 °C (Gonzalez-Alonso et al., 1999)) after repeated EIMD. Further research should investigate whether the observed reduction in thermal strain with repeated EIMD translates into a meaningful performance improvement. In this regard, its noteworthy that a similar reduction in final exercising T_{re} (-0.3 °C) during exercise-heat-stress after 5 d heat acclimation brought about a 14% improvement in endurance performance during exercise in the heat (Garrett et al., 2009). Additional confidence in our findings could be added, since a particular strength of the current study is that a comparable control group was used in order to discount confounding heat acclimation or passage of

time effects. Previous research has also shown no effect of a single prior heat stress bout on subsequent thermoregulatory responses during exercise heat stress conducted 14 days later (Barnett and Maughan, 1993).

The circulating IL-6 response to muscle-damaging exercise has been shown to be higher compared with non-muscle-damaging exercise (Bruunsgaard et al., 1997), a finding supported by our previous study (Fortes et al., 2013) where the elevated circulating IL-6 concentration following EIMD correlated with the final T_{re} attained during subsequent HS. An elevated circulating IL-6 prior to heat stress is significant, given potential involvement of the acute inflammatory response in the aetiology of EHI (Bouchama, 1995; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006; Shephard and Shek, 1999; Walsh et al., 2011). A "dampening" of the inflammatory response is one proposed explanation for the repeated bout effect (Pizza et al., 1996). Indeed, a previous study has shown reduced pyrogenic cytokines (IL-6), and increased anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10) in the 12 hours following a repeated bout of muscle damage evoked by downhill running (Smith et al., 2007), although this finding is not supported by studies that have used different models of muscle damage (e.g. isokinetic knee extensor exercise (Croisier et al., 1999; Willoughby et al., 2003)). Therefore, it was of intereste in whether the hypothesised reduction in heat strain could be accounted for by an altered circulating inflammatory response following EIMD. However, it was not observed any difference in pyrogenic IL-6 or anti-inflammatory IL-10 response either prior to, or after heat stress between the two EIMD bouts. It should be noted that in the study by Smith et al. (2007), cytokine concentrations were averaged over the 12 hour period following EIMD, thereby not providing useful information on the kinetics of the early inflammatory response immediately following EIMD. eHsp72 concentration was also assesed, which has been shown to be elevated following downhill running (Peake et al., 2005), and is known to act as a "danger signal" activating the immune system (Horowitz and Robinson, 2007; Whitham and Fortes, 2008) including IL-6 (Asea et al., 2000). Furthermore, eHsp72 itself may have direct pyrogenic effects (Pastukhov et al., 2003). Nevertheless, we did

not observe a difference in circulating eHsp72 concentration between EIMD trials. It is noteworthy, however, that the circulating IL-6 and eHsp72 responses prior to HS during EIMD trial 1 were modest when compared with more metabolically challenging activities such as marathon running (Fehrenbach et al., 2005; Nieman et al., 2001), and therefore provided little margin for dampened responses.

Muscle-damaging exercise increases steady state exercising VO₂ following downhill running (Braun and Dutto, 2003), and rodent models have shown decreased contraction economy in damaged muscle fibres (Warren, III et al., 1996). One might therefore anticipate improved running economy during HS on the second EIMD trial. However, this was not the case, since \dot{M} during HS was similar on both EIMD trials. EIMD has also been shown to inhibit glycogen resynthesis (O'Reilly et al., 1987), yet altered metabolism is also an unlikely mechanism since RER was not different between EIMD trials. Whilst there was no effect on T_{sk} , we did observe a lower temperature threshold for sweating onset, and a lower thermal sensation during HS on the second EIMD bout. The mechanism(s) for how a muscle-damaging bout of exercise 14 d earlier decreased the threshold T_{re} for sweating onset during HS following a repeated-bout of EIMD remains unclear. There may be shared pathways with the concept of cross-tolerance, where adaptations to one stressor confer protection via molecular, cellular and neural interactions to other forms of stressor (Horowitz, 2014; Horowitz and Robinson, 2007). This process is thought to be mediated, in part, by intra-cellular Hsp's, and it has been suggested that acquired thermotolerance (the accumulation of protective Hsp's within cells following heat exposure), and systemic adaptations to heat acclimation share a common pathway (Kuennen et al., 2011). This may be pertinent since EIMD has been shown to increase Hsp72 and Hsp27 expression within muscle cells following EIMD (Paulsen et al., 2009; Thompson et al., 2001), and that the changes we observed during HS on EIMD trial 2, reflect similar adaptations to those observed during heat acclimation (reduced exercising T_{re} , earlier sweating onset, reduced thermal sensation). Furthermore, a smaller intracellular heat shock response is shown in heat-intolerant

military personnel (Moran et al., 2006). It is acknowledged a limitation of the current study is that it has not been assessed intra-cellular Hsp's. It is possible that increases in Hsp's within muscle cells following the first EIMD bout confer some degree of heat acclimation evident 14 d later but future work is required to investigate this. It remains to be shown whether muscle-damaging exercise provides cross-tolerance against other novel stressors.

Non-heat-acclimated individuals undertaking heavy training bouts with an eccentric component in the heat are likely at increased risk of developing EHI (Fortes et al., 2013; Montain et al., 2000) e.g. athletes performing unaccustomed exercise, or soldiers running or walking across mountainous terrain. Considered alongside our present findings this work might help to explain why EHS in athletes, soldiers and labourers typically occurs in the first four days of unaccustomed heavy exertion in the heat (Armstrong et al., 2007; Cluver, 1932). The present findings indicate that this risk can be mitigated by incorporating a bout of muscle-damaging exercise into the training regimen, prior to travel/deployment to hot environments, but this requires further investigation. Further research should also investigate the duration of the demonstrated protective effect and confirm whether other models of eliciting EIMD, e.g. drop-jumps, have a comparable protective effect to that shown here with downhill treadmill running, with the added practical benefit of allowing a large number of individuals to be treated at once.

In conclusion, the repeated-bout-effect blunted the increase in heat strain during exercise-heat-stress conducted after EIMD, as shown by reduced exercising T_{re} , reduced thermal sensation, and earlier sweating onset. Incorporating a muscle-damaging bout into training could be a strategy to reduce the risk of EHI and improve endurance performance in individuals undertaking heavy exercise with an eccentric component in the heat.

CHAPTER SEVEN

General Discussion

7.1. Background

Extreme temperature exposure or single-day, multiple strenuous exercise bouts (singly or in any combination) are common in active populations (e.g. military personnel, athletes, outdoor enthusiasts). These individuals can resultantly have an increased susceptibility to URTI or be predisposed to EHI and EHS.

Anecdotal evidence points towards cold exposure increasing one's susceptibility to infections. Evidence to support such a link between cold exposure and an increased infection incidence is notably lacking in available human studies (Castellani and Rhind, 2002). The few human studies to investigate the effect of cold exposure on immune function report conflicting information that is dependent on the degree of hypothermia, the health of the individual, and the immune parameters studied (Lackovic et al., 1988; Brenner et al., 1999; Wenisch et al., 1996; Costa et al., 2010). Collectively, these studies suggest that lowering core temperature (core body temperature decrease > 1 °C) can disrupt circulating immune function, which may partly explain the increased URTI reported after cold exposure. Limitations of previous research are that they included unhealthy populations (e.g. patients undergoing surgery) and they did not perform a thermoneutral control trial (Wenisch et al., 1996; Beilin et al., 1998). Therefore it is unclear whether surgery, anaesthesia, existing comorbidity and diurnal variation have independent effects for the altered immune function reported. It therefore remained to be shown in healthy humans whether immune function is impaired when core temperature is reduced (e.g. core temperature decrease of 1–2 °C).

Oppositely, active populations such as athletes and soldiers taking part in heavy training are also expected to perform multiple bouts of strenuous exercise in hot environments, which may predispose them to EHI or the more severe form, and EHS. Conventionally classified risk factors for EHI and EHS include hot and humid environmental conditions, unsuitable clothing, sleep disruption, absence of heat acclimation, high exercise intensity, poor physical fitness levels (or obesity) and undiagnosed medical conditions (Armstrong et al., 2007; Epstein et al., 1999; Rav-Acha et al., 2004). These conventional risk factors

do not however explain all EHI events, this begs the question: "Which lesser known risk factors or pathways might play important roles in many cases of EHI?" (Sawka et al., 2011)

One further pathway was suggested for EHI progression; this relates to a systemic inflammatory reaction with an incremental increase in pyrogenic cytokines [e.g., interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and TNF -a] (Bouchama, 1995; Lambert et al., 2001; Shephard and Shek, 1999). This may result in quicker progression toward EHI and/or EHS (Walsh et al., 2011). If firm evidence of a pyrogenic cytokines role in the development of EHI is uncovered, it would be of great interest to investigate, and develop strategies of avoiding or managing EHI.

Reducing the amount of muscle damage and inflammation would plausibly decrease heat strain. Indeed, evidence showed that over 80% of all EHI casualties reported during Marine recruits' training occurred in the first 3 days of unaccustomed exercise in the heat (Kark et al., 1996). This is also supported by data collected during Operation TELIC in the summer of 2003 where a heat illness rate of 50/1000 was recorded during the first 10-14 days of deployment among troops that were performing arduous physical activity prior the commencement of this doctorate (Bolton et al., 2006). One obvious, but as yet un-investigated avenue is the well-known repeated bout effect in muscle-damaging exercise, where a single session of eccentric exercise causes adaptations which in-turn result in decreased damage from subsequent training (Clarkson et al. 1992; Clarkson and Hubal 2002; McHugh et al. 1999).

This thesis, therefore aimed to investigate:

- 1. The effect of mild hypothermia and prolonged cold exposure on healthy humans using measures of immune function.
- Whether exercise-induced muscle damage (EIMD) exacerbates heat strain during subsequent exercise-heat-stress, which may in due course increase the subject's risk of exertional heat illness.

3. Whether a repeated-bout of EIMD lower the increase in rectal temperature (T_{re}) experienced during subsequent endurance exercise under determined heat conditions.

7.2. Summary of main findings

Firstly, during mild hypothermia we observed a decreased antigen-stimulated wholeblood culture IFN-Y production and an increase in circulating leukocytes, and plasma cortisol, adrenaline and noradrenaline levels in healthy humans. Conversely, neutrophil degranulation (bacterially stimulated elastase release per neutrophil), plasma elastase concentration and production of antigen stimulated IL-4 were unchanged. Despite rewarming and feeding the adaptive immunity was suppresed for at leat 3-hours (Chapter 4). To the best of our knowledge, for the first time it has been showed that cold exposure and mild-hypothermia do not alter neutrophil degranulation, or antigenstimulated IL-4 production but did lower antigen-stimulated IFN- Υ production. In addition, despite rewarming and feeding, IFN-y production did not return to control values within the 3-hour recovery period. Collectively, these findings might therefore, at least in part, explain the increased susceptibility to upper respiratory tract infections reported after cold exposure. Future research should confirm present findings and should investigate strategies to blunt the immune suppression following cold exposure and mild hypothermia in order to decrease the risk of infections for those involved in activities in cold environments.

Secondly, we found evidence that, in non-heat-acclimated males, the $\Delta T_{\rm re}$ increased during exercise heat stress when performed 30 min after moderate muscle-damaging exercise (timed to match the early inflammatory phase). This resulted in a ~0.5 °C rise in final $T_{\rm re}$ during 40 min of moderate exercise heat stress (HS1) for the muscle damaged participants (final $T_{\rm re} \sim 39.5$ °C).

It was also found that the preceding EIMD evoked an increase in plasma IL-6 concentration which was associated (r = 0.67) with increased heat strain during HS1. It was also observed a meaningful, albeit small, increase in ΔT_{re} when exercise heat

stress was timed to coincide with deferred muscle inflammatory phase (24 h after moderate muscle-damaging exercise (**Chapter 5**). Data presented here, therefore show that a bout of EIMD, brought about by downhill running, increases heat strain during successive endurance exercise in the heat conducted 30 min after and, to a much lesser extent, 24 h after muscle damage. In line with previous literature, EIMD evoked increases in the circulating pyrogen IL-6 were associated with increased heat strain during exercise heat stress conducted 30 min after EIMD. These results have practical relevance, particularly for non-heat-acclimated athletes and soldiers undertaking either multiple, or prolonged bouts of heavy exercise with an eccentric component in the heat. Consequently, it has been of interest to investigate, and provide strategies that could reduce the risk of EHI following EIMD. Quite naturally, it has been thought that reducing the degree of muscle damage encountered could be a countermeasure to lessen the degree of heat strain encountered. One unexplored avenue of investigation was the wellknown repeated bout effect of muscle-damaging exercise, where a single session of eccentric exercise induces adaptations resulting in less evidence of damage when the exercise bout is repeated.

We recorded reduced heat strain (0.34 °C lower final T_{re}) during HS post a second EIMD bout, compared to after the initial bout. Other observations include a lower temperature threshold for sweating onset, decreased thermal sensation and a decreased physiological strain index during HS after the second EIMD bout. No difference in pro-inflammatory IL-6 or anti-inflammatory IL-10 response was observed either prior to or after heat stress between EIMD bouts. In addition, an assessment of eHsp72 concentration showed it to be elevated following downhill running (Peake et al., 2005). Nevertheless, no difference was observed between EIMD trials in the concentration of circulating eHsp72 (**Chapter 6**). As showed by this data the repeated-bout-effect blunted the increase in heat strain during exercise-heat-stress conducted after EIMD, as shown by reduced exercising T_{re} , reduced thermal sensation, and earlier sweating onset. Therefore, incorporating a muscle-damaging bout into training could be a strategy to reduce the

risk of EHI and improve endurance performance in individuals undertaking heavy exercise with an eccentric component in the heat.

Future research should investigate where improved acclimation protocols or crossacclimation adaptations would further improve safety for those at risk of EHI.

7.3. Effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on circulating leukocyte counts and their function

Circulating leukocytes were increased by 50% immediately following cold exposure and were higher than in the thermo-neutral control group throughout the recovery phase. This rather modest leucocytosis could possibly be explained by neutrophil demargination from the vascular endothelium, a consequence of shearing and increased concentrations of neuro-hormones (Brenner et al., 1998; Malpica et al., 2002; Ramel, 2003; Ramel and Peake, 2004; Ortega et al., 2005; Bote et al., 2008; Laing et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2011).

The circulating leukocytes increase was primarily due to a 93% neutrophil increase. This significant neutrophilia has been reported previously (Fedor and Fisher, 1959; Villalobos et al., 1955; Blair et al., 1969). Indeed, Blair and colleagues (1969) reported a circulating neutrophil increase in septic patients when they were cooled to 34°C. On the contrary, in an animal study Biggar et al. (1983) found hypothermia to be associated with a notable reduction in mature and immature neutrophil release into circulation from the bone marrow.

We measured neutrophil function by bacterially stimulating neutrophil degranulation. This increased after cold exposure, however no differences were observed between trials. This observation is inconsistent with previous findings, where these had shown that a modest cooling of the whole body ($T_{\rm re}$ 35.9 °C) has lead to decreased neutrophil degranulation (Costa et al., 2011). This discrepancy underlines how unclear the neutrophilia mediators and cold responsive decrease in neutrophil degranulation are:

they are simply not as defined as had previously been thought and this requires further research.

A lymphocyte decline (-13%) was observed both during and after exposure to cold air with a return to control values after 3 hours. Previous studies reported that T cell population changes are proportional to stress duration and intensity, and that this is to a lesser extent true of changes in B cell populations (Gleeson et al., 2005). T cells are fundamental to the orchestration and regulation of cell-mediated immune responses to pathogens (Shephard and Shek, 1999). One important consequence of deficient T cell function is increased viral infections incidence (Fabbri et al., 2003). The lymphocyte decrease might contribute to the increased URTI susceptibility widely reported during winter. It is yet to be seen whether this decline is merely due to cold exposure or if it stems from shivering and involuntary tonic contractions, which count as acute physical exercise (Rhind et al., 2001).

The monocyte count showed a short initial increase as mild hypothermia set in, but beyond this it was unaltered by cold air exposure. One explanation of this rise could be the thermogenic activity, which is regarded to be exercise-stress. Indeed, transient monocytosis has been reported during physical exercise. The most likely cause is the shifting of monocytes into the circualtion pool (Rhind et al., 2001).

7.4. Effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on circulating citokines

Antigen-stimulated whole-blood culture IFN-γ production decreased immediately after cold exposure and remained 69% lower than the thermo-neutral control trial throughout the 3-hours recovery. Antigen-stimulated IL-4 production was unaltered by cold exposure. Th1 cells mediated the release of cytokines (such as interferons) and they are important to defence against intracellular pathogens (D'Elios et al., 2007). Prolonged moderate-intensity exercise has been found to depress Th1 cell production (Gleeson et al., 2005). This was the first study to report that other stress factors (e.g. cold) might adversely affect interferon production. Present results might indicate that a cold

exposure-induced decrease in adaptive immunity capability might increase the likelihood pathogen susceptibility, even during recovery. This is due to the fact that the adaptive immunity response follows an initiation process. The antigen is presented to T helper lymphocytes at the peptide binding groove on major histocompatibility complex class II molecules on antigen-presenting CD4+ T cells. This is key to the cell-mediated immune response, since they direct and orchestrate the adaptive immune response to viruses and bacteria. Decreased IFN- γ production might result in suppressed cellular immune system response to invading micro-organisms, since they act with immunostimulatory and immunomodulatory effects and directly inhibit viral replication (Gleeson et al., 2011).

As mentioned above, IL-4 productions remained unaltered by cold exposure and this is in line with literature evidence that IL-4 can be produced in response to prolonged, moderate intensity exercise (Gleeson et al., 2005). The steady concentration of this cytokine could be indicating that leukocyte function was unaffected during cold exposure. It is known that monocytes, lymphocytes and B cells have roles in IL-4 production, and that a combination of this and IL-10 can interrupt Type-1 T-cell cytokine production (Steensberg, 2003). On study showed that strenuous exercise decreases circulating type-1 T-cells, whereas the percentage of Type-2 T-cells was unaffected. Cortisol and adrenaline both decrease Type-1 T-cell cytokine production, whereas IL-6 stimulates Type-2 T cell cytokine production (**Chapter 4**).

The role played by IL-4 and IL-6 in a hypothermic scenario is as yet not well established. What is known is that it activates B cells and T cell proliferation and regulates adaptive immunity responses (Paul et al., 1997). This is usually coupled with IL-10, another antiinflammatory cytokine. There is evidence that IL-10 production from microglia, on the contrary, decreases proportionally to the decrease in body core temperature (Matsui et al., 2004). This decrease is beneficial, since excessive levels of IL-10 are detrimental to the central nervous system.

7.5. Effect of cold exposure and mild hypothermia on neurotransmitters

Innate immunity is affected by adrenaline, noradrenaline and cortisol as outlined above. Plasma noradrenaline increase upon exposure to cold due to SAM axis stimulation. This promotes shivering thermogenesis, vasoconstriction and endogenous substrate breakdown (Castellani et al., 2002).

Neurotransmitters are also known to regulate both innate immune cell function and leucocytosis by bone marrow release and demargination (Ortega, 2003). In this context, the main effectors of the quick rise in circulating neutrophils seem to be catecholamines since they are rapidly released into the blood, and stimulate an immediate immune cells response (Brenner et al., 1998). The modest increase observed in plasma cortisol $(\sim 12 \ \%)$ from cold exposure is not thought likely to account for the observed changes in leukocyte trafficking considering the time required for cortisol to affect immune responses (Goldstein-Golaire et al., 1970; Jefferies, 1991). Supporting this is the fact that a few hours after cold exposure there was no delayed blood leukocytes increase due to cortisol-induced release of neutrophils from the bone marrow (Gagnon et al., 2014). That the second increase in leukocyte trafficking elicited by cortisol is dependent upon exercise intensity and duration has been shown (Fragala et al., 2011) and high-intensity exercise results in significant cortisol elevation (200% from Jacks et al., 2002), although this is unlikely to be the case in the present study. Additionally, any significant cortisol effects tend to be reported once the plasma cortisol concentration exceeds the capacity of the corticosteroid-binding globulin (550 nmol l⁻¹) and the free cortisol concentration increases (Costa et al., 2011). This is not the case in the present study where the highest concentration of plasma cortisol recorded was 498 \pm 158 nmol l⁻¹ during mildhypothermia. This additionally supports the idea that cortisol did not play a main role in the observed changes in leukocyte trafficking.

The present study directly compared the rise in adrenaline and noradrenaline. The increase in neurotransmitters, induced by exercise can be replicated using data provided by Galbo in 1975 (Galbo et al., 1975). The observed catecholamines rise is similar to

that observed in response to a short bout of running (10 mins) at 75 % VO_{2Max} intensity or to repeated bouts of running at 75 % VO_{2Max} intensity for prolonged time periods. This suggests that the innate immunity changes observed might be, in part, explained by the body initiating thermoregulatory activity which counteracts mild-hypothermia. That would help to explain why neutrophil function was unaffected by cold exposure even if neutrophilia had occurred. Notably, catecholamines have a direct effect on cardiac output and the shear effect derived, and this might explains the observed changes in white blood cell numbers.

In addition, increased circulating adrenaline might account for the lymphopenia during recovery from cold exposure which is possibly via alterations in the adhesion molecules and surface receptors on the lymphocytes (Kruger and Mooren, 2007; Costa et al., 2011). Adrenaline is now thought to play a key role in regulating lymphocyte trafficking during environmental stress (Costa et al., 2010). Furthermore, adrenaline and noradrenaline sympathetically mediate influences on cardiac output indirectly, which this alters the subsequent increase in enhanced blood flow associated shear stress.

7.6. Similarities between immune response following cold exposure and after physical exercise

An indirect method was used to calculate the energy cost of thermoregulatory responses during cold exposure as suggested by the Compendium of Physical Activities (Ainsworth et al., 2011). Indeed, using Metabolic Equivalent of Task (MET) (MET = 3.5 mL oxygen $\cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$ body weight $\cdot \text{min}^{-1}$), described as the ratio of the metabolic rate for an activity divided by a standardized expression of the rest metabolic rate, showed that thermogenic activity during cold exposure can be equated with prolonged bouts of moderate exercise (5.6 (2.0) MET) (**Chapter 4**).

This explains why some innate immune marker changes are similar to those from exercise. Under these conditions exercise can be looked upon as the thermogenic activity

the body counteracts a cold environment with (Walsh et al., 2006). It is reasonable to expect immune markers to mimic an exercise response (Young et al., 2000).

Lymphocytosis was observed during and after cold exposure. The number of cells during recovery fell below pre-exercise levels (**Chapter 4**). It has previously been reported that T cell population changes are proportional to stress intensity and duration, although the intensity of effect is more marked B cell populations (Gleeson et al., 2005). Research showed the T cell population decreased by 50 % after a 2.5 h of treadmill running at 75 % VO_{2Max} (control value: resting values. Gleeson et al., 2005). The lymphocyte count acted in a similar fashion to the response to prolonged exercise, although the decrease observed was smaller during our trials. The T cell number regained baseline levels after 3 h, which mirrors lymphocytic responses to prolonged exercise (Robson et al., 1999). Cold air exposure failed to alter monocyte count above a small initial increase associated with mild hypothermia. One plausible explanation for this rise could be shivering and involuntary tonic contractions. Young et al. (2001), looked on this as acute physical exercise, and others have reported it as resulting in transient monocytosis. That would most likely represent the migration of monocytes from the marginated to the circulation pool. This could be the result of, singly or in combination, a haemodynamic and/or cortisol or catecholamine-induced release at the vascular endothelium (Walsh et al., 2011). This is supported by a research study which asserted that administering the betablocker propranolol resulted in lessened exercise-induced monocytosis (Walsh et al., 2011). Beyond this, reports show that stressors can affect monocyte phenotype, cytokine expression and cell surface proteins (Freidenreich and Volek, 2012). For example, there is a preferrance for the use of inflammatory monocytes following accute exercise (CD4+/CD16+) (Freidenreich and Volek, 2012). It is conceivable, therefore, that marginated cells exhibit a more mature inflammatory function for entry into tissues and are seperated from the endothelium by exercise. It is interesting to note that the percentage of these CD14+/CD16+ cells reduces during recovery which may indicate

remarginalization or tissue recruitment. Acute exercise also reduces the inflammatory monocyte's expression of TLRs 1,2 and 4 (Gleeson et al., 2011).

Antigen-stimulated whole-blood culture IFN- γ production was lower throughout cold exposure and did not recover to baseline levels after 3 hours despite participants having been fed and rewarmed (see **Chapter 4**). This mirrored the rise seen after 2.5 h of cycling at 65 % VO_{2Max} (Lancaster et al., 2005). The release of IFN- γ (as with other cytokines) is mediated by Th1 cells. They are important in intracellular pathogen defence (e.g. against viruses. see: D'Elios et al., 2007). Prolonged moderate-intensity exercise has been found to decrease Th1 cells (Gleeson et al., 2005), which might explain a decreased IFN- γ production.

7.7. Study limitations and future directions (Chapter 4)

While we have provided some novel and thought-provoking preliminary findings on immune responses to mild-hypothermic state and cold exposure (**Chapter 4**), further research is still needed to clarify the nature and extent of the immune mechanisms involved. It is specifically suggested that an extended number of adaptive immunity markers would be measured. This would provide more compelling evidence on how, and for how long, adaptive immunity is suppresed post induced hypothermia. Further to this, the role of thermo-genic activity on innate immune markers during cold exposure needs clarification. Indeed, most of the measured markers responded similarly to moderate intensity, prolonged exercise. Some evidence suggests that increased metabolic response to cold exposure is equal to prolonged exercise performance. An *in vitro* investigation, or another study design that could measure or exclude the effects of thermogenic-activity on innate immune markers, should be conducted to clarify the effect of cold on human immune markers.

7.8. The effect of muscle-damaging exercise on heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress (Chapter 5)

In agreement with our hypothesis, we showed that in non-heat-acclimated males ΔT_{re} is increased during exercise heat stress performed 30 min after moderate muscledamaging exercise timed to coincide with the early inflammatory phase. This resulted in a ~0.5 °C greater final T_{re} during HS1 in muscle damaged participants (final T_{re} ~39.5 °C) after just 40 min of moderate exercise heat stress.

These results might have real-world applicability, particularly for non-heat-acclimated athletes and soldiers who undertake repeated and/or prolonged heavy training bouts with an eccentric component in hot environmental conditions. Actions that can decrease EIMD associated inflammation may mitigate the risk of EHI.

Downhill running is often used in studies to evoke muscle damage (Braun and Dutto, 2003; Paulsen et al., 2012; Peake et al., 2005), and the aim of the model used here was to evoke moderate, realistic muscle damage that would not impair the participants ability to complete subsequent exercise heat stress bouts.

7.9. Effect of muscle-damaging exercise on cytokines plasmatic concentrations and their subsequent effect on heat strain during exercise heat stress

We identified circulating IL-6 concentration to be a marker for acute inflammation, and assessed this for changes. We hypothesized that EIMD-evoked increases in circulating IL-6 and that this would be associated with increased heat strain during consecutive exercise heat stress (30 min after muscle-damaging exercise).

As expected, EIMD significantly increased circulating IL-6 relative to CON prior to the first exercise-heat-stress bout. Importantly the circulating level of IL-6 after EIMD was relatively modest compared to the level usually observed following prolonged, metabolically demanding endurance exercise (Nieman et al., 2001). As such, the post EIMD IL-6 increase showed wide variability (**Chapter 5**). Nonetheless, we noted a moderate correlation between the circulating concentration of IL-6 after treatment and the subsequent change in $T_{\rm re}$ during HS1 in EIMD trial (r = 0.67). The sequential nature

of this relationship is noteworthy; an early, modest inflammatory response was associated with subsequent increases in T_{re} during exercise heat stress. Furthermore, these associations did not follow the second exercise-heat-stress bout, when pre-HS2 IL-6 concentrations had returned to baseline values, with no difference between trials. Since IL-6 is known to be a pyrogen (Dinarello et al., 1991), acute increases in circulating IL-6 after muscle damage might plausibly act on the cycloxygenase 2–mediated PGE2 pathway, resulting in in an incremental change to the thermoregulatory set point (Rummel et al., 2006; Bradford et al., 2007) and heat strain during exercise heat stress. All things considered, we recognize the augmentation in the circulating IL-6 response after EIMD to be relatively moderate and understand that the mooted concept of a thermoregulatory set point is controversial (Romanovsky, 2007).

We showed an association, albeit moderate, between prior acute circulating inflammation and a subsequent exercise heat strain. Accordingly, a logical line of exploration would be to identify strategies that could diminish inflammation which may, in turn, mitigate rising T_{re} figures and lower EHI risk during exercise heat stress (**Chapter 6**).

Muscle-damaging exercise has previously been shown to cause a higher circulating IL-6 response, compared to non-muscle-damaging exercise (Bruunsgaard et al., 1997), and that finding was supported by our previous study (Fortes et al., 2013 – **Chapter 5**).

Therefore the elevated circulating IL-6 concentration following EIM correlated to the final $T_{\rm re}$ attained during a subsequent HS. Elevated circulating IL-6 before heat stress is significant as it is potentially involved in an acute inflammatory response in the aetiology of EHI (Bouchama, 1995; Shephard and Shek, 1999; Lim and Mackinnon, 2006; Walsh et al., 2011). A "dampening" of the inflammation response has been proposed as one explanation for the repeated bout effect (Pizza et al., 1996). Although our study did not observe any differences to the pro-inflammatory IL-6 response between the two EIMD bouts either before or after heat stress. Notably, Smith and colleagues reported that cytokine concentrations were averaged over the 12 hour period following EIMD. Therefore this figure could not be expected to garner closely time-referenced information on the kinetics of early inflammatory response following EIMD (Smith et al., 2007).

The concentration of circulating IL-10 exhibited no EIMD repeated bout effect. The chief role of IL-10 is to oppose inflammatory responses in order to down-regulate adaptive immune effector responses and to minimise tissue damage under microbial challenges. Additionally, IL-10 inhibits several pro-inflammatory cytokines and other soluble mediators. A previous study conducted during marathon competition in 1997 found that the dramatic increase in the inflammation responsive cytokine IL-6 was balanced by the release of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Ostrowski et al., 1999). Indeed, IL-6 appears to be responsible for subsequent rises in the circulating levels of antiinflammatory cytokines (IL-10 and IL-1ra) and that it also stimulates the cortisol release from the adrenal glands (Steensberg, 2003). In this context, regulatory T cells, Th2 cells, monocytes, CD8+ T cells, macrophages and Th1 cells are the principle parties in IL-10 production. In our study, we observed a modest rise in IL-6 which might explain the lack of changes of IL-10 concentration between trials (Chapters 5 and 6). In effect, a substantial increase in IL-6 plasmatic concentration might be needed to trigger the subsequent rise of anti-inflammatory cytokines but further research is needed to clarify this process.

7.10. Heat Shock Protein 72 (Hsp 72)

We assessed eHsp72 concentration, which was shown by Peake et al. (2005) to be elevated following downhill running. It is also known to act as a "danger signal", activating the immune system and IL-6 (Horowitz and Robinson, 2007; Whitham and Fortes, 2008; Asea et al., 2000). Furthermore, eHsp72 has been suggested to have direct pyrogenic effects (Pastukhov et al., 2003). Regardless, our study did not observe a difference in circulating eHsp72 concentration between EIMD trials. Yet it should be kept in mind that during EIMD trial 1 the circulating IL-6 and eHsp72 responses prior to HS were modest when compared with marathon running or other more metabolically challenging activities (Nieman et al., 2001; Fehrenbach et al., 2005). The slight margin for dampened responses is clear when viewed in this light.

7.11. Exercise-induced muscle damage and the repeated bout effect (Chapter 6)

Our downhill running model evoked moderate, realistic muscle damage. Indeed, significant decreases in leg strength (-7.5 %), and increases in muscle soreness 48-h post EIMD trial 1 were seen. This muscle damage is equivalent to 'a light pain when walking' (Vickers, 2001) and therefore reflects that reportedly encountered by soldiers and athletes subjected to unaccustomed exercise with an eccentric component. Research has consistently shown that a prior muscle-damaging bout produces a protective adaptation, and results in lesser symptoms of EIMD when the muscledamaging bout is repeated (e.g. diminished leg strength losses and reductions in muscle tenderness) (Byrnes et al., 1985; Clarkson et al., 1992; McHugh et al., 1999). The repeated bout effect was successfully demonstrated here, as leg strength regained baseline levels and muscle soreness was significantly reduced 48-h after the repeated bout of EIMD. The decrease in leg strength observed seems to support the theory which states that the repeated bout effect is due to fragile muscle fibres loss during the first bout of exercise and their subsequent replacement with less damage-susceptible fibres during recovery. Indeed, when the muscle-damaging exercise was repeated during EIMD trial 2 no further leg-strength decrease was observed. Conversely, if this fibre loss continued during EIMD trial 2 a significant decline in muscle strength would have occurred. Therefore, a plausible explanation is that damaged fragile fibres were repaired over time and that these repaired fibres are enhanced and less susceptible to damage. In conclusion, these findings do not fully explain the process behind the repeated bout effect but provided evidence that the first bout of damage produced an adaptation that lasted for at least 14 days, time that has occurred between trials during our study.

7.12. Studies limitations (Chapters 5 and 6)

Future studies need to examine the contribution of pyrogenic pathways after muscle damage upon exercise heat strain in more depth. Whether or not the greater proportion of circulating IL-6 response after EIMD (**Chapters 5** and **6**) come from leukocytes, muscle cells, or other cells remains to be shown (Montain et al., 2000; Braun and Dutto,
2003; Paulsen et al., 2012). However, our study did not observe any difference in the responses of either pyrogenic IL-6 or anti-inflammatory IL-10 prior to, or following heat stress between the two EIMD bouts (**Chapter 6**).

A previous study has shown reduced pyrogenic cytokines (IL-6), and increased antiinflammatory cytokines (IL-10) in the 12 h following a repeated bout of muscle damage evoked by downhill running (Smith et al., 2007), although this finding is not supported by studies that have used different models of muscle damage (e.g. isokinetic knee extensor exercise (Croisier et al., 1999; Willoughby et al., 2003)). This hypothesised reduction in heat strain could be accounted for by an altered circulating inflammatory response following EIMD, as a "dampening" of the inflammatory response is one proposed explanation for the repeated bout effect (Pizza et al., 1996). Our findings do not, support this explanation for the repeated bout effect but we acknowledge that further research with an extended post-exercise time-frame (48 h-120 h post) is required (**Chapter 5**). Indeed, many of the criterion measures may peak 48-72 h post exercise. Data of this breadth would confirm whether or not the criterion measures rose, peaked or fell, and whether muscle function was altered.

We did not assess intra-cellular HSPs (**Chapter 6**). It is possible that increased muscle cell HSPs following the first EIMD bout would confer some degree of heat acclimation and this would be evident up to 14 d later. Indeed, EIMD has been previously showed to increase HSP72 and HSP27 expression within muscle cells (Paulsen et al., 2009; Thompson et al., 2001), and a smaller intracellular heat shock response is shown in heat-intolerant military personnel (Moran et al., 2006). During our study (**Chapter 6**), we did observe a lower thermal sensation during HS on the second EIMD bout and a lower temperature threshold for sweating onset which might open-up to the idea that muscle-damaging exercise provided cross-tolerance against other novel stressors (Horowitz, 2007). Another good question is whether, and if so how, the mechanism(s) for a muscle-damaging bout of exercise 14 d earlier would decrease the threshold $T_{\rm re}$ for sweating onset during HS following a repeated-bout of EIMD. Some pathways may

180

share responsibility with the cross-tolerance, i.e. adaptations to one stressor might confer protection to other forms of stressor via molecular, cellular and neural interactions (Horowitz, 2014; Horowitz and Robinson 2007). In this context, previous evidence suggested that acquired thermo-tolerance (post heat exposure cellular HSP accumulation) and systemic heat acclimation adaptations share a common pathway (Kuennen et al., 2011) and this process is expected to be mediated (at least in part) by intra-cellular Hsp. The changes we observed during HS on EIMD trial 2, reflect similar adaptations to those observed in heat acclimation (reduced exercising T_{rer} , earlier sweating onset, reduced thermal sensation). Therefore, we strongly recommend that studies will be performed to identify the changes induced by muscle-damaging exercise on HSPs concentration at intracellular level and the subsequent effect on thermoregulation. If novel research on cross-tolerance will be inspired by the suggestions here presented new strategies to protect from EHI and EHS those involved in physical activity in hot environments may be developed. Also, heat-acclimation is currently known to require repeated exposures to heat over a considerable duration (Armstrong et al., 1991; Pandolf et al., 1998). Our findings suggest that one bout of EIMD could be a strategy to induce cross-tolerance and by reducing the amount of time and training required for acclimatization. This might be greatly beneficial to athletes and soldiers taking part in activities in hot environments.

7.13. Conclusions

The major conclusions drawn from this thesis are:

- Cold exposure and mild-hypothermia did not alter neutrophil degranulation bacterially stimulated elastase release per neutrophil, or antigen-stimulated production of IL-4.
- A leucocytosis, mainly caused by a neutrophil increases, has been observed during and following cold exposure, which was probably in response to neurotransmitters increase.
- The increased release of noradrenaline and adrenaline might respond to increased metabolic needs.
- 4. However, lowered IFN-Y production was noted in the hours following the cold exposure presenting "open window" in the immune systems ability to respond to bacterial challenges. The prolonged period of adaptive immunity suppresion continued despite rewarming and feeding. This might partially explain the increased upper respiratory tract infection susceptibility aneqdotely reported by outdoor enthusiast during cold weather.
- 5. A bout of EIMD increases heat strain during successive endurance exercise in the heat conducted 30 min after muscle damage was confirmed by the data. This is also true, although to a much lesser extent, 24 h after the EIMD.
- 6. EIMD also evoked increases in circulating pyrogenic cytokine IL-6. This was associated with an increased severity of heat strain during exercise heat stress trials conducted 30 min after the EIMD.
- 7. Repeated-bout-effect lessened the onset of heat strain during exercise-heatstress conducted after EIMD. This was shown by a reduced exercising T_{re} , reduced thermal perception, and an earlier onset of sweating during HS 2. Training programs that incorporate a muscle-damaging bout could be an effective strategy

182

in reducing EHI risk. This could also improve endurance performance in hot conditions when individuals undertake heavy exercise with an eccentric component.

References

- Abbott, BC., Wilkie, DR. 1952. The relation between velocity of shortening and the tension-length curve of skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 1952, 117-126.
- Ainsworth, BE., Haskell, H., William, L., Herrmann, D., Stephen, D., Meckes, E., Nathanael, L., Bassett, C., David, R., Tudor-Locke, F., Catrine, E., Greer, L., Jennifer, L., Vezina, A., Jesse, A., Whitt-Glover, M., Melicia, C., Leon, S., Arthur, S. 2011. Compendium of Physical Activities. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 43, 1575–1581.
- Akimoto, T., Akama, T., Tatsuno, M., Saito, M., and Kono, I. 2000. Effect of brief maximal exercise on circulating levels of interleukin-12. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 81, 510-512.
- Albers, R., Antoine, JM., Bourdet-Sicard, R., Calder, PC., Gleeson, M., Lesourd, B., Samartin, S., Sanderson, IR., Van, LJ., Vas Dias, FW., and Watzl, B. 2005. Markers to measure immunomodulation in human nutrition intervention studies. Br. J. Nutr. 94, 452-481.
- Armstrong, L., Maresh, C. 1991. The induction and decay of heat acclimatisation in trained athletes. Sports Med. 12, 302–312.

Armstrong, LE. 2000. Performing in extreme environments. Human Kinetics.

- Armstrong, LE., Casa, DJ., Millard-Stafford, M., Moran, DS., Pyne, SW., Roberts, WO. 2007. American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand: Exertional heat illness during training and competition. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39, 556–572.
- Armstrong, LE., Pumerantz, AC., Fiala, KA., Roti, MW., Kavouras, SA., Casa, DJ., Maresh, CM. 2010. Human hydration indices: acute and longitudinal reference values. Int. J. Sport. Nutr. Exerc. Metab. 20, 145-153.
- Armstrong, RB. 1990. Initial events in exercise-induced muscular injury. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 22, 429-435.
- Asea, A. 2006. Initiation of the Immune Response by Extracellular Hsp72: Chaperokine Activity of Hsp72. Curr. Immunol. Rev. 2, 209-215.
- Asea, A. 2007. Hsp72 release: mechanisms and methodologies. Methods. 43, 194-198.

- Asea, A., Kraeft, SK., Kurt-Jones, EA., Stevenson, MA., Chen, LB., Finberg, RW., Koo, GC., Calderwood, SK. 2000. HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependent pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. Nat. Med. 6, 435-442.
- Baj, Z., Kantorski, J., Majewska, E., Zeman, K., Pokoca, L., Fornalczyk, E., Tchorzewski, H., Sulowska, Z., and Lewicki, R. 1994. Immunological status of competitive cyclist before and after the training season. Int. J. Sports Med.
- Baker, PT. 1974. An evolutionary perspective on environmental physiology. Oxford, OSPL.
- Balnave, CD., Thompson, MW. 1993. Effect of training on eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage. J. Appl. Physiol. 75, 1545-1551.
- Barnett, A., Maughan, RJ. 1993. Response of unacclimatized males to repeated weekly bouts of exercise in the heat. Br. J. Sports Med. 27, 39-44.
- Barrett, B., Locken, K., Maberry, R., Schwamman, J., Brown, R., Bobula, J.,
 Stauffacher, EA. 2002. The Wisconsin Upper Respiratory Symptom Survey (WURSS): a new research instrument for assessing the common cold.
 J. Fam. Pract. 51, 265-271.
- Barrett, MJ., Alones, V., Wang, KX., Phan, L., Swerdlow, RH. 2004. Mitochondria-Derived Oxidative Stress Induces a Heat Shock Protein Response.J. Neurosci. Res. 78, 420-429.
- Baybutt, HN., Holsboer, F. 1990. Inhibition of macrophage differentiation and function by cortisol. Endocrinology. 127, 476-480.
- Bazille, C., Megarbane, B., Bensimhon, D., Lavergne-Slove, A., Baglin, AC., Loirat, P., Woimant, F., Mikol, J., Gray, F. 2005. Brain damage after heat stroke. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 64, 970-975.
- Beeley, JM., Smith, DJ., Oakley, EH. 1993. Environmental hazards and health. Br. Med. Bull. 49, 305-325.
- Beilin, B., Shavit, Y., Razumovsky, J., Wolloch, Y., Zeidel, A., Bessler, H. 1998.
 Effects of mild perioperative hypothermia on cellular immune responses.
 Anesthesiology. 89, 1133-1140.
- Belge, KU., Dayyani, F., Horelt, A., Siedlar, M., Frankenberger, M., Frankenberger, B., Espevik, T., Ziegler-Heitbrock, L. 2002. The proinflammatory CD14+CD16+DR++ monocytes are a major source of TNF. J. Immunol. 168, 3536-3542.

- Bernecker, C., Scherr, J., Schinner S., Braun S., Scherbaum WA., Halle W. 2013. Evidence for an exercise induced increase of TNF-a and IL-6 in marathon runners. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports. 23, 207-214.
- Biggar, WD., Bohn, D., Kent, G. 1983. Neutrophil Circulation and Release from Bone Marrow during Hypothermia. Infect. Immun. 40, 708-712.
- Bishop, NC., Gleeson, M., Nicholas, CW., Ali, A. 2002. Influence of carbohydrate supplementation on plasma cytokine and neutrophil degranulation responses to high intensity intermittent exercise. Int. J. Sport. Nutr. Exerc. Metab. 12, 145-156.
- Bishop, NC., Walsh, NP., Scanlon, GA. 2003. Effect of prolonged exercise and carbohydrate on total neutrophil elastase content. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 35, 1326-1332.
- Blair, E., Henning, G., Hornick, R., Cowley, RA. 1964. Hypothermia in Bacteremic Shock. Archives of Surgery. 89, 619-629.
- Blake, MJ., Buckley, AR., Buckley, DJ., LaVoi, KP., Bartlett, T. 1994. Neural and endocrine mechanisms of cocaine-induced 70-kDa heat shock protein expression in aorta and adrenal gland. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 268, 522-529.
- Blake, MJ., Udelsman, R., Feulner, GJ., Norton, DD., Holbrook, NJ. 1991. Stressinduced heat shock protein 70 expression in adrenal cortex: an adrenocorticotropic hormone-sensitive, age-dependent response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 88, 9873-9877.
- Blannin, AK., Gleeson, M., Brooks, S., Cave, R. 1996. Acute effect of exercise on human neutrophil degranulation. J. Phys. 495, 140.
- Blannin, AK., Gleeson, M., Cobbold, M., Brooks, S., Cave, R. 1997. Elastase release from neutrophils in relation to total cellular elestase content.J. Sports Sci. 15, 37-38.
- Bolton, JPG., Gilbert, PH., Tamayo, CC. 2006. Heat Illness on Operation Telic in Summer 2003: The Experience of the Heat Illness Treatment Unit in Northern Kuwait. J. R. Army Med. Corps. 152,148-155.
- Borg, GA. 1982. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 14, 377–381.
- Bosch, JA., Ring, C., de Geus, EJ., Veerman, EC., Amerongen, AV. 2002. Stress and secretory immunity. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 52, 213-253.

- Bosenberg, AT., Brock-Utne, JG., Gaffin, SL., Wells, MT., Blake, GT. 1988. Strenuous exercise causes systemic endotoxemia. J. Appl. Physiol. 65, 106-108.
- Bote, ME., Garcia, JJ., Hinchado, MD., Ortega, E. 2013. Fibromyalgia: Anti-Inflammatory and Stress Responses After Acute Moderate Exercise. PloS One 8, e74524.
- Bouchama, A. 1995. Heatstroke: a new look at an ancient disease. Intensive Care Med. 21, 623-625.

Bouchama, A. 2006. Heatstroke: facing the threat. Crit. Care Med. 34, 1272-1273.

Bouchama, A., al-Sedairy, S., Siddiqui, S., Shail, E., Rezeig, M. 1993. Elevated pyrogenic cytokines in heatstroke. Chest. 104, 1498-1502.

Bouchama, A., Knochel, JP. 2002. Heat stroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 346, 1978-1988.

- Bouchama, A., Ollivier, V., Roberts, G., Al, MF., De, PD., Eldali, A., Saussereau, E., El-Sayed, R., Chollet-Martin, S. 2005 *a*. Experimental heatstroke in baboon: analysis of the systemic inflammatory response. Shock. 24, 332-335.
- Bouchama, A., Parhar, RS., el-Yazigi, A., Sheth, K., al-Sedairy, S. 1991.
 Endotoxemia and release of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 1 alpha in acute heatstroke.
 J. Appl. Physiol. 70, 2640-2644.
- Bouchama, A., Roberts, G., Al, MF., El-Sayed, R., Lach, B., Chollet-Martin, S., Ollivier, V., Al, BR., Loualich, A., Nakeeb, S., Eldali, A., De, PD. 2005 b. Inflammatory, hemostatic, and clinical changes in a baboon experimental model for heatstroke. J. Appl. Physiol. 98, 697-705.
- Bradford, CD., Cotter, JD., Thorburn, MS., Walker, RJ., Gerrard, DF. 2007. Exercise can be pyrogenic in humans. Am. J. Phys. 292, 143-149.
- Brannigan, D., Rogers, IR., Jacobs, I., Montgomery, A., Williams, A., Khangure, N.
 2009. Hypothermia is a significant medical risk of mass participation longdistance open water swimming. Wilderness Environ. Med. 20, 14-18.
- Braun, WA., Dutto, DJ. 2003. The effects of a single bout of downhill running and ensuing delayed onset of muscle soreness on running economy performed 48 h later. Eur J Appl Physiol. 90, 29–34.

- Breloer, M., Fleischer, B., von Bonin, A. 1999. In Vivo and in Vitro Activation of T Cells After Administration of Ag-Negative Heat Shock Proteins.J. Immunol. 162, 3141-3147.
- Brenner, IK., Castellani, JW., Gabaree, C., Young, AJ., Zamecnik, J., Shephard, RJ., Shek, PN. 1999. Immune changes in humans during cold exposure: effects of prior heating and exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 699-710.
- Brenner, IKM., Shek, PN., Shephard, RJ. 1994. Infection in athletes. Sports Med. 17, 86-107.
- Brentano, MA., Martins Kruel, LF. 2011. A review on strength exercise-induced muscle damage: applications, adaptation mechanisms and limitations.J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 51, 1-10.
- Broquet, AH., Thomas, G., Masliah, J., Trugnan, G., Bachelet, M. 2003. Expression of the molecular chaperone Hsp70 in detergent-resistant microdomains correlates with its membrane delivery and release. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 21601-21606.
- Bruunsgaard, H., Galbo, H., Halkjaer-Kristensen, J., Johansen, TL., MacLean, DA., Pedersen, BK. 1997. Exercise-induced increase in serum interleukin-6 in humans is related to muscle damage. J Physiol. 41, 499-833.
- Buettner, KJ. 1959. Diffusion of water vapor through small areas of human skin in normal environment. J. Appl. Physiol. 14, 259–275.
- Bury, T., Marechal, R., Mahieu, P., Pirnay, F. 1998. Immunological status of competitive football players during the training season. Int. J. Sport Med. 19, 364-368.
- Byrne, C., Lee, JK., Chew, SA., Lim, CL., Tan, EY. 2006. Continuous thermoregulatory responses to mass-participation distance running in heat. Med. Sci. Sports Ex. 38, 803-810.
- Byrnes, WC., Clarkson, PM., White, JS., Hsieh, SS., Frykman, PN., Maughan, RJ. 1985. Delayed onset muscle soreness following repeated bouts of downhill running.
 J. Appl. Physiol, 59, 710-715
- Calabrese, V., Scapagnini, G., Catalano, C., Bates, TE., Geraci, D., Pennisi, G., Giuffrida Stella, AM. 2001. Regulation of heat shock protein synthesis in human skin fibroblasts in response to oxidative stress: role of vitamin E. Int. J. Tissue React. 23, 127-135.

- Campisi, J., Leem, TH., Greenwood, BN., Hansen, MK., Moraska, A., Higgins, K., Smith, TP., Fleshner, M. 2003. Habitual Physical Activity Facilitates Stress-Induced HSP72 Induction in Brain, Peripheral, and Immune Tissues. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.284, 520-530.
- Camus, G., Pincemail, J., Ledent, M., Juchmes-Ferir, A., Lamy, M., Deby-Dupont, G., Deby, C. 1992. Plasma levels of polymorphonuclear elastase and myeloperoxidase after uphill walking and downhill running at similar energy cost. Int. J. Sports Med. 13, 443-446.
- Camus, G., Poortmans, J., Nys, M., Deby-Dupont, G., Duchateau, J., Deby, C., Lamy, M. 1997. Mild endotoxaemia and the inflammatory response induced by a marathon race. Clin. Sci. 92, 415-422.
- Cannon, JG., Kluger, MJ. 1983. Endogenous pyrogen activity in human plasma after exercise. Science. 220, 617–619.
- Cannon, WB. 1929. Organization for physiological homeostasis. Phys. rev. 3, 399-431.
- Carter, R.III, Cheuvront, SN., Williams, JO., Kolka, MA., Stephenson, LA., Sawka, MN., Amoroso, PJ. 2005. Epidemiology of hospitalizations and deaths from heat illness in soldiers. Med. Sci. Sports. Exerc. 37, 1338-1344
- Cartmell, T., Poole, S., Turnbull, AV., Rothwell, NJ., Luheshi, GN. 2000. Circulating interleukin-6 mediates the febrile response to localised inflammation in rats. J Physiol. 526, 653–661.
- Casa, DJ., Armstrong, LE., Kenny, GP., O'Connor, FG., Huggins, RA. 2012. Exertional heat stroke: new concepts regarding cause and care. Curr. Sports Med. Rep. 11, 115–123.
- Casa, DJ., McDermott, B., Lee, EC., Yeargin, S., Armstrong, LE., Maresh, CM. 2007. Cold Water Immersion: The Gold Standard for Exertional Heatstroke Treatment. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 35, 141-149.
- Castellani, JW., Brenner, M., Rhind, SG. 2002. Cold Exposure: Human Immune Responses and Intracellular Cytokine Expression. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 34, 2013-2020.
- Castellani, JW., IK, MB., Rhind, SG. 2002. Cold exposure: human immune responses and intracellular cytokine expression. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 34, 2013-2020.
- Castellani, JW., Young, AJ., Ducharme, MB., Giesbrecht, GG., Glickman, E., Sallis, RE. 2006. American College of Sports Medicine position stand: prevention of

cold injuries during exercise. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 38, 2012-2029.

- Caux, C., Massacrier, C., Vanbervliet, B., Dubois, B., Van, KC., Durand, I., Banchereau, J. 1994. Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 crosslinking.
 J. Exp. Med. 180, 1263-1272.
- Ceddia, MA., Price, EA., Kohlmeier, CK., Evans, JK., Lu, Q., McAuley, E., Woods, JA. 1999. Differential leukocytosis and lymphocyte mitogenic response to acute maximal exercise in the young and old. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 31, 829-836.
- Ceddia, MA., Woods, JA. 1999. Exercise suppresses macrophage antigen presentation. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 2253-2258.
- Chan, MH., Carey, AL., Watt, MJ., Febbraio, MA. 2004. Cytokine gene expression in human skeletal muscle during concentric contraction: evidence that IL-8, like IL-6, is influenced by glycogen availability.
 Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 287, 322-327.
- Chang, DM. 1993. The role of cytokines in heat stroke. Immunol. Invest. 22, 553-561.
- Chen, TC., Nosaka, K., Tu, JH. 2007. Changes in running economy following downhill running. J. Sports. Sci. 63, 25-55.
- Child RB, Saxton JM, and Donnelly AE. 1998. Comparison of eccentric knee extensor muscle actions at two muscle lengths on indices of damage and angle-specific force production in humans. J. Sports Sci. 16, 301-308.
- Chiu, WT., Kao, TY., Lin, MT. 1996. Increased survival in experimental rat heatstroke by continuous perfusion of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Neurosci. Res. 24, 159–63.
- Clancy, RL., Gleeson, M., Cox, A., Callister, R., Dorrington, M., D'Este, C., Pang, G., Pyne, D., Fricker, P., Henriksson, A. 2006. Reversal in Fatigued Athletes of a Defect in Interferon Gamma Secretion After Administration of Lactobacillus Acidophilus. Br. J. Sports Med. 40, 351-354.
- Clark, R., Kupper T. 2005. Old Meets New: The Interaction Between Innate and Adaptive Immunity. J. Invest. Dermat. 125, 629-637.
- Clarkson, PM., Hubal, MJ. 2002. Exercise-induced muscle damage in humans. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 81, 52–S69.

- Clarkson, PM., Newham, DJ. 1995. Associations between muscle soreness, damage, and fatigue. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 384, 457-469.
- Clarkson, PM., Nosaka, K., Braun, B. 1992. Muscle function after exercise induced muscle damage and rapid adaptation. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 24, 512–520.
- Clarkson, PM., Tremblay, I. 1988. Exercise-induced muscle damage, repair, and adaptation in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 65, 1-6.
- Clayton, A., Court, J., Navabi, H., Adams, M., Mason, MD., Hobot, JA., Newman, GR., Jasani, B. 2001. Analysis of antigen presenting cell derived exosomes, based on immuno-magnetic isolation and flow cytometry.
 J. Immunol. Methods. 247, 163-174.
- Clayton, A., Turkes, A., Navabi, H., Mason, MD., Tabi, Z. 2005. Induction of heat shock proteins in B-cell exosomes. J. Cell Sci. 118, 3631-3638.
- Cluver, EH. 1932. An analysis of ninety-two fatal heat-stroke cases on the Witwatersrand gold mines. S. Afr. Med. J. 6, 19-22.
- Cohen, J. 1988. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Costa, R., Fortes, M., Richardson, K., Bilzon, J., Walsh, NP. 2012. The effect of postexercise feeding on saliva antimicrobial proteins. Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exerc. Metab. 22, 184-191.
- Costa, RJ., Smith, AH., Oliver, SJ., Walters, R., Maassen, N., Bilzon, JL., Walsh NP. 2010. The effects of two nights of sleep deprivation with or without energy restriction on immune indices at rest and in response to cold exposure. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 109, 417-428.
- Costill, DL., Pascoe, DD., Fink, WJ., Robergs, RA., Barr, SI., Pearson, D. 1990. Impaired muscle glycogen resynthesis after eccentric exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 69, 46–50.
- Cox, AJ., Pyne, DB., Saunders, PU., Callister, R., Gleeson, M. 2007. Cytokine responses to treadmill running in healthy and illness-prone athletes. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39, 1918-1926.
- Coyle, EF., Coggan, AR., Hemmert, MK., Ivy, JL. 1986. Muscle glycogen utilization during prolonged strenuous exercise when fed carbohydrate.J. Appl. Physiol. 61, 165-172.

- Cramer, SR., Nieman, DC., Lee, JW. 1991. The effects of moderate exercise training on psychological well-being and mood state in women.J. Psychosom. Res. 35, 437-449.
- Croisier, JL., Camus, G., Venneman, I., Deby-Dupont, G., Juchmes-Ferir, A., Lamy, M., Crielaard, JM., Deby, C., Duchateau, J. 1999. Effects of training on exercise-induced muscle damage and interleukin 6 production. Muscle Nerve. 22, 208-212.
- Cvoro, A., Matic, G. 2002. Hyperthermic stress stimulates the association of both constitutive and inducible isoforms of 70 kDa heat shock protein with rat liver glucocorticoid receptor. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 34, 279-285.
- D'Elios, MM., Benagiano, M., Della Bella, C., Amedei, A. 2011. T-Cell Response to Bacterial Agents. J. Inf. Dev. Countries. 5, 640-645.
- Da Rocha, AB., Zanoni, C, de Freitas, GR., Andre, C., Himelfarb, S., Schneider, RF., Grivicich, I., Borges, L., Schwartsmann, G., Kaufmann, M., Regner, A. 2005. Serum Hsp70 as an early predictor of fatal outcome after severe traumatic brain injury in males. J. Neurotrauma, 22, 966-977.
- Dehbi, M., Baturcam, E., Eldali, A., Ahmed, M., Kwaasi, A., Chishti, MA., Bouchama, A. 2010. Hsp-72, a Candidate Prognostic Indicator of Heatstroke. Cell. Stress Chap. 15, 593-603.
- Delves, PJ., Martin, SJ., Burton, DR., Roitt, IM. 2011. Roitt's Essential Immunology. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.
- DeMartini, JK., Casa, DJ., Belval, LN., Crago, A., Davis, RJ., Jardine, JJ., Stearns, RL. 2014. Environmental conditions and the occurrence of exertional heat illnesses and exertional heat stroke at the Falmouth Road Race. J. Athl. Train. 49, 478-485.
- Denzer, K., Kleijmeer, MJ., Heijnen, HF., Stoorvogel, W., Geuze, HJ. 2000. Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. J. Cell, Sci. 19, 3365-3374.
- DeSouza, EB., Appel, NM. 1991. Distribution of brain and pitiutary receptors involved in mediating stress responses. Neurob. Neuroend. Stress. 14, 91-117.
- Dill, DB., Costill, DL. 1974. Calculation of percentage changes in volumes of blood, plasma, and red cells in dehydration. J. Appl. Physiol. 37, 247–8.

- Dinarello, CA., Cannon, JG., Mancilla, J., Bishai, I., Lees, J., Coceani, F. 1991. Interleukin-6 as an endogenous pyrogen: induction of prostaglandin E2 in brain but not in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Brain. Res. 562, 199–206.
- Dowling, HF., Jackson, GG., Spiesman, IG., Inouye, T. 1958. Transmission of the Common Cold to Volunteers Under Controlled Conditions: the Effect of Chilling of the Subjects upon Susceptibility. Am. J. Hyg. 68, 59-65.
- Dunn, AJ. 1989. Psychoneuroimmunology for the psychoneuroendocrinologist: A review of animal studies of nervous system-immune system interactions. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 4, 251-274.
- Dunn, AJ., Berridge, CW. 1990. Corticotropin-releasing factor as the mediator of stress responses. Ann. N. Acad. Sci. 579, 183-191.
- Dziedziak, W. 1990. The effect of incremental cycling on physiological functions of peripheral blood granulocytes. Biology in Sport 7, 239-247.
- Ebbeling, CB., Clarkson, PM. 1989. Exercise-induced muscle damage and adaptation. Sports Med. 7, 207-234.
- Eccles, R. 2002. Acute cooling of the body surface and the common cold. Rhinology. 40, 109-114.
- Edwards, RH., Hill, DK., Jones, DA., Merton, PA. 1977. Fatigue of long duration in human skeletal muscle after exercise. J. Physio. 272, 769-778.
- Elliot, GR., Eisdorfer, C. 1982. Conceptual issues in stress research. Institute of Medicine, National Accademy of Sciences: New York Springer.
- Ellis, RJ., Hoover, E., Gay, WA., Ebert, PA. 1974. Metabolic Alterations with Profound Hypothermia. Archives of Surgery. 109, 659-663.
- Enoka, RM. 1996. Eccentric contractions require unique activation strategies by the nervous system. J. Appl. Physiol. 81, 2339-2346.
- Epstein, Y., Moran, DS., Shapiro, Y., Sohar, E., Shemer, J. 1999. Exertional heat stroke: a case series. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 31, 224–228.
- Eston, RG., Finney, S., Baker, S., Baltzopoulos, V. 1996. Muscle tenderness and peak torque changes after downhill running following a prior bout of isokinetic eccentric exercise. J. Sports Sci. 14, 291-299.
- Eston, RG., Lemmey, AB., McHugh, P., Byrne, C., Walsh SE. 2000. Effect of stride length on symptoms of exercise-induced muscle damage during a repeated

bout of downhill running. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports, 10, 199-204.

- Fabbri, M., Smart, C., Pardi, R. 2003. T lymphocytes. Int. J. Biochem. Cell. Bio. 35, 1004-1008
- Fahlman, MM., Engels HJ. 2005. Mucosal IgA and URTI in American college football players: a year longitudinal study. Med. Sci Sports and Exerc. 37, 374-380.
- Faulkner, JA., Brooks, SV., Opiteck, JA. 1993. Injury to skeletal muscle fibers during contractions: conditions of occurrence and prevention. Phys. Therm. 73, 911-921.
- Febbraio, MA. 2001. Alterations in energy metabolism during exercise and heat stress. Sports Med. 31, 47-59.
- Febbraio, MA., Mesa, JL., Chung, J., Steensberg, A., Keller, C., Nielsen, HB., Krustrup, P., Ott, P., Secher, NH., Pedersen, BK. 2004. Glucose ingestion attenuates the exercise-induced increase in circulating heat shock protein 72 and heat shock protein 60 in humans. Cell stress Chaperones. 9, 390-396.
- Febbraio, MA., Ott, P., Nielsen, HB., Steensberg, A., Keller, C., Krustrup, P., Secher, NH., Pedersen, BK. 2002. Exercise induces hepatosplanchnic release of heat shock protein 72 in humans. J. Physio. 544, 957-962.
- Febbraio, MA., Pedersen, BK. 2002. Muscle-derived interleukin-6: mechanisms for activation and possible biological roles. FASEB J. 16, 1335–1347.
- Febbraio, MA., Steensberg, A., Walsh, R., Koukoulas, I., Van, HG., Saltin, B., Pedersen, BK. 2002. Reduced glycogen availability is associated with an elevation in HSP72 in contracting human skeletal muscle. J. Physio. 538, 911-917.
- Fedor, EJ., Fisher, B., Fisher, ER. 1958. Observations Concerning Bacterial Defense Mechanisms during Hypothermia. Surgery. 43, 807-814.
- Fehrenbach, E., Niess, AM., Voelker, K., Northoff, H., Mooren, FC. 2005. Exercise intensity and duration affect blood soluble HSP72. Int. J. Sport Med. 26, 552-557.
- Feige, U., Polla, BS. 1994. Hsp70- A multi-gene, multi-structure, multi-function family with potential clinical applications. Experientia. 50, 979-986.
- Feurer, I., Mullen, JL. 1986. Beside measurement of resting energy expenditure and respiratory quotient via indirect calorimetry. Nutr Clin Prac. 1, 43-49.

- Fingerle-Rowson, G., Angstwurm, M., Andreesen, R., Ziegler-Heitbrock, HW. 1998. Selective depletion of CD14+CD16+ monocytes by glucocorticoid therapy. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 112, 501–506.
- Fischer, CP. 2006. Interluekin-6 in acute exercise and training: what is the biological relevance? Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 12, 6-33.
- Fischer, CP., Hiscock, NJ., Basu, S., Vessby, B., Kallner, A., Sjoberg, LB., Febbraio, MA., Pedersen, BK. 2006. Vitamin E isoform-specific inhibition of the exerciseinduced heat shock protein 72 expression in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 1679-1687.
- Fleshner, M., Campisi, J., Amiri, L., Diamond, DM. 2004. Cat exposure induces both intra- and extracellular Hsp72: the role of adrenal hormones. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 29, 1142-1152.
- Fleshner, M., Campisi, J., Johnson, JD. 2003. Can exercise stress facilitate innate immunity? A functional role for stress-induced extracellular Hsp72. Exerc. Immunol. Review. 9, 6-24.
- Fleshner, M., Johnson, JD. 2005. Endogenous extra-cellular heat shock protein 72: releasing signal(s) and function. Int. J. Hyperthermia. 21, 457-471.
- Flynn, MG., McFarlin, BK. 2006. Toll-like receptor 4: link to the anti-inflammatory effects of exercise? Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 34, 176-81.
- Foley, JM., Jayaraman, RC., Prior, BM., Pivarnik, JM., Meyer, RA. 1999.Measurements of muscle damage and adaptation after eccentric exercise.J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 2311-2318.
- Fortes, MB, Di Felice, U., Dolci, A., Junglee, NA., Crockford, MJ., West, L., Hillier-Smith, R., Macdonald, JH., Walsh, NP. 2013. Muscle-damaging exercise increases heat strain during subsequent exercise heat stress. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 45, 1915-1924
- Foster, C. 1998. Monitoring training in athletes with reference to overtraining syndrome. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 30, 1164-1168.
- Fox, WC., Hall, C., Hall, E., Kolkhorst, F., Lockette W. 2003. Cardiovascular Baroreceptors Mediate Susceptibility to Hypothermia. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 74, 132-137.
- Fragala, MS., Kraemer, WJ., Denegar, R., Maresh, CM., Mastro, AM., Volek, JS. 2011. Neuroendocrine-Immune Interactions and Responses to Exercise. Sports Med. 41, 621-639.

- Frank, SM., Raja, SN., Bulcao, CF., Goldstein, DS. 1999. Relative Contribution of Core and Cutaneous Temperatures to Thermal Comfort and Autonomic Responses in Humans. J Appl Physiol. 86, 1588-93.
- Fregly, MJ., Blatteis, C. 1996. Handbook of Physiology: Environmental Physiology. Am. Physiol. Soc.
- Freidenreich, DJ., Volek, JS. 2012. Immune Responses to Resistance Exercise. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 18, 8-41.
- Friden, J., Sfakianos, PN., Hargens, AR., Akeson, WH. 1988. Residual muscular swelling after repetitive eccentric contractions. J. Orthop. Res. 6, 493-498.
- Friden, J., Sjostrom, M., Ekblom, B. 1981. A morphological study of delayed muscle soreness. Experientia, 37, 506-507.
- Friden, J., Sjostrom, M., Ekblom, B. 1983. Myofibrillar damage following intense eccentric exercise in man. Int. J. Sport Med. 4, 170-176.
- Gabriel, H., Urhausen, A., Kindermann, W. 1994. Recruitment and recicirculation of leukocytes after an ultramarathon run: preferential homing of cells expressing high levels of the adhesion molecule LFA-1. Int J Sports Med. 15, 148-153.
- Gagnon, D., Lemire, BB., Jay, O., Kenny, GP. Aural canal, esophageal, and rectal temperatures during exertional heat stress and the subsequent recovery period.
 J. Athl. Train. 45, 157–63.
- Galbo, H., Houston, ME., Christensen, NJ., Holst, JJ., Nielsen, B., Nygaard, N., Suzuki J. 1979. The Effect of Water Temperature on the Hormonal Response to Prolonged Swimming. Acta Phys. Scand. 105, 326-337.
- Galloway, SD., Maughan, RJ. 1997. Effects of ambient temperature on the capacity to perform prolonged cycle exercise in man. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 29, 1240-1249.
- Gallucci, S., Lolkema, M., Matzinger, P. 1999. Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. Nat. Med. 5, 1249-1255.
- Gannon, G., Shek, PN., Shephard, RJ. 1995. Natural killer cells: modulation by intensity and duration of exercise. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 29, 1240-9.
- Garrett, AT., Goosens, NG., Rehrer, NJ., Patterson, MJ., Cotter, JD. 2009. Induction and decay of short-term heat acclimation. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 107, 659-670

- Giesbrecht, GG. 1995. The respiratory system in a cold environment. Aviat. Space Environ. 66, 890-902.
- Giesbrecht, GG. 2000. Cold stress, near drowning and accidental hypothermia: a review. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 71, 733-752.
- Glaser, R., Kielcot-Glaser, JK. 2005. Stress-induced immune dysfunction: implications for health. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5, 243-251.
- Gleeson, M., Bishop, N., Oliveira, M., McCauley, T., Tauler, P. 2011. Sex Differences in Immune Variables and Respiratory Infection Incidence in an Athletic Population. Exerc. Immunol. Review. 17, 122-135.
- Gleeson, M., Bishop, N., Oliveira, M., McCauley, T., Tauler, P., Muhamad, AS. 2012. Respiratory Infection Risk in Athletes: Association with Antigen-Stimulated IL-10 Production and Salivary IgA Secretion. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports. 22, 410-417.
- Gleeson, M., Bishop, N., Oliveira, M., Tauler, P. 2013. Influence of training load on upper respiratory tract infection incidence and antigen-stimulated cytokine production. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports. 23, 451-457.

Gleeson, M., Bishop, NC., Walsh, NP. 2013. Exercise Immunology. London, Routledge.

- Gleeson, M., McDonald, WA., Pyne, DB., Cripps, AW., Francis, JL., Fricker, PA., Clancy, RL. 1999. Salivary IgA levels and infection risk in elite swimmers. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 31, 67-73.
- Gleeson, M., McFarlin, BK., Flynn, MG. 2006. Exercise and toll-like receptors. Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 34, 176-181.
- Glund, S., Krook, A. 2008. Role of interleukin-6 signalling in glucose and lipid metabolism. Acta Physiol. 192, 37-48.
- Golden, CL., Dudley, GA. 1992. Strength after bouts of eccentric or concentric actions. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 24, 926-933.
- Golden, F., Tipton, M. 2002. Essentials of Sea Survival. Human Kinetics Publishers.
- Golstein-Golaire, J., Vanhaelst, L., Bruno, OD., Leclercq, R., Copinschi, G. 1970. Acute Effects of Cold on Blood Levels of Growth Hormone, Cortisol, and Thyrotropin in Man. J. Appl. Physiol. 29, 622-626.

- Gonzalez-Alonso, J., Teller, C., Andersen, SL., Jensen, FB., Hyldig, T., Nielsen, B. 1999. Influence of body temperature on the development of fatigue during prolonged exercise in the heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 86, 1032-1039
- Grant, SJ., Dowsett, D., Hutchison, C., Newell, J., Connor, T., Grant, P., Watt, M. 2002. A Comparison of Mountain Rescue Casualty Bags in a Cold, Windy Environment. Wilderness Environ. Med. 13, 36-44.
- Gromov, PS., Celis, JE. 1991. Identification of two molecular chaperons (HSX70, HSC70) in mature human erythrocytes. Exp. Cell Res. 195, 556-559.
- Gunst, JJ., Langlois, MR., Delanghe, JR., De Buyzere, ML., Leroux-Roels, GG. 1998. Serum Creatine Kinase Activity is Not a Reliable Marker for Muscle Damage in Conditions Associated with Low Extracellular Glutathione Concentration. Clin. Chem. 44, 939-43.
- Guyton, AC., Hall, JE. 1996. Textbook of medical physiology. 9th ed. Philadelpia, Saunders.
- Guzhova, I., Kislyakova, K., Moskaliova, O., Fridlanskaya, I., Tytell, M., Cheetham, M., Margulis, B. 2001. In vitro studies show that Hsp70 can be released by glia and that exogenous Hsp70 can enhance neuronal stress tolerance. Brain research. 914, 66-73.
- Hack, V., Strobel, G., Rau, J., Weicker, H. 1992. The effect of maximal exercise on the activity of neutrophil granulocytes in highly trained athletes in a moderate training period. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 65, 520-524.
- Hales, JR., Hubbard, RW., Gagnon, D. 1996. Limitations of heat tolerance. In Handbook of Physiology, Environmental Physiology.285-239. Oxford University Press.
- Hammami, MM., Bouchama, A., al-Sedairy, S., Shail, E., AlOhaly, Y., Mohamed, GE. 1997. Concentrations of soluble tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 receptors in heatstroke and heatstress. Crit. Care Med. 25, 1314-1319.
- Hashim, IA., Al-Zeer, A., Al-Shohaib, S., Al-Ahwal, M., Shenkin, A. 1997. Cytokine changes in patients with heatstroke during pilgrimage to Makkah. Mediators Inflamm. 6, 135-139.
- Hausenloy, DJ., Yellon, DM. 2006. Survival kinases in ischemic preconditioning and postconditioning. Cardiovasc. Res. 70, 240-253.

- Havas, E., Komulainen, J., Vihko, V. 1997. Exercise-induced increase in serum creatine kinase is modified by subsequent bed rest. Int. J. Sport Med. 18, 578-582.
- Heled, Y., Fleischmann, C., Epstein, Y. 2013. Cytokines and their role in hyperthermia and heat stroke. J. Basic Clin. Physiol. Pharmacol. 24, 85-96.
- Hemila, H., Virtamo, J., Albanes, D., Kaprio, J. 2003. Physical activity and the common cold in men administered vitamin E and beta-carotene. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 35, 1815-1820.
- Heneka, MT., Gavrilyuk, V., Landreth, GE., O'Banion, MK., Weinberg, G., Feinstein, DL. 2003. Noradrenergic depletion increases inflammatory responses in brain: effects on IkappaB and HSP70 expression. J. Neurochem. 85, 387-398.
- Hill, L., Cobbold, M. 1929. Common colds, Causes and Preventive Mesures. London, William Heinemann.
- Hiscock, N., Chan, MH., Bisucci, T., Darby, IA., Febbraio, MA. 2004. Skeletal muscle myocytes are a source of interleukin-6 mRNA expression and protein release during contraction: evidence of fiber type specificity. FASEB J. 18, 992-994.
- Hoffman-Goetz, L., Pedersen, BK. 1994. Exercise and the immune system: a model of the stress response? Immunol. Today. 15, 382-387.

Hollies, NRS., Goldman, RF. 1977. Clothing Confort. Ann Arbor Sci. Publ.

- Hollies, NRS., Goldman, RFG. 1977. Psychological scaling in comfort assessment. In: Interaction of Thermal, Ventilation, Construction, and Assessment Factors. Ann Arbor Sci. Publ. 107–120.
- Hong, EG., Ko, HJ., Cho, YR., Kim, HJ., Ma, Z., Yu, TY., Friedline, RH., Kurt-Jones, E., Finberg, R., Fischer, MA., Granger, EL., Norbury, CC., Hauschka, SD., Philbrick, WM., Elias, JA., Lee, CG., Kim, JK. 2009. Interleukin-10 prevents diet-induced insulin resistance by attenuating macrophage and cytokine response in skeletal muscle. Diabetes. 58, 2525-2535.
- Horowitz, M. 2007. Heat acclimation and cross-tolerance against novel stressors: genomic-physiological linkage. Prog. Brain Res. 162, 373-392.
- Horowitz, M. 2014. Heat acclimation, epigenetics, and cytoprotection memory. Compr. Physiol. 4, 199-230.

- Horowitz, M., Hales, JR. 1998. Pathophysiology of hyperthermia. In Physiology and Pathophysiology of Temperature Regulation, ed. Blatteis C. Singapore, World Scientific Publishing Co. 229-245.
- Horowitz, M., Robinson, SD. 2007. Heat shock proteins and the heat shock response during hyperthermia and its modulation by altered physiological conditions. Prog. Brain. Res. 162, 433-446
- Hortobagyi, T., Houmard, J., Fraser, D., Dudek, R., Lambert, J., Tracy, J. 1998. Normal forces and myofibrillar disruption after repeated eccentric exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 84, 492-498.
- Hough, T. 1900. Ergographic studies in muscular fatigue and soreness. J. Boston. Soc. Med. Sci. 5, 81-92.
- Howell, JN. 1995. Motor Control of Eccentric Muscle Activity. In Eccentric Muscle Training in Sports and Orthopedics. New York, Churchill-Livingston.
- ISO 8996. 1989. Ergonomics of Thermal Environments Determination of Metabolic Heat Production. Geneva, ISO.
- Jacks, DE., Sowash, J., Anning, J., McGloughlin, T., Andres, F. 2002. Effect of Exercise at Three Exercise Intensities on Salivary Cortisol. J. Strength Cond. Res. 16, 286-289.
- Janeway, CA. Jr., Medzhitov, R. 2002. Innate immune recognition. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 20, 197-216.

Jefferies, WM. 1991. Cortisol and Immunity. Med. Hypotheses. 34, 198-208.

- Jeukendrup, AE., Wagenmakers, AJ., Stegen, JH., Gijsen, AP., Brouns, F., Saris, WH. 1999. Carbohydrate ingestion can completely suppress endogenous glucose production during exercise. Am. J. Physiol. 276, 672-683.
- Jiang, R., Gao, B., Prasad, K., Greene, LE., Eisenberg, E. 2000. Hsc70 chaperones clathrin and primes it to interact with vesicle membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 8439-8447.
- Johnson, C., Eccles, R. 2005. Acute Cooling of the Feet and the Onset of Common Cold Symptoms. Family Practice. 22, 608-613.
- Johnson, JD., Campisi, J., Sharkey, CM., Kennedy, SL., Nickerson, M., Fleshner, M. 2005. Adrenergic receptors mediate stress-induced elevations in extracellular Hsp72. J. Appl. Physiol. 99, 1789-1795.

- Johnson, JD., Fleshner, M. 2006. Releasing signals, secretory pathways, and immune function of endogenous extracellular heat shock protein 72.J. Leukocyte Biol. 79, 425-434.
- Jones, DA., Newham, DJ., Torgan, C. 1989. Mechanical influences on long-lasting human muscle fatigue and delayed-onset pain. J. Physio. 412, 415-427.
- Jones, DA., Round, JM. 1997. Human muscle damage induced by eccentric exercise or reperfusion injury: A common mechanism? In ed. Salmon S., 64-75. New York, Oxford Press.
- Jonsdottir, IH. 2000. Special feature for the Olympics: effects of exercise on the immune system: neuropeptides and their interaction with exercise and immune function. Immunol. Cell Biol. 78, 562-570.
- Jurkovich, G., Greiser, W., Luterman, A., Curreri, P. 1987. Hypothermia in trauma victims: an ominous predictor of survival. J. Trauma. 27, 1019-1024.
- Kaisho, T., Akira, S. 2006. Toll-like receptor function and signalling. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117, 979-87.
- Kao, TY., Chio, CC., Lin, MT. 1994. Hypothalamic dopamine release and local cerebral blood flow during onset of heatstroke in rats. Stroke. 25, 2483-2486.
- Kappel, M., Tvede, N., Galbo, H., Haahr, PM., Kluger, MJ., Linstow, M., Klarlund, K., Pedersen, BK. 1991. Evidence that the effect of physical exercise on NK cell activity is mediated by epinephrine. J. Appl. Physiol. 70, 2530-2534.
- Kark, JA., Burr, PQ., Wenger, CB., Gastaldo, E., Gardner, JW. 1996. Exertional heat illness in Marine Corps recruit training. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 67, 354-360.
- Kawanishi, N., Yano, H., Yokogawa, Y., Suzuki, K. 2010. Exercise training inhibits inflammation in adipose tissue via both suppression of macrophage infiltration and accelleration of phenotypic switching from M1 to M2 macrophages in high-fat-diet induced obese mice. Exerc Immunol Rev. 16,105-18.
- Keatinge, WR., Khartchenko, M., Lando, N., Lioutov, V. 2001. Hypothermia during sports swimming in water below 11 degrees C. Br. J. Sports Med. 35, 352-353.
- Keller, C., Keller, P., Marshal, S. 2003. IL-6 gene expression in human adipose tissue in response to exercise. J Physiol. 550, 927–931.

- Keller, C., Steensberg, A., Hansen, AK., Fischer, CP., Plomgaard, P., Pedersen, BK.
 2005. Effect of exercise, training, and glycogen availability on IL-6 receptor expression in human skeletal muscle. J. App. Physiol. 99, 2075-2079.
- Kelty, JD., Noseworthy, PA., Feder, ME., Robertson, RM., Ramirez, JM. 2002. Thermal preconditioning and heat-shock protein 72 preserve synaptic transmission during thermal stress. J. Neurosci. 22, 193-207.
- Kindt, TJ., Osborne, BA., Goldsby, R. 2006. Kuby Immunology. Basingstoke, WH Freeman at Macmillan Press.
- King, YT., Lin, CS., Lin, JH., Lee, WC. 2002. Whole-body hyperthermia-induced thermotolerance is associated with the induction of heat shock protein 70 in mice. J. Exp. Biol. 205, 273-278.
- Kjaer, M., Secher, NH., Bach, FW., Sheikh, S., Galbo H. 1989. Hormonal and metabolic responses to exercise in humans: effect of sensory nervous blockade. Am. J. Physiol. 257, 95-101.
- Kostka, T., Berthouze, SE., Lacour, J., Bonnefoy, M. 2000. The symptomatology of upper respiratory tract infections and exercise in elderly people. Med. Sci. Sports. Exerc. 32, 46-51.
- Kregel, KC., Moseley, PL. 1996. Differential effects of exercise and heat stress on liver HSP70 accumulation with aging. J. Appl. Physiol. 80, 547-551.
- Kruger, K., Mooren, FC. 2007. T Cell Homing and Exercise. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 13, 37-54.
- Kuennen, M., Gillum, T., Dokladny, K., Bedrick, E., Schneider, S., Moseley, P. 2011.
 Thermotolerance and heat acclimation may share a common mechanism in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 301, 524-533
- Kuennen, M., Gillum, T., Dokladny, K., Bedrick, E., Schneider, S., Moseley, P. 2011.
 Thermotolerance and heat acclimation may share a common mechanism in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 301, 524 –533.
- Kurz, A., Sessler, DI., Lenhardt, R. 1996. Perioperative normothermia to reduce the incidence of surgical-wound infection and shorten hospitalization.N. Engl. J. Med. 334, 1209-1215.
- Lackovic, V., Borecky, L., Vigas, M., Rovensky, J. 1988. Activation of NK Cells in Subjects Exposed to Mild Hyper- Or Hypothermic Load. J. Interf. Res. 8, 393-402.

- Laing, SJ., Jackson, AR., Walters, R., Lloyd-Jones, E., Whitham, M., Maassen, N., Walsh, N. 2008. Human Blood Neutrophil Responses to Prolonged Exercise with and without a Thermal Clamp. J. Appl. Physiol. 104, 20-26.
- Lambert, GP., Broussard, LJ., Mason, BL., Mauermann, WJ., Gisolfi, CV. 2001. Gastrointestinal permeability during exercise: effects of aspirin and energycontaining beverages. J. Appl. Physiol. 90, 2075–2080.
- Lancaster, GI., Halson, SL., Khan, Q., Drysdale, P., Wallace, F., Jeukendrup, AE., Drayson, MT., Gleeson, M. 2004. Effects of acute exhaustive exercise and chronic exercise training on type 1 and type 2 T lymphocytes. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 10, 91-106.
- Lancaster, GI., Khan, Q., Drysdale, P., Wallace, F., Jeukendrup, AE., Drayson, MT., Gleeson, M. 2005. The physiological regulation of toll-like receptor expression and function in humans. J. Physio. 563, 945-955.
- Lapostoll, F., Sebbah, JL., Couvreur, J., Kock, FJ., Savary, D., Tazarourte, K., Egman, G., Mzab, L., Galinski, G., Adnet F. 2012. Risk factors for onset of hypothermia in trauma victims: The HypoTraum study. Crit. Care. 16, 142.
- LaVoy, EC., McFarlin, BK., Simpson, RJ. 2011. Immune Responses to Exercising in a Cold Environment. Wilderness Environ. 22, 343-351.
- Leon, LR., Blaha, MD., DuBose, DA. 2006. Time course of cytokine, corticosterone, and tissue injury responses in mice during heat strain recovery. J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 1400-1409.
- Leon, LR., Bouchama, A. 2015. Heat Stroke. Compr. Physiol. 5, 611-47.
- Lewicki, R., Tchorzewski, H., Denys, A., Kowalska, M., Golinska, A. 1987. Effect of physical exercise on some parameters of immunity in conditioned sportsmen. Int. J. Sports Med. 8, 309-314.
- Li, PL., Chao, YM., Chan, SH., Chan, JY. 2001. Potentiation of baroreceptor reflex response by heat shock protein 70 in nucleus tractus solitarii confers cardiovascular protection during heatstroke. Circulation. 103, 2114-2119.
- Lieber, RL., Friden, J. 1993. Muscle damage is not a function of muscle force but active muscle strain. J. Appl. Physiol. 74, 520-526.
- Lim, CL., Mackinnon, LT. 2006. The roles of exercise-induced immune system disturbances in the pathology of heat stroke : the dual pathway model of heat stroke. Sports Med. 36, 39-64.

- Lu, KC., Wang, JY., Lin, SH., Chu, P., Lin, YF. 2004. Role of circulating cytokines and chemokines in exertional heatstroke. Crit. Care Med. 32, 399-403.
- Luna, GK., Maier, RV., Pavlin, EG., Anardi, D., Copass, MK., Oreskovich, MR. 1987. Incidence and effect of hypothermia in seriously injured patients. J. Trauma. 27, 1014-1018.
- Lynn, R., Morgan, DL. 1994. Decline running produces more sarcomeres in rat vastus intermedius muscle fibers than does incline running.J. Appl. Physiol 77, 1439-1444.
- MacGregor, AR. 1988. The Nature and Causes of Injuries Sustained in 190 Scottish Mountain Accidents: Summary Report. Wilderness Environ. Med. 13, 36-44.
- MacIntyre, DL., Reid, WD., McKenzie, DC. 1995. Delayed Muscle Soreness. The Inflammatory Response to Muscle Injury and its Clinical Implications. Sports Med. 20, 24-40.

Mackinnon, LT. 1997. Immunity in athletes. Int. J. Sport Med. 18, 62-68.

- Makinen, TM., Juvonen, R., Jokelainen, J., Harju, TH., Peitso, A., Bloigu, A., Silvennoinen-Kassinen, S., Leinonen, M., Hassi, J. 2009. Cold Temperature and Low Humidity are Associated with Increased Occurrence of Respiratory Tract Infections. Resp. Med. 103, 456-462.
- Malm, C., Nyberg, P., Engstrom, M., Sjodin, B., Lenkei, R., Ekblom, B., Lundberg, I.
 2000. Immunological changes in human skeletal muscle and blood after eccentric exercise and multiple biopsies. J. Physiol. 529, 243-262.
- Malpica, MI., Rodriguez, AB., Saez, MC., Garcia, JJ., Barriga, C., Ortega, E. 2002. In-Vitro Study of the Effect of Adrenaline on the Functional Capacity of Human Neutrophils: Role during Exercise. J. Neuroendocrinology. 14, 824-828.
- Marini, M., Frabetti, F., Musiani, D., Franceschi, C. 1996. Oxygen radicals induce stress proteins and tolerance to oxidative stress in human lymphocytes. Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 70, 337-350.
- Marshall, HC., Ferguson, RA., Nimmo, MA. 2006. Human resting extracellular heat shock protein 72 concentration decreases during the initial adaptation to exercise in a hot, humid environment. Cell stress Chaperones. 11, 129-134.
- Martinez, J., Perez-Serrano, J., Bernadina, WE., Rodriguez-Caabeiro, F. 2000. Detection of Heat Shock Protein-70 from Trichinella Spiralis Larvae using a Modification of the Routine Western Blotting Procedure. J. Parasit. 86, 637-639.

- Mason, JW. 1972. Organization of psychoendocrine mechanisms: A review and reconsideration of research. New York Holt, Rinehart & Winston. 3-91.
- Mathur, N., Pedersen BK. 2008. Exercise as a mean to control low-grade inflammation. Mediators Inflamm.
- Matsui, T., Ishikawa, T., Takeuchi, H., Tsukahara, M., Maekawa, T. 2004. Mild Hypothermia Inhibits IL-10 Production in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells. Acta Anaest. Scand. 48, 205-210.
- Matthews, CE., Ockene, IS., Freedson, PS., Rosal, MC., Merriam, PA., Hebert, JR. 2002. Moderate to vigorous physical activity and risk of upper-respiratory tract infection. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 34, 1242-1248.
- Matz, JM., LaVoi, KP., Blake, MJ. 1996. Adrenergic regulation of the heat shock response in brown adipose tissue. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 277, 1751-1758.
- Matz, JM., LaVoi, KP., Moen, RJ., Blake, MJ. 1996. Cold-induced heat shock protein expression in rat aorta and brown adipose tissue. Physiol. Behav. 60, 1369-1374.
- Mausch, K., Rulkowska, H. 1993. Life stress events and individual reactions to stress in relation to illness. Psychiatr. Pol. 27, 35-42.
- McDowell, SL., Chaloa, K., Housh, TJ., Tharp, GD., Johnson, GO. 1991. The effect of exercise intensity and duration on salivary immunoglobulin A. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 63, 108-111.
- McHugh, MP., Connolly, DA., Eston, RG., Gleim, GW. 1999. Exercise-induced muscle damage and potential mechanisms for the repeated bout effect. Sports Med. 27, 157-170.
- Meckel Y, Eliakim A, Seraev M, Zaldivar F, Cooper DM, Sagiv M, and Nemet D. 2009. The effect of a brief sprint interval exercise on growth factors and inflammatory mediators. J. Strength Cond. Res. 23, 225-30.
- Mizrahi, J., Verbitsky, O., Isakov, E. 2001. Fatigue-induced changes in decline running. Clin. Biomech. 16, 207-212.
- Montain, SJ., Latzka, WA., Sawka, MN. 2000. Impact of muscle injury and accompanying inflammatory response on thermoregulation during exercise in the heat. J. Appl. Physiol. 89, 1123–1130.

- Moore, JP., Harper Smith, AD., Di, FU., Walsh, NP. 2013. Three nights of sleep deprivation does not alter thermal strain during exercise in the heat. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 113, 2353-2360.
- Moran, DS., Eli-Berchoer, L., Heled, Y., Mendel, L., Schocina, M., Horowitz, M. 2006. Heat intolerance: does gene transcription contribute? J. Appl. Physiol. 100, 1370-1376.
- Moran, DS., Shitzer, A., Pandolf, KB.1998. A physiological strain index to evaluate heat stress. Am. J. Physiol. 275, 129-134.
- Morgan, DL., Allen, DG. 1999. Early events in stretch-induced muscle damage. J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 2007-2015.
- Mrosovsky, N. 1990. Rheostasis: The physiology of change. New York, Oxford University Press. 3-5.
- Muldoon, S., Deuster, P., Brandom, B., Bunger, R. 2004. Is there a link between malignant hyperthermia and exertional heat illness? Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 32, 174-179.
- Muldoon, S., Deuster, P., Voelkel, M., Capacchione, J., Bunger, R. 2008. Exertional heat illness, exertional rhabdomyolysis, and malignant hyperthermia: is there a link? Curr. Sports Med. Rep. 7, 74-80.
- Myrphy, KM. 2011. Janeway's Immunobiology. New York and London: Garland Science.
- Nehlsen-Cannarella, SL., Fagoaga, OR., Nieman, DC., Henson, DA., Butterworth, DE., Scmitt, RL., Bailey, DM., Warren, BJ., Utter, A., Davis JM. 1997. Carbohydrate and the cytokine response to 2.5 h of running. J. Appl. Physiol. 82, 1662-1667.
- Nehlsen-Cannarella, SL., Nieman, DC., Jesson, J., Chang, G., Gusewitch, GG., Blix, GG., Ashley, E. 1991. The effects of acute moderate exercise on lymphocyte function and serum immunoglobulin levels. Int. J. Sports Med. 12, 391-398.
- Newham, DJ., Jones, DA., Clarkson, PM. 1987. Repeated high-force eccentric exercise: effects on muscle pain and damage. J. Appl. Physiol. 63, 1381-1386.
- Newham, DJ., Jones, DA., Ghosh, G., Aurora, P. 1988. Muscle fatigue and pain after eccentric contractions at long and short length. Clin. Sci. 74, 553-557.

- Newham, DJ., McPhail, G., Mills, KR., Edwards, RH. 1983. Ultrastructural changes after concentric and eccentric contractions of human muscle. J. Neurol. Sci. 61, 109-122.
- Newham, DJ., Mills, KR., Quigley, BM., Edwards, RH. 1983. Pain and fatigue after concentric and eccentric muscle contractions. Clin. Sci. 64, 55-62.
- Nieman, DC. 1994. Exercise, infection, and immunity. Int. J. Sports Med. 15, 131-141.
- Nieman, DC. 2000. Is infection risk linked to exercise workload? Med. Sci. Sports. Exerc. 32, 406-411.
- Nieman, DC., Davis, JM., Henson, DA., Shute, M., Dumke, CL., Utter, A., Vinci, DM., Carson, JA., Brown, AS., Lee, JW., McAnulty, SR., McAnulty LS. 2003.
 Carbohydrate ingestion influences skeletal muscle cytokine mRNA and plasma cytokine levels after a 3-h run. J. Appl. Physiol. 94, 1917-25.
- Nieman, DC., Henson, DA., Dumke, CL., Oley, K., McAnulty, SR., Davis, JM., Murphy, EA., Utter, AC., Lind, RH., McAnulty, LS., Morrow, JD. 2006. Ibuprofen use, endotoxemia, inflammation, and plasma cytokines during ultramarathon competition. Brain Behav. Immun. 20, 578–84.
- Nieman, DC., Henson, DA., Smith, LL., Utter, AC., Vinci, DM., Davis, JM., Kaminsky, DE., Shute, M. 2001. Cytokine changes after a marathon race. J Appl. Physiol. 91, 109–14.
- Nieman, DC., Johanssen, LM., Lee, JW., Arabatzis, K. 1990. Infectious episodes in runners before and after the Los Angeles Marathon.J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness. 30, 316-328.
- Nieman, DC., Miller, AR., Henson, DA., Warren, BJ., Gusewitch, G., Johnson, RL., Davis, JM., Butterworth, DE., Nehlsen-Cannarella SL. 1993. Effect of high versus moderate-intensity exercise on natural killer activity. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 25, 1126-34.
- Nieman, DC., Nehlsen-Cannarella, SL., Fagoaga, OR., Henson, DA., Utter, A., Davis, JM., Williams, F., Butterworth, DE. 1998. Effects of mode and carbohydrate on the granulocyte and monocyte response to intensive, prolonged exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 84, 1252-1259.
- Nieman, DC., Nehlsen-Cannarella, SL., Markoff, PA., Balk-Lamberton, AJ., Yang, H., Chritton, DB., Lee, JW., Arabatzis, K. 1990. The effects of moderate exercise training on natural killer cells and acute upper respiratory tract infections. Int. J. Sport Med. 11, 467-473.

- Nieman, DC., Tan, SA., Lee, JW., Berk, LS. 1989. Complement and immunoglobulin levels in athletes and sedentary controls. Int. J. Sports Med. 10, 124-8.
- Nishi, Y. 1981. Measurement of thermal balance in man. In: Bioengineering, Thermal Physiology and Comfort. New York, Elsevier. 29–39.
- Nosaka, K., Clarkson, PM. 1994. Effect of eccentric exercise on plasma enzyme activities previously elevated by eccentric exercise. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 69, 492-497.
- Nosaka, K., Clarkson, PM. 1995. Muscle damage following repeated bouts of high force eccentric exercise. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 27, 1263-1269.
- Nosaka, K., Clarkson, PM. 1996. Variability in serum creatine kinase response after eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. Int. J. Sport Med. 17, 120-127.
- Nosaka, K., Clarkson, PM., McGuiggin, ME., Byrne, JM. 1991. Time course of muscle adaptation after high force eccentric exercise. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol Occup. Physiol. 63, 70-76.
- Nosaka, K., Sakamoto, K. 2001. Effect of elbow joint angle on the magnitude of muscle damage to the elbow flexors. Med. Sci. Sport and Exerc. 33, 22-29.
- Nuckton, TJ., Claman, DM., Goldreich, D., Wendt, FC., Nuckton, JG. 2000. Hypothermia and Afterdrop Following Open Water Swimming: The Alcatraz/San Francisco Swim Study. Vol. 18.
- Nybo, L., Nielsen, B., Pedersen, BK. 2002. Interleukin-6 release from the human brain during prolonged exercise. J. Physiol. 542, 991-995.
- O'Reilly, KP., Warhol, MJ., Fielding, RA., Frontera, WR., Meredith, CN., Evans, WJ. 1987. Eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage impairs muscle glycogen repletion.
 J. Appl. Physiol. 63, 252–256.
- Oehler, R., Pusch, E., Zellner, M., Dungel, P., Hergovics, N., Homoncik, M., Eliasen, MM., Brabec, M., Roth, E. 2001. Cell type-specific variations in the induction of hsp70 in human leukocytes by feverlike whole body hyperthermia. Cell Stress Chaperones. 6, 306-315.
- Ohtsuka, K., and Suzuki T. 2000. Roles of molecular chaperones in the nervous system. Brain Res. Bull. 53, 141-146.

- Okutsu, M., Suzuki, K., Ishijima, T., Peake, J., Higuchi, M. 2008. The effects of acute exercise-induced cortisol on CCR2 expression on human monocytes. Brain Behav. Immun. 22, 1066-1071.
- Ortega, E. 2003. Neuroendocrine mediators in the modulation of phagocytosis by exercise: physiological implications. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 9, 70-93.
- Ortega, E., Collazos, M., Maynar, M., Barriga, C., De la Fuente, M. 1993. Stimulation of the phagocytic function of neutrophils in sedentary men after acute moderate exercise. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 66, 60-64.
- Ortega, E., Forner, MA., Barriga, C. 1997. Exercise-induced stimulation of murine macrophage chemotaxis: role of corticosterone and prolactin as mediators. J. Physiol. 498, 729-734.
- Ortega, E., Marchena, JM., Garcia, JJ., Barriga, C., Rodriguez, AB. 2005. Norepinephrine as Mediator in the Stimulation of Phagocytosis Induced by Moderate Exercise. Eur. J. App. Physiol. 93, 714-718.
- Ortega, E., Rodriguez, MJ., Barriga, C., Forner, MA. 1996. Corticosterone, prolactin and thyroid hormones as hormonal mediators of the stimulated phagocytic capacity of peritoneal macrophages after high-intensity exercise. Int. J. Sport Med. 17, 149-155.
- Ostrowski, k., Rohde, T., Asp, S., Schjerling, P., Pedersen, BK. 1999. Pro- and antiinflammatory cytokine balance in strenuous exercise in humans. J. Physiol. 515, 287-291
- Ostrowski, K., Rohde, T., Zacho, M., Asp, S., Pedersen, BK. 1998. Evidence that interleukin-6 is produced in human skeletal muscle during prolonged running. J. Physiol. 508, 949–953.
- Paddon-Jones, D., Muthalib, M., Jenkins, D. 2000. The effects of a repeated bout of eccentric exercise on indices of muscle damage and delayed onset muscle soreness. J. Sci. Med. Sport. 3, 35-43.
- Pandolf, K. 1998. Time course of heat acclimation and its decay. Int. J. Sports Med. 19, 157–160.
- Parham, P. 2009. The immune system. New York and London, Garland Science.
- Park, SH., Lee, SJ., Chung, HY., Kim, TH., Cho, CK., Yoo, SY., Lee, YS. 2000. Inducible heat-shock protein 70 is involved in the radioadaptive response. Radiat. Res. 153, 318-326.

- Pastukhov I, Ekimova IV, Guzhova IV. 2003. Major stress protein has pyrogenic action. Dokl. Biol. Sci. 388, 41-44
- Paulsen, G., Lauritzen, F., Bayer, ML., Kalhovde, JM., Ugelstad, I., Owe, SG., Hallen, J., Bergersen, LH., Raastad, T. 2009. Subcellular movement and expression of HSP27, alphaB-crystallin, and HSP70 after two bouts of eccentric exercise in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 107, 570-582
- Paulsen, G., Mikkelsen, UR., Raastad, T., Peake, JM. 2012. Leucocytes, cytokines and satellite cells: what role do they play in muscle damage and regeneration following eccentric exercise? Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 18, 42–97.
- Pavlik, A., Aneja, IS., Lexa, J., Al-Zoabi, BA. 2003. Identification of cerebral neurons and glial cell types inducing heat shock protein Hsp70 following heat stress in the rat. Brain Res. 973, 179-189.
- Pawelczyk, JA., Pawelczyk, RA., Warberg, J., Mitchell, JH., Secher, NH. 1997. Cardiovascular and catecholamine responses to static exercise in partially curarized humans. Acta Physiol. Scand. 160, 23-28.
- Peake, JM., Suzuki, K., Hordern, M., Wilson, G., Nosaka, K., Coombes, JS. 2005. Plasma cytokine changes in relation to exercise intensity and muscle damage. Eur. J. App. Physiol. 95, 514-521.
- Peake, JM., Suzuki, K., Wilson, G., Hordern, M., Nosaka, K., Mackinnon, L., Coombes, JS. 2005. Exercise-induced muscle damage, plasma cytokines, and markers of neutrophil activation. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 37, 737-745.
- Pedersen, BK, Toft, AD. 2000. Effects of exercise on lymphocytes and cytokines. Br. J. Sports Med. 34, 246-251.
- Pedersen, BK. 1991. Influence of physical activity on the cellular immune system: mechanisms of action. Int. J. Sports Med. 1, 23-9.
- Pedersen, BK., Fischer, C.P. 2007. Beneficial health effects of exercise: the role of IL-6 as a myokine. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 28, 152-156.
- Pedersen, BK., Hoffman-Goetz, L. 2000. Exercise and the immune system: regulation, integration, and adaptation. Physiol. Rev. 80, 1055-1081.
- Pedersen, BK., Steensberg, A., Schjerling, P. 2001. Muscle-derived interleukin-6: possible biological effects. J. Physiol. 536, 329–337.

- Pedersen, BK., Tvede, N., Hansen, FR., Andersen, V., Bendix, T., Bendixen, G., Bendtzen, K., Galbo, H., Haahr, PM., Klarlund, K., Sylvest, J., Thomsen, B., Halkjaer-Kristensen, J. 1988. Modulation of natural killer cell activity in peripheral blood by physical exercise. Scand. J. Immunol. 27, 673-8.
- Peternelj, TT., Coombes, JS. 2011. Antioxidant supplementation during exercise training: beneficial or detrimental? Sports Med. 41, 1043–69.
- Peters, EM. 1997. Exercise, immunology and upper respiratory tract infections. Int. J. Sport Med. 18, 69-77.
- Peters, EM., Bateman, ED. 1983. Ultramarathon running and upper respiratory tract infections. An epidemiological survey. S. Afr. Med. J. 64, 582-584.
- Peters, EM., Shaik, J, Kleinveldt, N. 2010. Upper respiratory tract infection symptoms in ultramarathon runners not related to immunoglobulin status. Clin. J. Sport Med. 20, 39-46.
- Pirkkala, L., Nykanen, P., Sistonen, L. 2001. Roles of the heat shock transcription factors in regulation of the heat shock response and beyond. FASEB J.15, 1118-1131.
- Pittet, JF., Lee, H., Morabito, D., Howard, MB., Welch, WJ., Mackersie, RC. 2002. Serum levels of Hsp 72 measured early after trauma correlate with survival. J. Trauma. 52, 611-617.
- Pizza, FX., Davis, BH., Henrickson, SD., Mitchell, JB., Pace, JF., Bigelow, N., DiLauro, P., Naglieri, T. 1996. Adaptation to eccentric exercise: effect on CD64 and CD11b/CD18 expression. J. Appl. Physiol. 80, 47-55.
- Playfair, JHL., Bancroft, G. 2004. Infection and Immunity. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Ploutz-Snyder, LL., Tesch, PA., Dudley, GA. 1998. Increased vulnerability to eccentric exercise-induced dysfunction and muscle injury after concentric training. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 79, 58-61.
- Pockley, AG., Shepherd, J., Corton, JM. 1998. Detection of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) and anti-Hsp70 antibodies in the serum of normal individuals. Immunol. Invest. 27, 367-377.
- Potteiger, JA., Chan, MA., Haff, GG., Mathew, S., Schroeder, CA., Haub, MD. 2001. Training status influences T-cell responses in women following acute resistance exercise. J. Strength Cond. Res. 15, 185-91.

- Prohaszka, Z., Fust, G. 2004. Immunological aspects of heat-shock proteins-the optimum stress of life. Mol. Immunol. 41, 29-44.
- Prohaszka, Z., Singh, M., Nagy, K., Kiss, E., Lakos, G., Duba, J., Fust, G. 2002. Heat shock protein 70 is a potent activator of the human complement system. Chaperones. 7, 17-22.
- Pugh, LG., Corbett, JL., Johnson, RH. 1967. Rectal temperatures, weight losses, and sweat rates in marathon running. J. App. Physiol. 23, 347-352.
- Pyne, DB. 1994. Regulation of neutrophil function during exercise. Sports Med. 17, 245-258.
- Qian, YZ., Bernardo, NL., Nayeem, MA., Chelliah, J., Kukreja, RC. 1999. Induction of 72-kDa heat shock protein does not produce second window of ischemic preconditioning in rat heart. Am. J. Physiol. 276, 224-234.
- Rae, DE., Knobel, GJ., Mann, T., Swart, J., Tucker, R., Noakes, TD. 2008. Heatstroke during endurance exercise: is there evidence for excessive endothermy? Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 40, 1193-1204.
- Ramanathan, NL. 1964. A new weighting system for mean surface temperature of the human body. J. Appl. Physiol. 19, 531–533.
- Ramel, A., Wagner, KH. 2004. Correlations between Plasma Noradrenaline Concentrations, Antioxidants, and Neutrophil Counts After Submaximal Resistance Exercise in Men. Br. J. Sports Med. 38, 22-27.
- Ramel, A., Wagner, KH., Elmadfa, I. 2003. Acute Impact of Submaximal Resistance Exercise on Immunological and Hormonal Parameters in Young Men.J. Sports Sci. 21, 1001-1008.
- Rav-Acha, M., Hadad, E., Epstein, Y., Heled, Y., Moran, DS. Fatal exertional heat stroke: a case series. Am. J. Med. Sci. 328, 84–87.
- Redaelli, CA., Wagner, M., Kulli, C., Tian, YH., Kubulus, D., Mazzucchelli, L., Wagner, AC., Schilling, MK. 2001. Hyperthermia-induced HSP expression correlates with improved rat renal isograft viability and survival in kidneys harvested from non-heart-beating donors. Transpl. Int. 14, 351-360.
- Ren, K. Dubner, R. 2010. Interactions between the immune and nervous systems in pain. J. Appl. Physiol. 115, 1126-1137.

- Reshef, A., Sperling, O., Zoref-Shani, E. 1996. Preconditioning of primary rat neuronal cultures against ischemic injury: characterization of the "time window of protection'. Brain Res. 741, 252-257.
- Rhind, SG., Castellani , JW., Brenner, IK., Shephard, RJ., Zamecnik, J., Montain, SJ., Young, AJ., Shek, PN. Intracellular monocyte and serum cytokine expression is modulated by exhausting exercise and cold exposure. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 281, 66-75.
- Rhind, SG., Gannon, GA., Shephard, RJ., Buguet, A., Shek, PN., Radomski, MW.
 2004. Cytokine induction during exertional hyperthermia is abolished by core temperature clamping: neuroendocrine regulatory mechanisms.
 Int. J. Hyperthermia. 20, 503-516.
- Ristow, M., Zarse, K., Oberbach, A., Klöting, N., Birringer, M., Kiehntopf, M., Stumvoll, M., Kahn, CR., Blüher, M. 2009. Antioxidants prevent healthpromoting effects of physical exercise in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 106, 8665–8670.
- Roberts, C., Pyne, DB., Horowitz, M. 2004. CD94 expression and natural killer cell activity after acute exercise. J. Sci. Med. Sport. 7, 237-47.
- Robinson, MB., Tidwell, JL., Gould, T., Taylor, AR., Newbern, JM., Graves, J., Tytell,
 M., Milligan, CE. 2005. Extracellular heat shock protein 70: a critical component for motoneuron survival. J. Neurosci. 25, 9735-9745.
- Robson, PJ., Blannin, AK., Walsh, NP., Castell, LM., Gleeson, M. 1999. Effects of exercise intensity, duration and recovery on in vitro netruphil function in male athletes. Int. J. Sports Med. 20, 128-35.
- Rodriguez, AB., Barriga, C., De la Fuente, M. 1991. Phagocytic function of blood neutrophils in sedentary young people after physical exercise. Int. J. Sports Med. 12, 276-80.
- Romanovsky, AA. 2007. Thermoregulation: some concepts have changed.Functional architecture of the thermoregulatory system.Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 292, 37–46.
- Roth, SM., Martel, GF., Rogers, MA. 2000. Muscle biopsy and muscle fiber hypercontraction: a brief review. Eur. J Appl. Physiol. 83, 239-245.
- Ruell, PA., Thompson, MW., Hoffman, KM., Brotherhood, JR., Richards, DA. 2006. Plasma Hsp72 is higher in runners with more serious symptoms of exertional heat illness. Eur. J Appl. Physiol. 97, 732-736.

- Rummel, C., Sachot, C., Poole, S., Luheshi, GN. 2006. Circulating interleukin-6 induces fever through a STAT3-linked activation of COX-2 in the brain.
 Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 291, 1316–1326.
- Salo, DC., Donovan, CM., Davies, KJ. 1991. HSP70 and Other Possible Heat Shock Or Oxidative Stress Proteins are Induced in Skeletal Muscle, Heart, and Liver during Exercise. Free Radical Biol. Med. 11, 239-246.
- Santoro, MG. 2000. Heat shock factors and the control of the stress response. Biochem. Pharmacol. 59, 55-63.
- Savina, A., Furlan, M., Vidal, M., Colombo, MI. 2003. Exosome release is regulated by a calcium-dependent mechanism in K562 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 20083-20090.
- Sawka, MN., Leon, LR., Montain, SJ., Sonna, LA. 2011. Integrated physiological mechanisms of exercise performance, adaptation, and maladaptation to heat stress. Compr. Physiol. 1, 1883–1928.
- Saxton, JM., Clarkson, PM., James, R., Miles, M., Westerfer, M., Clark, S., Donnelly, AE. 1995. Neuromuscular dysfunction following eccentric exercise. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 27, 1185-1193.
- Saxton, JM., Donnelly, AE. 1995. Light concentric exercise during recovery from exercise-induced muscle damage. Int. J. Sport Med. 16, 347-351.
- Saxton, JM., Donnelly, AE. 1996. Length-specific impairment of skeletal muscle contractile function after eccentric muscle actions in man. Clin. Sci. 90, 119-125.
- Sayers, SP., Clarkson, PM., Lee, J. 2000. Activity and immobilization after eccentric exercise: II. Serum CK. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 32, 1593-1597.
- Selkirk, GA., McLellan, TM., Wright, HE., Rhind, SG. 2008. Mild endotoxemia, NF-kappaB translocation, and cytokine increase during exertional heat stress in trained and untrained individuals.
 Am. J. Physiol. Reg. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, 611-623.
- Selye, H. 1956. The stress of life. McGraw-Hill. 4-13.
- Shek, PN., Sabiston, BH., Paucod, JC., Vidal, D. 1994. Strenous exercise and immune changes. Int. J. Sports Med. 16, 466-474.
- Shek, PN., Shephard, RJ. 1998. Physical exercise as a human model of limited inflammatory response. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 76, 589-597.

- Shellock, FG., Fukunaga, T., Mink, JH., Edgerton, VR. 1991. Exertional muscle injury: evaluation of concentric versus eccentric actions with serial MR imaging. Radiology. 179, 659-664.
- Shephard, RJ. 1997. Physical activity, training and immune response. Cooper Publishing Group.
- Shephard, RJ. 2010. The history of exercise immunology. Human kinetics, 2010.
- Shephard, RJ., Shek, PN. 1996. Impact of physical activity and sport on the immune system. Rev. Environ. Health. 11, 133-147.
- Shephard, RJ., Shek, PN. 1998. Cold exposure and immune function. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 76, 828-36.
- Shephard, RJ. 1998. Immune changes induced by exercise in an adverse environment. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 76, 539-546.
- Shephard, RJ. 2010. Development of the discipline of exercise immunology. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 16, 194-222.
- Shephard, RJ., Gannon, G., Hay, JB., Shek, PN. 2000. Adhesion molecule expression in acute and chronic exercise. Crit Rev. Immunol. 20, 245-266.
- Shephard, RJ., Kavanagh, T., Mertens, DJ., Qureshi, S., Clark, M. 1995. Personal health benefits of Masters athletics competition. Br. J. Sports Med. 29, 35-40.
- Shephard, RJ., Shek, PN. 1999. Exercise, immunity, and susceptibility to infection: a j-shaped relationship? Phys. Sportsmed. 27, 47-71.
- Shephard, RJ., Shek, PN. 1999. Immune dysfunction as a factor in heat illness. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 19, 285–302.
- Shephard, RJ., Verde, TJ., Thomas, SG., Shek, PN. 1991. Physical activity and the immune system. Can. J. Sports Sci. 16, 169-85.

Sherrington, CS. 1941. Man on his nature. Cambridge, England: University Press.

Shetty, P. 2010. Nutrition, Immunity and Infection. Wallingford, CABI.

Shinkai, S., Shore, S., Shek, PN., Shephard, RJ. 1992. Acute exercise and immune function. Relationship between lymphocyte activity and changes in subset counts. Int. J. Sport Med. 13, 452-461.
- Skidmore, R., Gutierrez, JA., Guerriero, Jr. V., Kregel, KC. 1995. HSP70 Induction during Exercise and Heat Stress in Rats: Role of Internal Temperature. Am. J. Physiol. 268, 92-97.
- Skinner, NA., MacIsaac, CM., Hamilton, JA., Visvanathan, K. 2005. Regulation of Tolllike receptor (TLR)2 and TLR4 on CD14dimCD16+ monocyte in response to sepsis-related antigens. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 141, 270-278.
- Smith, JA., Telford, RD., Mason, IB., Weidemann, MJ. 1990. Exercise, training and neutrophil microbicidal activity. Int. J. Sports Med. 11, 179-87.
- Smith, LL. 1991. Acute inflammation: the underlying mechanism in delayed onset muscle soreness? Med. Sci. sports Exerc. 23, 542-551.
- Smith, LL., McKune, AJ., Semple, SJ., Sibanda, E., Steel, H., Anderson, R. 2007. Changes in serum cytokines after repeated bouts of downhill running. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 32, 233-240.
- Smith, PD., MacDonald, TT., Blumberg, RS. 2012. Principles of Mucosal Immunology. New York and London, Garland.
- Smitherman, KO., Peacock, JE. 1995. Infectious emergencies in patients with diabetes mellitus. Med. Clin. North Am. 79, 53-77.
- Sondermann, H., Becker, T., Mayhew, M., Wieland, F., Hartl, FU. 2000. Characterization of a receptor for heat shock protein 70 on macrophages and monocytes. Biol. Chem. 381, 1165-1174.
- Sorichter, S., Koller, A., Haid, C., Wicke, K., Judmaier, W., Werner, P., Raas, E. 1995. Light concentric exercise and heavy eccentric muscle loading: effects on CK, MRI and markers of inflammation. Int. J. Sport Med. 16, 288-292.
- Sorichter, S., Puschendorf, B., Mair, J. 1999. Skeletal muscle injury induced by eccentric muscle action: muscle proteins as markers of muscle fiber injury. Exer. Immunol. Rev. 5, 5-21.
- Srivastava, PK., DeLeo, AB., Old, LJ. 1986. Tumor rejection antigens of chemically induced sarcomas of inbred mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. 83, 3407-3411.
- Staib, JL., Quindry, JC., French, JP., Criswell, DS., Powers, SK. 2007. Increased temperature, not cardiac load, activates heat shock transcription factor 1 and heat shock protein 72 expression in the heart.
 Am. J. Physiol. Reg. Int. Comp. Physiol. 292, 432-439.

- Starkie, RL., Arkinstall, MJ., Koukoulas, I., Hawley, JA., Febbraio, MA. 2001. Carbohydrate ingestion attenuates the increase in plasma interleukin-6, but not skeletal muscle interleukin-6 mRNA, during exercise in humans. J Physiol.533, 585-91.
- Starkie, RL., Hargreaves, M., Rolland, J., Febbraio, MA. 2005. Heat stress, cytokines, and the immune response to exercise. Brain Behav. Immun. 19, 404-412.
- Steensberg, A. 2003. The role of IL-6 in exercise-induced immune changes and metabolism. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 9, 40-7.
- Steensberg, A., Febbraio, MA., Osada, T., Schjerling, P., van Hall, G., Saltin, B., Pedersen, BK. 2001. Interleukin-6 production in contracting human skeletal muscle is influenced by pre-exercise muscle glycogen content.
 J. Physiol. 537, 633-639.
- Steensberg, A., Toft, AD., Bruunsgaard, H., Sandmand, M., Halkjaer-Kristensen, J., Pedersen, BK. 2001. Strenous exercise decreases the percentage of type 1 T cells in the circulation. J. Appl. Physiol. 91, 1708-12.
- Steensberg, A., van Hall, G., Osada, T., Sacchetti, M., Saltin, B., Pedersen, BK. 2000. Production of interleukin-6 in contracting human skeletal muscles can account for the exercise-induced increase in plasma interleukin-6. J. Physiol. 529, 237–242.
- Suzuki, K., Nakaji, S., Yamada, M., Totsuka, M., Sato, K., Sugawara, K. 2002. Systemic inflammatory response to exhaustive exercise. Cytokine kinetics. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 8, 6-48.
- Suzuki, K., Nakaji, S., Yamada, M., Totsuka, M., Sato, K., Sugawara, K. 2003. Impact of a competitive marathon race on systemic cytokine and neutrophil responses. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 35, 348-55.
- Suzuki, K., Totsuka, M., Nakaji, S., Yamada, M., Kudoh, S., Liu, Q., Sugawara, K., Yamaya, K., Sato, K. 1999. Endurance exercise causes interaction among stress hormones, cytokines, neutrophil dynamics, and muscle damage.
 J. Appl. Physiol. 87, 1360-7.
- Suzuki, K., Yamada, M., Kurakake, S., Okamura, N., Yamaya, K., Liu, Q., Kudoh, S., Kowatari, K., Nakaji, S., Sugawara, K. 2000. Circulating cytokines and hormones with immunosuppressive but neutrophil-priming potentials rise after endurance exercise in humans. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 81, 281-287.
- Takeda, K., Kaisho, T, Akira, S. 2003. Toll-like receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 21, 335-76.

- Teague, BN., Schwane, JA. 1995. Effect of intermittent eccentric contractions on symptoms of muscle microinjury. Med. Sci. Sport. Exerc. 27, 1378-1384.
- Tharp, GD., Barnes, MW. 1990. Reduction of saliva immunoglobulin levels by swim training. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 60, 61-64.
- Thomas, G., Souil, E., Richard, MJ., Saunier, B., Polla, BS., Bachelet, M. 2002. Hyperthermia assists survival of astrocytes from oxidative-mediated necrotic cell death. Cell Mol. Biol. 48, 191-198.
- Thompson, HS., Scordilis, SP., Clarkson, PM., Lohrer, WA. 2001. A single bout of eccentric exercise increases HSP27 and HSC/HSP70 in human skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol. Scand. 171, 187-193.
- Timmerman, KL., Flynn, MG., Coen, PM., Markofski, MM., Pence, BD. 2008. Exercise training-induced lowering of inflammatory (CD14+CD16+) monocytes: a role in the anti-inflammatory influences of exercise? J. Leukoc. Biol. 84, 1271-1278.
- Tintiger, GR., Theron, AJ., Anderson, R., Khan, Q. 2001. The anti-inflammatory interactions of epinephrine with human neutrophils in vitro are achieved by cyclic AMP-mediated accelerated resequestration of cytosolic calcium. Biochem, Pharmacol. 61, 1319-28.
- Tipton, MJ. 1989. The Initial Responses to Cold-Water Immersion in Man. Clin. Sci. 77, 581-588.
- Toates, F. 1995. Stress. Conceptual and biological aspects. New York. 2-6.
- Tomasi, TB., Trudeau, FB., Czerwinski, D., Erredge, S. 1982. Immune parameters in athletes before and after strenuous exercise. J. Clin. Immunol. 2, 173-178.
- Toner, MM., McArdle Wd. 1996. Human thermoregulatory responses to acute cold stress with special reference to water immersion. In: Handbook of Physiology, Section 4, Environmental Physiology, edited by Fregly MJ and Blatteis CM. New York, Oxford University Press. 379-418.
- Valen, G., Kawakami, T., Tahepold, P., Dumitrescu, A., Lowbeer, C., Vaage, J. 2000. Glucocorticoid pretreatment protects cardiac function and induces cardiac heat shock protein 72. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 279, 836-843.
- Verde, T., Thomas, S., Shephard, RJ. 1992. Potential markers of heavy training in highly trained endurance runners. Br. J. Sports Med. 26, 167–175.

- Vesely, MJ., Exon, DJ., Clark, JE., Foresti, R., Green, CJ., Motterlini R. 1998. Heme Oxygenase-1 Induction in Skeletal Muscle Cells: Hemin and Sodium Nitroprusside are Regulators in Vitro. Am. J. Physiol. 275, 1087-1094.
- Vickers, AJ. 2001. Time course of muscle soreness following different types of exercise. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 21, 2-5.
- Villalobos, TJ., Adelson, E., Barila, TG. 1955. Hematologic Changes in Hypothermic Dogs. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. 89, 192-196.
- Wallen, ES., Buettner, GR., Moseley, PL. 1997. Oxidants differentially regulate the heat shock response. Int. J. Hyperthermia 13, 517-524.
- Walsh, NP., Bishop, NC., Blackwell, J., Wierzbicki, SG., Montague, JC. 2002. Salivary IgA Response to Prolonged Exercise in a Cold Environment in Trained Cyclists. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 34, 1632-1637.
- Walsh, NP., Gleeson, M., Pyne, DB., Nieman, DC., Dhabhar, FS., Shephard, RJ., Oliver, SJ., Bermon, S., Kajeniene, A. 2011. Position statement part two: Maintaining immune health. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 17, 64-103.
- Walsh, NP., Gleeson, M., Pyne, DB., Nieman, DC., Dhabhar, FS., Shephard, RJ., Oliver, SJ., Bermon, S., Kajeniene A. 2011. Position statement. Part one: Immune function and exercise. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 17, 6-63.
- Walsh, NP., Whitham, M. 2006. Exercising in environmental extremes : a greater threat to immune function? Sports Med. 36, 941-976.
- Walsh, RC., Koukoulas, I., Garnham, A., Moseley, PL., Hargreaves, M., Febbraio, MA.
 2001. Exercise increases serum Hsp72 in humans.
 Cell stress Chaperones. 6, 386-393.
- Wang, J., Song, H., Tang, X., Yang, Y., Niu, Y., Ma, Y. 2012. Effect of exercise training intensity on murine T-regulatory cells and vaccination response. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports. 22, 643-52.
- Wang, Y., Whittall, T., McGowan, E., Younson, J., Kelly, C., Bergmeier, LA., Singh, M., Lehner, T. 2005. Identification of stimulating and inhibitory epitopes within the heat shock protein 70 molecule that modulate cytokine production and maturation of dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 174, 3306-3316.
- Warren, GL. 3rd., Williams, JH., Ward, CW., Matoba, H., Ingalls, CP., Hermann, KM., Armstrong, RB. 1996. Decreased contraction economy in mouse EDL muscle injured by eccentric contractions. J. Appl. Physiol. 81, 2555–2564.

- Warren, GL., Lowe, DA., Armstrong, RB. 1999. Measurement tools used in the study of eccentric contraction-induced injury. Sports Med. 27, 43-59.
- Watson, P., Maughan, RJ. 2014. Artifacts in Plasma Volume Changes due to Hematology Analyzer-Derived Hematocrit. Med. Sci. Sports. Exerc. 46, 52-59.
- Webb, P. 1992. Temperatures of skin, subcutaneous tissue, muscle and core in resting men in cold, comfortable and hot conditions.Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 64, 471-476.
- Weidner, TG., Cranston, T., Schurr, T., Kaminsky, LA. 1998. The effect of exercise training on the severity and duration of a viral upper respiratory illness. Med. Sci. Sports and Exerc. 30, 1578-1583.
- Weiner, H. 1992. Perturbing the organism. The biology of stressful experience. University of Chicago press.
- Weiner, H. 1992. Specificity and specification: two continuing problems in psychosomatic research. Psychosom. Med. 54, 567-587.
- Welch, SS., Clanton, TL., Dineen, SM., Leon, LR. 2013.Heat stroke activates a stressinduced cytokine response in skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 115, 1126-1137.
- Welch, WJ. 2001. Heat shock proteins as biomarkers for stroke and trauma. Am. J. Med. 111, 669-670.
- Wenisch, C., Narzt, E., Sessler, DI., Parschalk, B., Lenhardt, R., Kurz, A., Graninger, W. 1996. Mild intraoperative hypothermia reduces production of reactive oxygen intermediates by polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Anesth. Analg. 82, 810-816.
- Westman, J., Sharma, HS. 1998. Heat shock protein response in the central nervous system following hyperthermia. Progr. Brain Res. 115, 207-239.
- Whitehead, NP., Allen, TJ., Morgan, DL., Proske, U. 1998. Damage to human muscle from eccentric exercise after training with concentric exercise.J. Physiol. 512, 615-620.
- Whitham, M, Fortes, MB. 2008. Heat shock protein 72: release and biological significance during exercise. Front Biosci. 13, 1328-1339.

- Whitham, M., Laing, SJ., Dorrington, M., Walters, R., Dunklin, S., Bland, D., Bilzon, JL., Walsh, NP. 2006. The influence of an arduous military training program on immune function and upper respiratory tract infection incidence. Mil. Med. 171, 703-709.
- Willoughby, DS., McFarlin, B., Bois, C. 2003. Interleukin-6 expression after repeated bouts of eccentric exercise. Int. J. Sports Med. 24, 15-21.
- Woods, JA., Ceddia, MA., Kozak, C., Wolters, BW. 1997. Effects of exercise on the macrophage MHC II response to inflammation. Int. J. Sport Med. 18, 483-488.
- Woods, JA., Davis, JM., Mayer, EP., Ghaffar, A., Pate, RR. 1993. Exercise increases inflammatory macrophage antitumor cytotoxicity. J. Appl. Physiol. 75, 879-886.
- Yamada, P., Amorim, F., Moseley, P., Schneider, S. 2008. Heat shock protein 72 response to exercise in humans. Sports Med. 38, 715-733.
- Yang, KD., Hill, HR. 1991. Neutrophil function disorders: pathophysiology, prevention, and therapy. J. Pediatr. 119, 343-54.
- Yang, YL., Gordon, CT. 2002. Possible Role of Vasopressin in the Thermoregulatory Response to Chlorpyrifos in the Rat. Pharmacol. Toxicology. 90, 311-316.
- Yang, YL., Lu, KT., Tsay, HJ., Lin, CH., Lin, MT. 1998. Heat shock protein expression protects against death following exposure to heatstroke in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 252, 9-12.
- Yenari, MA. 2002. Heat shock proteins and neuroprotection. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 513, 281-299.
- Zhang, J., Alcaide, P., Liu, L., Sun, J., He, A., Luscinskas, FW., Shi, GP. 2011. Regulation of Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule Expression by Mast Cells, Macrophages, and Neutrophils. PloS One. 6, e14525.
- Zhou, X., Thompson, JR. 1997. Regulation of Protein Turnover by Glutamine in Heat-Shocked Skeletal Myotubes. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta. 1357, 234-242.

APPENDIX A:

Bangor University

School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences

Subject Information Sheet

Project Title: An Experimental Study of Practical Field Methods for Cold Casualty Protection and Treatment during Prolonged Cold Exposure

Research Co-ordinators: Dr Sam Oliver and Dr Neil Walsh

Tel: 01248 383965Email:s.j.oliver@bangor.ac.uk

Additional Investigators: Dr Matt Fortes, Dr Gavin Lawrence, Jenny Brierley, Alberto Dolci, Phil Heritage, Aaron Burdett, Robin Wilson, Beth Palmer and James Firman

Invitation to take part

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide to take part it is important for you to understand why the research is being conducted and what will be required of you should you agree to be involved. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with the investigators. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Do I have to take part?

This is entirely your decision. If you decide to take part you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. **If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason.** If you decide not to participate or withdraw during the study, your decision will not affect your relationship with the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences, or any of the investigators

involved in the study. All information collected during the study will be treated confidentially and if you choose to withdraw then your data will be deleted from our records.

Background

Prolonged cold exposure and becoming mildly cold is associated with impaired health and performance. Accidents in cold and wet environments can lead to hypothermia. This is especially the case when casualties remain stationary or are suffering from trauma with blood loss (for example, mountaineering or car accident). In the UK average mountain rescue times are typically at least 2 hours. It is therefore important that easily administrable and transportable cold protection methods are developed which can be used whilst casualties wait for emergency services rescue. Ultimately, mortality rates will be decreased if cold protection methods can be developed and shown to reduce or maintain a casualty's core temperature. Current field cold protection methods have been shown to be relatively ineffective (e.g. polythene survival bag), or their effectiveness is presently unknown (e.g. hot drinks and Blizzard Survival bags). Therefore the present investigation aims to determine the effectiveness of polythene survival bags with hot drinks and Blizzard survival bags with and without heat pads.

Objective

To assess which field method offers optimal protection for casualties in a cold environment.

What will be expected of you?

If you decide to take part in this study there will be a number of constraints placed upon you. During the day prior to completing a trial you will be expected:

To avoid drinking alcohol or caffeinated drinks (i.e. coffee, tea, coke and diet coke).

• To avoid participating in moderate to high intensity exercise.

Whilst completing the experimental trials in the laboratory you will be expected:

- To spend one whole day in the laboratory on four separate occasions.
- To eat and drink only what is prescribed to you.
- Arrive to the laboratory after an overnight fast (10-12 hours)
- To follow the study's timetable.
- To be weighed nude (behind screens to maintain privacy).
- To have four blood samples taken during each one day trial (~65 ml) totaling 16 blood samples during the 4 week study period (~260 ml).
- To provide saliva and urine samples.
- To perform four cold water immersions (~13°C for a maximum of 60 minutes).
- To perform four 3 hour cold air tests in 0°C.
- To complete a health log 2 weeks prior, during and 2 weeks following the last trial.

You will be excluded if you are a smoker, asthmatic, diabetic, have a pacemaker or any heart condition or you are currently taking specific types of medication or supplements.

IN TOTAL, THE STUDY WILL REQUIRE YOU TO GIVE UP 34 HOURS OF YOUR TIME.

Summary of visits



Visit One: Project briefing and familiarisation (1 hour)

At this meeting you will be fully briefed about the requirements of the project. You will be talked through the subject information sheet by an investigator and given the opportunity to ask any questions. You will then leave with the information sheet so as to allow you time to discuss your possible involvement in the study with significant others. This will also allow you additional time to think of questions.

You will be asked to refrain from exercise and alcohol and caffeine consumption for 24 hours prior to each visit. At this visit you will be familiarised with the procedures for collection of saliva and venous blood. All blood samples will be collected by a qualified member of staff from a forearm vein using a small needle (~16 ml of blood at each collection). A saliva sample will be obtained by asking you to dribble into a plastic container for 5 minutes. You will also be familiarised with the cognitive function tests and also the health log which you will be asked to complete at the end of each day.

Visit Two: Question and answer session (optional)

Visit two is provided as an additional opportunity for you to ask questions. Once you are fully satisfied with the information and on agreement to take part in the study you will be asked to complete an informed consent form, a medical questionnaire and make arrangements for the following visits.

Experimental trials:

You will be required to complete four experimental trials in a random order each separated by 7 days. Each experimental trial will consist of an 8 hour period where you will be in the laboratory under treatment conditions (Visit three, four, five and six).

Including the briefing meeting, familiarisation visit and all four experimental trials you will be required to visit the laboratory on seven occasions for a total of ~34 hours.

Visit Three, Four, Five and Six: (8 hours)

Prior to arriving at the laboratory

You will be instructed to consume your normal daily food intake and keep a food diary of what you ate the day before the trial. We will also provide you with your daily water requirements (approximately 2.5 L for a 70 kg person), which will help to ensure that you are hydrated prior to each trial. We ask that you arrive at the physiology laboratory with the appropriate clothing (i.e. swim shorts, a second pair of dry shorts and a towel) following an overnight fast at 07:00 hours.

Experimental procedures

On arrival to the laboratory and after completely emptying your bladder and bowels, your body composition will be estimated by a non-invasive bio-electrical impedance analysis; which requires you to stand on a set of weighing scales. On arrival at the laboratory you will be given a rectal probe to fit, and a universal container with which to collect a urine sample. The rectal probe will be used to monitor rectal core temperature. You will also be asked to wear a chest strap so that we can monitor your heart rate. You will then sit quietly for 30 minutes in the laboratory (ambient temperature ~20°C) after which blood and saliva samples will be obtained and you will complete the cognitive function tests. You will then enter the cold water bath (~13°C) and be immersed up to your shoulders until your core temperature has decreased to 36°C (~40 minutes). At this point you will be withdrawn from the water. After drying and putting on your dry shorts you will enter the environmental chamber (0°C) with one of the four survival bags. You will then be asked to sit on a chair whilst inside the survival bag. You will be randomly assigned at each trial to one of the four practical cold protection methods: 1. Polythene survival bag; 2. Polythene survival bag with hot drink; 3. Blizzard Survival bag and 4. Blizzard Survival Heat bag. After getting into the survival bag and at 1 and 2 hours you will be provided with a flavoured drink. The quantity of this drink will depend

on your body weight but will be similar to a large mug of tea. On one trial (trial 2) this drink will be hot, i.e. similar to that temperature of regular tea or coffee. You will be asked to consume these drinks within 15 min. Regular measurements of thermoregulation will be made and core temperature will be continually monitored. Cognitive function tests and saliva samples will be obtained at one hour intervals. The experimental trials will end and you will be removed from the chamber at 3 hours or if core temperature decreases to 35°C. Following removal from the environmental chamber (0°C), a blood and saliva sample will be obtained and you will be wrapped in blankets. You may be immersed in warm water to aid rewarming. One and two hours following the cold exposure we will obtain further blood and saliva samples during which time you will sit in a comfortable ambient temperature ~20°C with blankets or dressed in your normal clothes. During this time, your core temperature will be monitored and you will be supervised by experimenters. In the second hour of this recovery you will be provided with a large meal and warm drink. Following the final blood and saliva sample you will be allowed to eat and drink freely and you will be permitted to leave when your core temperature returns to with 0.5°C of your initial core temperature. Transport home will be provided if required.

Advantages of taking part

A benefit of taking part in this study is that you will receive comprehensive feedback, with full explanations, of your body composition (e.g. body fat %) and blood measures (e.g. immune function). This feedback should help you with planning and monitoring your athletic training program. The feedback you will receive regarding your body composition is similar to that which many testing facilities provide as a fee-paying service. Advantages for Undergraduates from within SSHES are that you will gain a valuable insight into the procedures and work involved in a 3rd year project. Additionally participation in this project can be used for skills units of the Undergraduate portfolio.

Disadvantages of taking part

The disadvantages of taking part in this study, which you will probably be most concerned about, are: 1. cold exposure test 2. blood samples; and 3. time commitment.

1. **Cold exposure**: Cold tests lasting two to three hours have been safely used to stress the body's ability to maintain core body temperature by our research group and many others. During these cold air tests you will likely experience some peripheral numbness and mild discomfort in your hands and feet. To minimise this discomfort, we will provide you with thermal gloves and socks.

A number of military studies have exposed individuals to freezing and/or wet conditions following periods of prolonged physical exercise, inadequate nutrition and sleep loss, and no medical complications were reported after rewarming in individuals whose core temperature decreased to 35°C). In these investigations no voluntary 'drop out' or medical withdrawal of subjects was reported. Additionally, in contrast to these previous investigations in which subjects sat uncovered, the provision of survival bags in the proposed study will provide insulation.

In the current investigation you will be removed from the climate chamber if your core temperature decreases to 35°C. It is important to note that 35°C is considered the upper limit of mild hypothermia (35-32°C), and following the removal of cold stress your thermoregulatory mechanisms are likely to steadily recover normal core temperature (~37°C). For example, in a study using cold water immersion to reduce core temperature to 33°C participants left to shiver post immersion were able to recover core temperature to 36°C within 1 hour.

Following removal from the chamber you will be wrapped in blankets. In addition, if your core temperature reduces below 35°C you will be immersed up to the axilla in a warm water bath (38-42°C). This technique has previously been used in a number of studies to rewarm participants in experiments where core temperature is decreased to between 33-

34°C. For your safety your core temperature will be monitored by a rectal probe every minute throughout the cold exposure protocol and during the first hour of recovery period or until your core temperature returns to within 0.5°C of their starting core temperature.

The results of this study will ensure people can be better informed as to the most effective method of cold protection in extreme environmental conditions.

2. **Blood samples**: The blood samples will be taken using a smaller needle than is typically used by doctors in your local surgery or hospital. Therefore you will likely experience only very mild discomfort i.e. like a scratch. The quantity of blood we are taking in each visit is small (i.e. approximately one tenth of that which would be obtained when you give blood). Additionally, qualified phlebotomists experienced at performing this procedure will collect blood samples. To ensure you are completely happy with giving blood samples, we will familiarise you with the blood sampling procedure on your first visit to the laboratory.

3. **Time commitment**: To complete all aspects of the study we will require you to visit the laboratory on six occasions for a total of approximately 33 hours. Thus, participation in this project satisfies the requirement in hours for the Undergraduate portfolio skills unit.

At all times you will be closely supervised by an experimenter trained in First-Aid.

Any further questions will be happily answered by Dr Sam Oliver or any of the additional investigators.

School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences,

Bangor University,

George Building,

Bangor,

Gwynedd, LL57 2PZ

The influence of exercise induced muscle damage upon subsequent thermoregulation during exercise in the heat.

Participant Information sheet

Project Investigators

| Dr Matthew Fortes | 01248 383687 | m.fortes@bangor.ac.uk |
|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Dr Neil Walsh | 01248 383480 | n.walsh@bangor.ac.uk |
| Umberto Di Felice | 01248 388288 | pexa04@bangor.ac.uk |
| Michael Crockford | Alberto Dolci | |
| Lindsey Jankowski | Megan Butterworth | |
| Ben Terzza | Ryan Hillier-Smith | |
| Liam West | | |

Invitation to take part

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide whether to participate, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with friends, family and your GP if you wish. If there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information, please do not hesitate to ask us. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of this study?

Military personnel are often expected to perform repeated bouts of arduous physical activity on the same day, often in hot environments which may increase their risk of exertional heat illness (EHI) or the more serious and potentially fatal condition termed exertional heat stroke (EHS). Whilst a number of traditional risk factors have been identified that increase the risk of EHI and EHS in military personnel (for example, hot and humid environmental conditions, inappropriate clothing, inadequate acclimatisation, sleep disruption, high exercise intensity, high % body fat, and low physical fitness), it has also been suggested that muscle damaging exercise similar to that encountered during unaccustomed exercises such as downhill walking and running may adversely affect an individual's normal body temperature response to exercise in the heat. Additionally, alterations in immune function as a result of muscle damage may also pay a role in EHI and EHS. It is the purpose of this study to investigate the influence of muscle damage evoked by downhill running on the ability of an individual to thermoregulate, and on their immune system during subsequent exercise bouts conducted in a hot but safe environment.

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you are a recreationally active male, aged between 18 and 40 years of age, free from infection and, and not currently taking medication.

Do I have to take part?

This is entirely your decision. If you decide to take part you will be asked to sign a consent form. You will be given a copy of this form to keep for your information. You will be free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason. If you decide not to participate, it will not affect your relationship with the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences or any of the researchers. All the information collected will be treated confidentially.

What will happen to me if I take part?

The study will involve you making eight visits to the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences. The purpose and time commitment of each visit are outlined below:

Visit 1) You will be talked through the protocol by an investigator and given the opportunity to ask any questions. If you decide to take part, you will be asked to sign a consent form (visit length ~30 mins).

Visit 2) During this visit you will be asked to perform an incremental exercise test on a treadmill, whilst wearing a mask, which will last approximately 20 minutes. This test starts off easy (fast walking pace) and gets progressively harder until you cannot continue. By the end, you will be running very quickly. By measuring your expired air, we will be able to calculate your maximal oxygen uptake (a good indicator of your overall fitness) and to calculate the intensity at which you will exercise during the experimental trials. Following this test, you will have a short recovery period (approx 10 mins), and then you will be asked to run at a moderate speed on the treadmill for approximately 20 minutes in order for us to verify the correct exercise intensity for the subsequent experimental trials. We will ask you to run on a flat gradient, and then on a downhill gradient. Since you may not be used to running downhill, we will give you ample opportunity to practice, by starting off slowly and gradually increasing the running speed (visit length ~ 1 hour).

Visits 3- 8). There are 3 experimental trials, each one requiring 2 visits on consecutive days. The 3 experimental trials consist of a muscle damage trial (MD), control trial (CON) and a carbohydrate trial (CHO);

MD trial

You will be asked to report to the laboratory at 07:15h having not eaten that morning. We will provide you with a snack and a set amount of fluids. At 08.00h you will be asked to provide a urine sample, and to weigh yourself nude behind screens (for your privacy) for a body mass measurement. You will then be prepared for the exercise bout i.e. you will be asked to fit a rectal thermistor so that we can monitor your core temperature, and we will fit 4 skin thermistors that measure your skin temperature, and a heart rate monitor. You will then provide a blood sample which will be taken by venepuncture of a forearm vein by a qualified phlebotomist. You will be provided with a small amount of water before performing the first exercise bout. This exercise bout will be run on a motorized treadmill at a moderate exercise intensity (65% maximal oxygen uptake) with the gradient set at -10% downhill in order to induce muscle damage. You will be provided with small amounts of fluid during this exercise bout which will last for 1-hour. Additionally, you will be asked to breathe into a bag at 2 time points during this bout so that we can determine your exercise intensity. Upon completion, you will be asked to sit quietly in the laboratory for 30 mins during which time you will weigh yourself nude and another blood and urine sample will be collected. After this 30 min period, you will enter an environmental chamber set to hot conditions (33°C and 50% relative humidity). You will run on the treadmill at a moderate intensity (65% maximal oxygen uptake) at a level gradient for 40 minutes, during which time you will not be allowed to consume During this exercise bout, you will be asked to breathe into a bag every 10 fluids. minutes, and to rate your perceived exertion and how hot you feel every 5 minutes. Once you have completed this second exercise bout, further nude body mass measures will be made, and a blood and urine sample will be collected. You will then sit quietly for 1-hour in the laboratory during which time your recovery core and skin temperatures will

be assessed continuously. You will be provided with recovery fluids during this time. A further blood and urine sample will be collected after this 1-hour recovery period. You will then be allowed to shower, and we will then provide you with a small lunch. A final body mass, blood and urine sample will be collected 2 hours after you finished exercising. You will then be free to leave the department, but will be asked to return at 08:30h the following day to complete one further exercise bout in the environmental chamber at the same intensity and duration (40 mins) and under the same environmental conditions (33°C and 50% relative humidity),with nude body mass measured, and blood and urine samples collected, pre, immediately post and 1 and 2-hours after the exercise bout. You will also be asked to rate your muscle soreness. In the 21-hour period between the two exercise heat bouts, we will ask you to record what you eat, and to replicate this on the other two experimental trials. In total, this experimental trial will involve 2 visits – the first one ~5.5 hours, and the second one ~4 hours (~9.5 hours total).

Control trial

This experimental trial will follow exactly the same procedures and timings as the MD trial, except that the first exercise bout will be conducted on a level treadmill gradient (not downhill). (~9.5 hours total).

Carbohydrate trial

This experimental trial will follow the same procedures and timings of the MD trial, except that instead of consuming water prior and during the first exercise bout, you will consume a carbohydrate containing drink. Additionally, the first exercise bout will be conducted on a level treadmill gradient (not downhill). (~9.5 hours total).

These trials will be performed in a randomized order, and 14 days apart to allow you to recover. In total the study will require you to give 27 blood samples, 27 nude body mass measurements, 27 urine samples, and will take up 30 hours of your time.

What do I have to do before each visit?

We ask that you try to consume plenty of fluids in the 24 hours prior to visit 2, and we will provide you with a set amount of fluid to drink in the 24 hours prior to visits 3 -8. We also ask that in the 24 hours prior to visits 3-8 you do not perform any exercise, drink alcohol or consume any form of diuretics or tobacco. We will also ask you to record what you eat on the day before visits 3 and 4, and to replicate these meals on the night before visit 5 - 8. You may also wish to bring a towel and change of clothes for each visit.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

The disadvantages of taking part in this study are the discomfort associated with the use of temperature thermisters, blood sampling, muscle damage and exercising in a hot environment. For your safety your core temperature will be monitored by a rectal temperature probe inserted 10 cm beyond the anal sphincter. These probes are commonly used in thermoregulation research and most people do not notice them once they have started exercising. Blood sampling will be performed by qualified phlebotomists using a disposable small needle. We will collect 14ml of blood four times on each of the 6 exercise trial days. Removing this amount of blood will not affect your performance or health in any way. However, you may experience bruising of the area around the venepuncture site. Any discomfort you experience will be short lived. The muscle damaging protocol (downhill running) is routinely used in exercise physiology research and you will experience muscle soreness in the 1-3 days following this exercise bout. This soreness will be comparable to the sort of soreness you might experience after performing a new type of exercise for the first time. However, this soreness will pass in 3 – 5 days and will not leave any lasting damage. There are standard risks associated with performing intense exercise in hot conditions. Accordingly, all experimenters are trained in recognizing and treating signs and symptoms of exertional heat illness. Additionally, persons trained in CPR and AED will be readily available or present at all exercise trials. However, it should be noted that measures are in place to

minimize the risk of exertional heat illness, and accordingly the risk of this occurring is very small.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

Taking part in this study will enable you to receive comprehensive feedback, with full explanations of your fitness level. The feedback you will receive regarding your fitness level is similar to that which many fitness testing centres provide as a fee-paying service. Advantages for undergraduates from within SSHES are that you will gain a valuable insight into the procedures and work involved in a 3rd year project. Additionally participation in this project can cover both the open and personal performance skills units of the undergraduate portfolio. Finally, you will be paid £50 cash upon completion of all experimental procedures.

What if something goes wrong?

If you are harmed whilst taking part in this research project, there are no special compensation arrangements. If you are harmed due to someone's negligence, then you may have grounds for legal action but you may have to pay for it. Regardless of this, if you wish to complain, or have any concerns about any aspect of the way you have been approached or treated during the course of this study you may contact the Head of the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences, Professor Michael Khan.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information collected about you during the course of the study will be kept strictly confidential. It will be anonymised so that only the following people will have access to your records:

Dr Neil Walsh (University lecturer), Dr Matthew Fortes (Postdoctoral researcher), Umberto Di Felice (PhD student) and Alberto Dolci (PhD student).

Your data will be stored on a password protected computer and in locked filing cabinets. This data will be destroyed 10 years after the conclusion of the study.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results from this study may be published in a leading international physiology journal. Your blood samples will be stored for a maximum period of six years and may be used in future investigations in this area of research. Again, you will not be able to be identified from this. A written report will be given to any participants who are interested in the results of the study.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This research is organised by the named investigators above, and funded by Bangor University.

Who has reviewed the study?

The study has been approved by the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences ethics committee of Bangor University.

Contact for further information

If you require any further information about the study please contact any of the project investigators whose contact details are displayed below:

| Dr Matthew Fortes | 01248 383687 | m.fortes@bangor.ac.uk |
|-------------------|--------------|-----------------------|
| Dr Neil Walsh | 01248 383480 | n.walsh@bangor.ac.uk |

Thank you very much for taking the time to read this information sheet.

If you choose to participate in this study you will be given a copy of the information sheet and a signed consent form to keep

School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences,

Bangor University,

George Building,

Bangor,

Gwynedd, LL57 2PZ

The influence of repeated bouts of muscle damaging exercise upon thermoregulation during exercise in the heat.

Participant Information sheet

Project Investigators

| Alberto Dolci | 01248 388288 | pepc2e@bangor.ac.uk |
|-------------------|--------------|-----------------------|
| Dr Matthew Fortes | 01248 383687 | m.fortes@bangor.ac.uk |
| Prof. Neil Walsh | 01248 383480 | n.walsh@bangor.ac.uk |
| Adnan Haq | | |

Faye Walker

Invitation to take part

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide whether to participate, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with friends, family and your GP if you wish. If there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information, please do not hesitate to ask us. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

What is the purpose of this study?

Athletes and military personnel are often expected to perform repeated bouts of arduous physical activity on the same day, often in hot environments which may increase their risk of exertional heat illness (EHI). A number of traditional risk factors have been identified that increase the risk of heat illness in athletes and military personnel (for example, hot and humid environmental conditions, wearing lots of clothing, lack of acclimatisation to hot conditions, poor sleep, high exercise intensity, high amount of body fat, and poor fitness). We have recently shown that downhill running, which can damage the leg muscles resulting in soreness, makes people get hotter when they perform an exercise run in the heat 30 mins later. This increase in body temperature may be due to alterations in the immune system, and could result in an increased risk of heat illness. It is also known that performing one bout of this type of muscle damaging exercise can lessen the negative effects, and reduce soreness after further muscle damaging type exercise bouts. It is the purpose of this current study to investigate if repeated muscle damage exercise (downhill running) results in people getting "less hot" whilst exercising in the heat. To assess this, you will be expected to perform either 1) muscle damaging exercise (60 min running downhill), followed by a 40 min exercise run in the heat. You will then repeat this 2 weeks later, and we will compare your body temperature responses between these two trials, or 2) non-muscle damaging exercise (60 min running on the flat), followed by a 40 min exercise run in the heat. You will

then repeat this 2 weeks later, and we will compare your body temperature responses between these two trials

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you are a recreationally active male, aged between 18 and 40 years of age, free from infection and, and not currently taking medication.

Do I have to take part?

This is entirely your decision. If you decide to take part you will be asked to sign a consent form. You will be given a copy of this form to keep for your information. You will be free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason. If you decide not to participate, it will not affect your relationship with the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences or any of the researchers. All the information collected will be treated confidentially.

What will happen to me if I take part?

The study will involve you making ten visits to the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences. The purpose and time commitment of each visit are outlined below:

Visit 1) You will be talked through the protocol by an investigator and given the opportunity to ask any questions. If you decide to take part, you will be asked to sign a consent form. Then you will be randomly assigned to the control trial (CON) or to exercise-induced muscle damage trial (EIMD) (visit length ~30 mins).

Visit 2) During this visit you will be asked to perform an incremental exercise test on a treadmill, whilst wearing a mask, which will last approximately 20 minutes. This test starts off easy (fast walking pace) and gets progressively harder until you cannot continue. By the end, you will be running very quickly. By measuring your expired air, we will be able to calculate your maximal oxygen uptake (a good indicator of your overall fitness) and to calculate the intensity at which you will exercise during the experimental trials. Following this test, you will have a short recovery period (approx 10 mins), and then you will be asked to run at a moderate speed on the treadmill for

approximately 20 minutes in order for us to verify the correct exercise intensity for the subsequent experimental trials. We will ask you to run on a flat gradient, and then depending on which group you have been assigned, on a downhill gradient. Since you may not be used to running downhill, we will give you ample opportunity to practice, by starting off slowly and gradually increasing the running speed (visit length ~ 1½ hours).

Visit 3) Using fitness machine similar to that found in a gym, we will assess your leg strength using 4 four maximal contractions after a warm-up consisting of six isometric contractions at 25%, 50% and 75% of intensity (visit length ~ 30 min).

Visit 4) The day after visit 3, you will be asked to report to the laboratory at 07:15h having not eaten that morning. We will provide you with a snack and a set amount of fluids. At 08.00h you will be asked to provide a urine sample, and to weigh yourself nude behind screens (for your privacy) for a body mass measurement. You will then be prepared for the exercise bout i.e. you will be asked to fit a rectal thermistor so that we can monitor your core temperature, and we will fit 4 skin thermistors that measure your skin temperature, and a heart rate monitor. You will then provide a blood sample which will be taken by venepuncture of a forearm vein by a qualified phlebotomist. You will be provided with a small amount of water before performing the first exercise bout. This exercise bout will be run on a motorized treadmill at a moderate exercise intensity (65% maximal oxygen uptake) with the gradient set at -10% downhill in order to induce muscle damage if you are on the EIMD trial or with the gradient set at +1% if you are on the CON trial. You will be provided with small amounts of fluid during this exercise bout which will last for 1-hour. Additionally, you will be asked to breathe into a bag at 2 time points during this bout so that we can determine your exercise intensity. Upon completion, you will be asked to sit quietly in the laboratory for 30 mins during which time you will weigh yourself nude and another blood sample will be collected. After this 30 min period, you will enter an environmental chamber set to hot conditions (33°C and 50% relative humidity). You will run on the treadmill at a moderate intensity (65% maximal oxygen uptake) at a level gradient for 40 minutes, during which time you will

not be allowed to consume fluids. During this exercise bout, you will be asked to breathe into a bag every 10 minutes, and to rate your perceived exertion and how hot you feel every 5 minutes. Once you have completed this second exercise bout, a further nude body mass measure will be made, and a blood sample will be collected. You will then sit quietly for 1-hour in the laboratory during which time your recovery core and skin temperatures will be assessed continuously. You will be provided with recovery fluids during this time. A further blood sample will be collected after this 1-hour recovery period. You will then be allowed to shower, and we will then provide you with a small lunch, after which you will be free to leave the department. (visit length ~4.5 hours total).

Visit 5 and 6) These will be exactly the same as visit 3 (to assess your leg strength), and will be performed 24 hours, and 48 hours after visit 4 respectively. (visit length ~ 30 min each).

Visit 7, 8, 9, and 10) These visits will consist of exactly the same procedures and timings as per visits 3-6, but will be performed 2 weeks after the start of visit 3. (visit lengths ~ 30 min, 4.5 hours, 30 min and 30min each respectively).

In total the study will require you to give 8 blood samples, 8 nude body mass measurements, 2 urine samples, and will take up 14 hours of your time.

What do I have to do before each visit?

We ask that you try to consume plenty of fluids in the 24 hours prior to all visits, and we will provide you with a set amount of fluid to drink in the 24 hours prior to visits 4 and 8. We also ask that in the 24 hours prior to visits 4 and 8 you do not perform any exercise, drink alcohol or consume any form of diuretics or tobacco. We will also ask you to record what you eat on the day before visits 4, and to replicate this meal on the night before visit 8. You may also wish to bring a towel and change of clothes for each visit.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

The disadvantages of taking part in this study are the discomfort associated with the use of temperature thermistors, blood sampling, muscle damage and exercising in a hot environment. For your safety your core temperature will be monitored by a rectal temperature probe inserted 12 cm beyond the anal sphincter. These probes are commonly used in thermoregulation research and most people do not notice them once they have started exercising. Blood sampling will be performed by qualified phlebotomists using a disposable small needle. We will collect 12ml of blood three times on each of the 2 exercise trial days (visits 4 and 8). Removing this amount of blood will not affect your performance or health in any way. However, you may experience bruising of the area around the venepuncture site. Any discomfort you experience will be short lived. The muscle damaging protocol (downhill running) is routinely used in exercise physiology research and you will experience muscle soreness in the 1-3 days following this exercise bout. This soreness will be comparable to the sort of soreness you might experience after performing a new type of exercise for the first time. However, this soreness will pass in 3 – 5 days and will not leave any lasting damage. There are standard risks associated with performing intense exercise in hot conditions. Accordingly, all experimenters are trained in recognizing and treating signs and symptoms of exertional heat illness. Additionally, persons trained in CPR and AED will be readily available or present at all exercise trials. However, it should be noted that measures are in place to minimize the risk of exertional heat illness, and accordingly the risk of this occurring is very small.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

Taking part in this study will enable you to receive comprehensive feedback, with full explanations of your fitness level. The feedback you will receive regarding your fitness level is similar to that which many fitness testing centers provide as a fee-paying service. Advantages for undergraduates from within SSHES are that you will gain a valuable insight into the procedures and work involved in a 3rd year project. Additionally

participation in this project can cover both the open and personal performance skills units of the undergraduate portfolio.

What if something goes wrong?

If you are harmed whilst taking part in this research project, there are no special compensation arrangements. If you are harmed due to someone's negligence, then you may have grounds for legal action but you may have to pay for it. Regardless of this, if you wish to complain, or have any concerns about any aspect of the way you have been approached or treated during the course of this study you may contact the Head of the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences, Dr Tim Woodman.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information collected about you during the course of the study will be kept strictly confidential. It will be anonymised so that only the following people will have access to your records:

Prof. Neil Walsh (University lecturer), Dr Matthew Fortes (Postdoctoral researcher), and Alberto Dolci (PhD student).

Your data will be stored on a password protected computer and in locked filing cabinets. This data will be destroyed 10 years after the conclusion of the study.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results from this study may be published in a leading international physiology journal. Your blood samples will be stored for a maximum period of six years and may be used in future investigations in this area of research. Again, you will not be able to be identified from this. A written report will be given to any participants who are interested in the results of the study.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This research is organised by the named investigators above, and funded by Bangor University.

Who has reviewed the study?

The study has been approved by the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences ethics committee of Bangor University.

Contact for further information

If you require any further information about the study please contact any of the project investigators whose contact details are displayed below:

| Alberto Dolci | 01248 388288 | pepc2e@bangor.ac.uk |
|-------------------|--------------|-----------------------|
| Dr Matthew Fortes | 01248 383687 | m.fortes@bangor.ac.uk |
| Prof. Neil Walsh | 01248 383480 | n.walsh@bangor.ac.uk |

INFORMED CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE

IN A RESEARCH PROJECT OR EXPERIMENT

Title of Research Project:

The influence of repeated bouts of muscle damaging exercise upon thermoregulation during exercise in the heat.

The researcher conducting this project subscribes to the ethics conduct of research and to the protection at all times of the interests, comfort, and safety of participants. This form and the information sheet have been given to you for your own protection and full understanding of the procedures. Your signature on this form will signify that you have received information which describes the procedures, possible risks, and benefits of this research project, that you have received an adequate opportunity to consider the information, and that you voluntarily agree to participate in the project.

Having been asked by Alberto Dolci of the School of Sport, Health and Exercise Sciences at Bangor University to participate in a research project experiment, I have received information regarding the procedures of the experiment.

I understand the procedures to be used in this experiment and any possible personal risks to me in taking part.

I understand that I may withdraw my participation in this experiment at any time.

I also understand that I may register any complaint I might have about this experiment to Dr Tim Woodman, Head of the School of Sport Health and Exercise Sciences, and that

I will be offered the opportunity of providing feedback on the experiment using standard report forms.

I may obtain copies of the results of this study, upon its completion, by contacting:

AlbertoDolci pepc2e@bangor.ac.uk

I confirm that I have been given adequate opportunity to ask any questions and that these have been answered to my satisfaction. I have been informed that the research material will be held confidential by the researcher. I agree to participate in the study NAME (please type or print legibly): ADDRESS: (Optional)_____ PARTICIPANT'S SIGNATURE: _____ DATE: RESEARCHER'S SIGNATURE: _____ DATE:

Two sheets should be completed - one for the participant and one for the researcher

APPENDIX C:

Bangor University

SCHOOL OF SPORT, HEALTH AND EXERCISE SCIENCES

Name of Participant

Age

Are you in good health? YES NO

If no, please explain

How would you describe your present level of activity?

Tick intensity level and indicate approximate duration.

| Vigorous | Moderate | Low intensity | |
|----------|----------|---------------|--|
| | | | |

Duration (minutes).....

How often?

| < once per month | 4-5 times per week | |
|--------------------|--------------------|--|
| once per month | > 5 times per week | |
| 2-3 times per week | | |

Have you suffered from a serious illness or accident? YES NO

If yes, please give particulars:

Do you suffer, or have you ever suffered from:

| | YES | NO | | YES | NO | |
|------------------------|----------|----------|----------------------------|---------|---------|----------------|
| Asthma | | | Epilepsy | | | |
| Diabetes | | | High blood pressure | | | |
| Bronchitis | | | | | | I |
| Are you currently tak | king me | dicatio | n? | _ YE | s [| NO |
| If yes, please give pa | articula | rs: | | | | |
| Are you currently att | ending | your G | GP for any condition or ha | ive you | consult | ed your doctor |
| in the last three mor | ths? | | YE | S | NC |) |
| If yes, please give pa | articula | rs: | | | | |
| Have you, or are you | ı presei | ntly tak | king part in any other lab | oratory | experir | nent? |
| | | | | YE | s [| NO |
| | | | | | | |

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING CAREFULLY

Persons will be considered unfit to do the experimental exercise task if they:

- have a fever, cough or cold, or suffer from fainting spells or dizziness;
- have suspended training due to a joint or muscle injury;
- have a known history of medical disorders, i.e. high blood pressure, heart or lung disease;
- have had hyper/hypothermia, heat exhaustion, or any other heat or cold disorder;
- have anaphylactic shock symptoms to needles, probes or other medical-type equipment;
- have chronic or acute symptoms of gastrointestinal bacterial infections (e.g. Dysentery, Salmonella);
- have a history of infectious diseases (e.g. HIV, Hepatitis B); and if appropriate to the study design, have a known history of rectal bleeding, anal fissures, haemorrhoids, or any other condition of the rectum.

DECLARATION

My replies to the above questions are correct to the best of my belief and I understand that they will be treated with the strictest confidence. The experimenter has explained to my satisfaction the purpose of the experiment and possible risks involved.

I understand that I may withdraw from the experiment at any time and that I am under no obligation to give reasons for withdrawal or to attend again for experimentation.

Furthermore, if I am a student, I am aware that taking part or not taking part in this experiment, will neither be detrimental to, or further, my position as a student.

I undertake to obey the laboratory/study regulations and the instructions of the experimenter regarding safety, subject only to my right to withdraw declared above.

| Signature (participant) |
|-------------------------|
|-------------------------|

Print name

Signature (experimenter) Date

Print name
APPENDIX D:

The reproducibility of the Isometric right-leg extension strength test

Purpose. To assess the reproducibility of the Isometric right-leg extension strength test Methods. Nine males (mean \pm SD: age, 22 \pm 2 years; height, 175 \pm 8 cm; BM, 72 \pm 7.2 kg; VO_{2max} 59.4 \pm 5.1 mL· kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) performed three Isometric right-leg extension strength test spaced over a three days period. Within-subject variation was minimised by testing at a similar time of day. In addition, on the day prior to each test, participants refrained from exercise and consumed a similar diet and water equal to 40 mL·kg⁻¹ of BM. All Isometric right-leg extension strength test were performed as previously described in **Chapter 6**. Typical error of the measurement, expressed as an absolute value (standard error of the measurement) and CV, were obtained as described elsewhere (Hopkins, 2000).

Results. Participants completed 317 \pm 57.3, 329.3 \pm 92.5 and 312.3 \pm 66.9 Nm on trials 1, 2 and 3 respectively. The standard error of the measurement between trials 1-2 and 2-3 were 12.3 and -8.0 Nm. A CV of 5.8% was noted between trials, highlighting the importance of allowing participants a single familiarisation session. In addition, no order or learning effect was identified as ANOVA revealed no significant differences between trials 1, 2 and 3 (P > 0.05).

Conclusion. The CV of 5.8% is much smaller than the CV reported by results included in **Chapter 6**.

252